Public Document Pack

eeds

ITY COUNCIL

LICENSING COMMITTEE

MEETING TO BE HELD IN CIVIC HALL, LEEDS ON

TUESDAY, 3RD APRIL, 2018 AT 10.00 AM

MEMBERSHIP

Councillors

N Buckley - Alwoodley;

R Downes - Otley and Yeadon;
JDunn - Ardsley and Robin Hood;
B Flynn - Adel and Wharfedale;

B Gettings - Morley North;

M Harland - Kippax and Methley;
G Hyde - Killingbeck and Seacroft;

A Khan - Burmantofts and Richmond
Hill;

B Selby (Chair) - Killingbeck and Seacroft;
C Townsley - Horsforth;
G Wilkinson - Wetherby;
A Garthwaite - Headingley;
K Groves - Middleton Park;
S McKenna - Garforth and Swillington;
J Pryor - Headingley;

Agenda compiled by: John Grieve
Tel No: 37 88662
Governance Services

Civic Hall

LEEDS LS1 1UR

Produced on Recycled Paper



AGENDA

Item
No

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3 If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:-

RESOLVED - That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of those parts of the agenda
designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information




Item
No

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31

of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive apologies for absence (If any)

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

To consider and approve the minutes of the last
meeting held on 6" March 2018.

(Copy attached)

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

To consider any matters arising from the minutes.
(If any)




Item
No

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

10

11

UNMET DEMAND SURVEY: PROVISION OF
HACKNEY CARRIAGE PROPRIETOR
LICENCES

To consider a report of Head of Elections,
Licensing and Registration which sets out the
results of the Unmet Demand Survey and seeks
the views of the Committee as to whether there
needs to be any change in the policy to restrict the
number of Hackney Carriage Proprietor licences in
Leeds, and, if so, whether the number of currently
issued licences needs to change to in response to
the results of the survey.

(Report attached)

TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING: REPORT
BY TRANSPORT FOR LONDON (TFL)

To consider a report of Head of Elections,
Licensing and Registration which sets out details of
a report prepared for Transport for London (TfL) on
recommendations for new legislation to address
cross-border hiring by taxi and private hire
vehicles.

The report also seeks the views of this Committee
and support for TfL’s recommendations for new
legislation to tackle cross border hiring.

(Report attached)

LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

To note the contents of the Licensing Committee
Work Programme for 2018/19.

(Copy attached)

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

To note that the next meeting will take place on
Friday, 215t May 2018 at 10.00am in the Civic Hall,
Leeds.

112

113 -
154

155 -
158



Item
No

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

Third Party Recording

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to
see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and
to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front
of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties— code of practice

a)

b)

Any published recording should be accompanied by a
statement of when and where the recording was made, the
context of the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their role or title.

Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a
way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made
by attendees. In particular there should be no internal
editing of published extracts; recordings may start at any
point and end at any point but the material between those
points must be complete.




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Licensing Committee
Tuesday, 6th March, 2018
PRESENT: Councillor B Selby in the Chair

Councillors R Downes, J Dunn, B Flynn,
B Gettings, M Harland, G Hyde,
G Wilkinson, A Garthwaite and J Pryor

86 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.
87 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012,
the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following parts of
the agenda designated as exempt on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt
information so designated as follows:-

Policing and the Night Time Economy — The report and supplementary information
(See Minute No. 88 below) were deemed exempt from publication in accordance
with Access to Information Rule 10.4 (3) as they included information relating to any
action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or
prosecution of crime. In those circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information. (Minute No.
94 refers)

88 Late Iltems

Although there were no formal late items of business the Chair did accept the
inclusion of Supplementary Information in respect of Item No. 9 “Policing and the
Night Time Economy”. The information was not available at the time of the agenda
publication and it was considered that the information now submitted would provide
more in depth details of the item to be considered (Minute No.94 refers)

89 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests made at the meeting.
90 Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors: N Buckley, A Khan, C
Townsley and K Groves.

91 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 3rd April, 2018

Page 1



The Minutes of the previous meeting held on 9t January 2018 were submitted for
accuracy and approval.

RESOLVED - That the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 9" January 2018
were accepted as a true and correct record.

92 Matters Arising from the Minutes

There were no issues raised under matters arising.

93 Licensing Annual Report 2017

The Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration submitted the Licensing Annual
Report 2017 which provided a summary of the work undertaken in 2017 by
Entertainment Licensing and Taxi and Private Hire Licensing.

The report provided information and statistics on the type and number of licensing
applications processed by Entertainment Licensing and the Taxi and Private Hire
Licensing Sections. The report also set out details of enforcement activity and liaison

work undertaken by both sections.

Appended to the report was a copy of the Licensing Annual Report 2017 (Appendix
1)

The Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration presented the report and
responded to Members questions and queries.

Discussion ensued on the contents of the report which included:

Entertainment Licensing

Evening and Night time Economy
Strategy and Policy

Proactive work

Reactive work

Licensing Act Application Statistics
Gambling Statistics

Large Casino

Sex Establishments

Outdoor Events

Taxi and Private Hire Licensing

Enforcement
Safeguarding
Service Improvement
Licensing Statistics
Decisions

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 3rd April, 2018

Page 2



e Refusals and Revocations
e Suspensions
e Complaints

It was noted there were 109 applicants and drivers from the Hackney Carriage and
Private Hire trade who had yet to receive the compulsory safeguarding training (the
vast majority of the 109 were applicants, not existing drivers). Members queried what
actions were being taken to ensure all driver received the necessary training.

In responding the Section Head, Taxi and Private Hire Licensing said existing drivers
would be invited to attend a training session on 3 different occasions, failure to
attend may result in the suspension of their driver licence.

A number of Members expressed the view that three chances to attend a training
session before a suspension letter was issued appeared to be too lenient on the part
of the Council.

The Section Head, Taxi and Private Hire Licensing said failure to attend a training
session may be because the applicants contact details were not up to date and care
had to be taken because drivers have the right to appeal against the suspension of
their licence. It should also be noted that approximately 70 new driver licence
applications are received each month.

Reference was made to late night taxi and private hire journeys and the issue of
customers being overcharged. Members queried which category of driver this mainly
applied to.

In responding the Section Head, Taxi and Private Hire Licensing said predominantly
it was Private Hire Drivers where such allegations were made but recently new tariffs
had been introduced which may cause confusion to customers.

Members took the view that it was important that drivers confirmed the approximate
fare before beginning the journey.

Referring to Taxi and Private Hire Licensing complaints Members queried the
increase in Driver Conduct complaints rising from 92 in 2016 to 136 in 2017 and
sought more clarity.

The Section Head, Taxi and Private Hire Licensing said that Driver Conduct covered
a large range of issues including: Poor language skills, failing to comply with
operator conditions, lack of stickers, parking complaints, radio should be switched off
once the journey had begun and poor customer care. It was suggested that given the
large number of journeys undertaken each year it was inevitable some complaints
would be received.

RESOLVED -

(i) That the contents of the Licensing Annual Report 2017 be noted

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 3rd April, 2018

Page 3



(i) To note that the report will be considered by full Council on 28t March
2018

94 Licensing Committee Work Programme
Members considered the contents of the Licensing Committee Work Programme.

It was noted that currently that were no items listed for the meeting scheduled for 3rd
April 2018.

RESOLVED - That the contents of the Licensing Committee Work Programme for
2018 be approved

95 Date and Time of Next Meeting

RESOLVED - To note that the next meeting will take place on Tuesday 3™ April
2018 at 10.00am in the Civic Hall, Leeds.

Closed Session

(At this point on the agenda, the meeting went into closed session)
96 Policing and the Night Time Economy

Members received a Presentation from Sergeant Martin Mynard and PC Cath Arkle,
West Yorkshire Police, who spoke about Policing and the night time economy.

A summary of the issues/ incidents involving licensed premises principally in City
Centre was presented.

(Due to the confidential nature of the information being presented, this part of the
meeting was held in closed session)

The Chair thanked Sergeant Mynard and PC Arkle for their attendance and
presentation commenting that the session had been informative and interesting.

RESOLVED -
(i) That the contents of the presentation be noted
(ii)  That a further presentation on policing and the night time economy be
scheduled for September 2018.
97 Chair's Closing Remarks
The Chair said that given the fact that there were currently no items of business

scheduled for the 3 April meeting, today’s meeting may be the final one of this
current Membership. Councillor Selby said he’d Chaired Licensing Committee for the

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 3rd April, 2018

Page 4



past two years and he had enjoyed and valued the support of both Members and
officers.

Members joined the Chair in expressing their best wishes to those Members
standing down and every success to those Members seeking re-election in the
forthcoming Municipal Elections.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 3rd April, 2018

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

I eeds Report author: Kate Coldwell
% Tel: 0113 3785163

Report of Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration
Report to Licensing Committee

Date: 37 April 2018

Subject: Unmet Demand Survey: Provision of Hackney Carriage Proprietor Licences

Are specific electoral wards affected? [1Yes [XINo

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration? [1Yes [XINo

Is the decision eligible for call-in? [ JYes [X]INo

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [JYes [XINo
If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

1. Local Licensing Authorities have a legal duty to commission independent periodic
surveys of unmet demand for Hackney carriages. The results of the last unmet
demand survey to be carried out in Leeds were presented to the Licensing &
Regulatory Panel in March 2010.

2. The Licensing Committee agreed the specification and scope for a tendering exercise
to appoint independent consultants to carry out an Unmet Demand Survey at their
meeting on 20" May 2016.

3. On completion of the tender exercise, CTS Traffic & Transportation were awarded the
contract to conduct the survey. The survey was carried out between January 2017 and
November 2017. The report at appendix 1 details the full findings of the survey by CTS
Traffic and Transportation.

Recommendations

4. That Members consider the results of the Unmet Demand Survey and decide whether:

i.  to continue with the Council’s current policy to limit the number of Hackney
Carriage Proprietor licences at 537;

ii. toissue any number of additional Hackney Carriage Proprietor licences as it
sees fit, either in one allocation or a series of allocations; or

Page 7



1.1

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.2

iii. toremove the limit on the number of Hackney Carriage Proprietor licences
and allow a free entry policy.

Purpose of this report

To inform Members of the results of the Unmet Demand Survey and for Members to
decide whether there needs to be any change in the policy to restrict the number of
Hackney Carriage Proprietor licences in Leeds, and, if so, whether the number of
currently issued licences needs to change to in response to the results of the
survey.

Background information

Hackney carriage proprietor licences are granted by the Local Authority under
Section 37 of the Town Police Clauses Act, 1847.

The Town Police Clauses Act, 1847, as amended by the Transport Act 1985, allows
a Local Authority to limit the number of Hackney carriage proprietors licences but
only if it is satisfied there is no significant demand for the service of Hackney
carriages within its area.

The results of the 2017 survey are attached at appendix 1 and a representative of
CTS Traffic and Transportation is attending the Licensing Committee meeting to
present that report and answer any questions Members may have about the content
of the survey results.

Main issues

The survey was conducted over 11 months to ensure a full, fair and comprehensive
review was conducted that measured seasonal variations in demand at the time.

CTS Traffic and Transportation’s report details a number of additional
recommendations at 8. These can be summarised as follows;

e There are opportunities for further development and continued improvement of
the offer provided by Hackney carriages in the City. The most important is to
ensure trade, police and Council (both licensing and highway) clarity about the
Call Lane area in terms of night rank provision.

e Consideration is needed to provide better disability access to the rank at the
station.

e Great care is needed with the application of the Clean Air legislation to ensure
the current number of Hackney carriage vehicles remain available for servicing
all ranks.

e Some of the further out feeder ranks could be considered for provision of rest-
rank facilities, such as those available in London near to the Department for
Transport (DfT) building.

e DfT Best Practice Guidance (BPG) recommends where limits are retained that
further surveys should be undertaken within three years. CTS recommend
therefore that, unless legislation or situations change, a fresh independent
survey of unmet demand should occur with rank work undertaken no later than
April 2020.

Page 8



4. Corporate considerations

4.1
411

4.2
421

4.3
4.3.1

Consultation and engagement

The information contained within this report has not been the subject of consultation
however Key Stakeholder consultation was carried out by CTS, the results of which
can be found at 4, 5 & 6 of their report.

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

There are no issues affecting this report. Equality and Diversity/ Cohesion and
Integration has been fully considered throughout the duration of the Unmet Demand
survey itself and within the body of the CTS report.

Council policies and best council plan

The Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to the following aims:
Best Council Plan 2013 -17
Towards being an Enterprising Council
Our Ambition and Approach

Our Ambition is for Leeds to be the best city and Leeds City Council to be the
best council in the UK — fair, open and welcoming with an economy that is both
prosperous and sustainable so all our communities are successful.

Our Approach is to adopt a new leadership style of civic enterprise, where the
council becomes more enterprising, business and partners become more civic,
and citizens become more actively engaged in the work of the city.

Our Best Council Outcomes
Make it easier for people to do business with us
Our Best Council Objectives

Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth — Improving the economic
wellbeing of local people and businesses. With a focus on:

e Helping people into jobs,
e Boosting the local economy
¢ Generating income for the council

Ensuring high quality public services — improving quality, efficiency and involving
people in shaping their city. With a focus on;

e Getting services right first time
e Improving customer satisfaction

Page 9



43.2

4.3.3

4.4
441

4.5

451

452

453

4.6
4.6.1

5.2

The Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to priorities:

¢ Reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds
o Effectively tackle and reduce anti-social behaviour in communities

Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults:

Leeds City Council has both a moral and legal obligation to ensure the duty of
care for both children and vulnerable adults across all of its services. This cannot
be achieved by any single service or agency. Safeguarding is ultimately the
responsibility of all of us and depends on the everyday vigilance of staff who play
a part in the lives of children or vulnerable adults.

Resources and value for money

The Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service is cost neutral to the Council and by
virtue of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, raises its own
revenue by setting fees to meet the cost of issuing and administering licences. The
cost of the Unmet Demand survey has been paid for by the Taxi & Private Hire
Licensing Service.

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

The results of the last unmet demand survey were presented in March 2010. As
such the Council had to repeat the survey, even to justify maintaining the existing
limits.

Any decision to refuse an application for a new licence must be on the grounds that
the Council is satisfied that there is no significant unmet demand with the licensing
district.

The Council must decide whether to remove the restriction, maintain the existing
restriction or to increase the number of licences on a managed basis until there is
no significant unmet demand.

Risk management

Local Licensing Authorities have a legal duty to commission independent periodic
surveys of unmet demand for Hackney carriages.

Conclusions

The 2017 Unmet Demand survey has identified that there is no evidence of any
unmet demand for the services of Hackney carriages either patent or latent which is
significant at this point in time in the Leeds City Council licensing area. The
Licensing Committee therefore has the option of retaining the current limit, at the
current level, and should be able to defend this if necessary.

The ultimate decision about being sure about there being no significant unmet

demand is for Members to decide, but the national experience of CTS would
currently support such a decision that the limit could remain.

Page 10



6 Recommendations

6.1  That Members consider the results of the Unmet Demand Survey and decide
whether:

iv.  to continue with the Council’s current policy to limit the number of Hackney
Carriage Proprietor licences at 537;

v. toissue any number of additional Hackney Carriage Proprietor licences as it
sees fit, either in one allocation or a series of allocations; or

vi. to remove the limit on the number of Hackney Carriage Proprietor licences
and allow a free entry policy.

7 Background documents’

7.5

" The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



CtS

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION

Unmet demand survey 1

Leeds City Council
March 2018
Unmet demand survey

Page 13



Page 14



Unmet demand survey [T

Executive Summary

This Unmet demand survey has been undertaken on behalf of Leeds City
Council following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best Practice Guidance
document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet demand. (to be
completed when all other chapters signed off by Council)

Page 15

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

Page 16

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

Contents

EX@CULIVE SUMIMAIY ...ttt sttt ea e s sns s s s et st s b e sns e s s snrane i

CONTENTS.....c s et i e s b et bbb e ii

1 General introduction and background............ccccienesessee e 1

2 Local background and CONTEXL.......ccoriieireecec ettt 5
3 Patent demand measurement (rank SUrVEYS)......cccooiiiiiieeiie e 11
4 GENEIAl PUDIIC VIEWS....ooieee sttt sttt sttt st sts sassesens s snnnee 59
5 Key stakeholder consultation..........cccoiiiiiii e e e .63
6 Trade StakehOolder VIEWS...... ...t s 67
7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance ..........nnncns 71
8 Summary, synthesis and study CONCIUSIONS..........cccooiivivrciceeeece e 76
8 RECOMMIENAALIONS......ciie ettt et b e 86

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Page 18



Unmet demand survey

1 General introduction and background

Leeds City Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and
private hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing
authority for this complete area. It retains a limit on the humber of hackney
carriage vehicles licensed. There is no legal means by which either private hire
vehicle numbers, private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the
number of private hire operators can be limited. DfT sources do not suggest
since when this limit has been in place. Prior to this survey, previous tests of
the validity of the limit and its level were undertaken in 2009.

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced
by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide
information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act
1985 “that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if,
but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant
demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is
unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no SUD”".

Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken
within the legal frameworks set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847. This has
been amended by various following legislation including the Transport Act
1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, and by the Local
Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference to private hire
vehicles and operations. Many of the aspects of these laws have been tested
and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly through
case law. Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends
to see both hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as ‘taxis’ — a term
we will try for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the
report. We will use the term ‘licensed vehicles’ to refer to both hackney
carriage and private hire.

The legislation around licensed vehicles and drivers has been the subject of
many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle humbers
has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive
practice and against natural economic trends. The three most recent reviews
were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, through the production of the BPG
in 2010, and the Law Commission review which published its results in 2014.
None of these resulted in any material change to the legislation involved in
licensing.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

The upshot of all these reviews in respect of the principal subject of this survey
is that local authorities retain the right to restrict the number of hackney
carriage vehicle licenses. The Law Commission conclusion included retention
of the power to limit hackney carriage vehicle humbers but utilizing a public
interest test determined by the Secretary of State. It also suggested the three-
year horizon also be used for rank reviews and accessibility reviews.

After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for
Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be evaluated
and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool was taken
forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time this ‘index
of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted as an industry
standard tool to be used for this purpose. Some revisions have been made
following the few but specific court cases where various parties have
challenged the policy of retaining a limit. Some of the application has differed
between Scottish and English authorities due to some court cases in Scotland
taking interpretation of the duty of the licensing authority further than is usual
in England and Wales.

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity
restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then
review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a
summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and
Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland).

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys
should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key
encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is commonly
regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. BPG suggests
key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street
hailings and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation
and publication of “all the evidence gathered”.

The most recent changes in legislation regarding licensed vehicles have been
enactment of the parts of the Equality Act related to guidance dogs (sections
168 to 171, enacted in October 2010), the two clauses of the Deregulation Act
which were successful in proceeding, relating to length of period each license
covers and to allowing operators to transfer work across borders (enacted in
October 2015), and most recently enactment of Sections 165 and 167 of the
Equality Act, albeit on a permissive basis (see below).

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

In November 2016, the DfT undertook a consultation regarding enacting
Sections 167 and 165 of the Equality Act. These allow for all vehicles capable
of carrying a wheel chair to be placed on a list by the local council (section
167). Any driver using a vehicle on this list then has a duty under section 165
to:

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair

- Not make any additional charge for doing so

- If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheel
chair

- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is
carried in safety and reasonable comfort

- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required

This was enacted from April 2017. With a mixed hackney carriage fleet, this
will apply to Leeds more directly than some other licensing areas with fully
WAV fleets. There remains no confirmation of any timetable for instigating
either the remainder of the Equality Act or the Law Commission
recommendations, or for the update of the BPG.

In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases
were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded
authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole,
not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited
area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole.

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed,
suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only
to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes
inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally
hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory
methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away
from rank locations).

In general, the determination of conclusions about significance of unmet
demand must take into account the practicability of improving the standard of
service through the increase of supply of vehicles. It is also important to have
consistent treatment of authorities as well as for the same authority over time.

In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-
paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All
vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national
public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have
jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

These are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait at
ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire who
can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any passenger
uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, they are not
insured for their journey.

|
e 2 cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

2 Local background and context
Key dates for this Unmet demand survey for Leeds City Council are:

- appointed CTS Traffic and Transportation on 22nd December 2016

- in accordance with our proposal of December 2016

- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held on 19th
January 2017

- this survey was carried out between 19th January 2017 and November
2017

- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in March 2017, with 200
people interviewed in various parts of central Leeds

- A sample of four of the busiest ranks were surveyed during the end of
February 2017, with the main wider rank survey post Easter 2017, and
a further, but slightly larger sample survey during October 2017 after
the universities had returned for their Autumn terms

- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were canvassed
in May and June including some meetings with trade representatives
throughout the study as necessary

- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey

- A draft of this report was reviewed by the client during the course of the
project

- and reported to the appropriate Council committee in April 2018.

Leeds City Council is a unitary authority, with a current population of 786,500
using the 2017 estimates currently available from the 2011 census.

In terms of background council policy, Leeds City Council is a unitary authority
which has all highway, planning and licensing powers within its jurisdiction.
However, the Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the area is the West Yorkshire LTP,
adopted on 1st April 2011 and valid up to 2026, and known as ‘My Journey
West Yorkshire’. The LTP is supported by the daughter document ‘Leeds Local
Implementation Plan’ last dated 2011 to 2014. Work is currently under way on
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) Transport Strategy which will
be a 20-year vision updating the LTP (2016 to 2036). This has been through
consultation and the current summary document is the ‘Transport Strategy
Transport Committee Report’ of 24t February 2017. The accompanying Leeds
City Region Metro Study was completed during 2016 and considered by the
Transport Committee on 21st April 2017.

|
oz cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

The Strategy document identifies that 1% of travel to work in West Yorkshire
is by taxi, the same level as by bicycle or motorcycle, and a quarter of the
level undertaken by train (4%). Policy RN5 seeks ‘to work with the taxi trade
to improve taxi facilities and environmental performance. Hackney carriages
and private hire vehicles are a valuable part of our transport system, providing
more choice for whole or part journeys. Taxis also provide a valuable service
for those people with a disability or mobility impairment. We want to enhance
this offer’

‘We will provide enhanced taxi ranks at appropriate key transport hubs, work
with the taxi trades to strengthen safeguarding protection for vulnerable users,
to achieve a greater take up of low emission electric taxis, working with the
Governments Ultra Low Emission Vehicle programme and accelerating the
provision of recharging facilities at transport hubs, car parks and on the
highway network’.

A further policy including licensed vehicles is SF2 ‘deliver mobility as a service
for an enhanced customer experience. This would provide a mobility account
enabling people to use licensed vehicles as part of their mode mix where
appropriate’.

The Transport Strategy consultation included various questionnaires, including
one of what mode of transport people used, and how often. 1,596 people
responded. Of these, 1471 answered the question about frequency of use of
taxis. None said they used taxis four or more days per week, 78% said they
used them three or less days and 22% said they never used them. This
compared to 20% not driving cars, 11% never using buses and 11% never
using cars as a passenger. 9% said they had a particular interest in taxis.

People were also asked if they supported specific policies. 54% said they would
support policy RN5, improvement of taxi facilities and their environmental
impact, although this was amongst the lowest support for any of the proposed
policies.

The present vision is the '‘LCR Metro’ a way by which connectivity will be
provided between the principal towns, cities and transport hubs across the City
Region. It is not a mode of transport or a brand. It focusses on quality,
frequent, reliable, resilient, integrated transport from all modes. However, its
focus is on higher capacity transport and as such currently ignores licensed
vehicles (and many other modes such as cycling and walking).

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

The unitary nature of the authority means that rank provision is through the
highway section of the Council itself, with full planning, regulatory and
enforcement powers directly by the Council itself. Maps and details of the traffic
regulation orders (TRO) pertaining to all ranks are available electronically,
although overall maps summarizing provision are not updated to take on board
the recent central road revisions arising from pedestrianisation.

However, all licensing authorities have full powers over licensing the vehicles,
drivers and operators serving people within their area. Leeds City Council has
chosen to utilize its power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers, and as
far as we are aware has done so for some considerable period. It has also
regularly reviewed the policy and level of vehicles appropriate.

The background policy for hackney carriage vehicle numbers has been
managed growth from 1998 at 40 vehicles per year (target of five years), with
this revised by a 2001 study to a level of 45 vehicles per year for three years.
The managed growth was set to zero in 2007 although there were clearly not
full years of allocation of all the vehicles. Surveys are recorded in 2001 and
2008 (the latter reporting in 2009).

By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for
Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by
private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in
vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed. The detailed numbers
supporting the picture below are provided in Appendix 1.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

i Leeds licensed vehicles and drivers

7000

6000 4

"s
LTS
/ "1l-

’
5000 ,l 4644 4942

: 4303
4000 81 3689 3877

3000 3

2000

»
/ ‘\\

Y N
-
1000 4 >

-‘ﬁ-
-

537 537 537 537 537 536 537 537 537 536

=
-
231 320 400 402 402 402

0 $+—=—2+ o2 & & o -2 o2 _—s_——-—os_—-—a_-=
1994D 1997D 1999D 2001D 2004D 2005D 2007D 2009D 2010N 2011D 2012N 2013D 2014N 2015D 2016C 2017C
a@micv =@mphv ey total =@=hcd =@=phd =@=dd - @ totald

Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date

The graph shows 83% growth in hackney carriage vehicle numbers between
the start of formal DfT statistics and 2007, when the current humber of 537
was reached and fixed. For the total period to date, driver numbers have only
increased by 55% suggesting many have changed to having their own vehicle,
although the driver ratio is still 1.8 suggesting double shifting still occurs.

Private hire vehicle and driver numbers both saw 82% and 92% growth
respectively between the start of data and the peak of 2012 (2007 for drivers),
with most taking place between 2005 and 2007. At the peak, there were 4,405
private hire vehicles although the level of drivers by then had fallen from the
peak of 5,500 to around 5,056.

Page 26

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

Private hire vehicle and driver numbers have seen a slump between 2012 and
2014, with numbers only recovering towards the end of 2016, albeit not to the
peaks previously seen. This suggests a relatively volatile market for their
services (which may reflect the swops between areas by drivers seeking their
best route to be able to drive).

At the end of March 2017, the hackney carriage fleet is 11% of the overall
licensed vehicle fleet, whilst hackney carriage drivers are 16% of the total
(again suggesting double shifting impacts). This is 0.7 vehicles per thousand
of resident population whilst the private hire level is 5.5 vehicles. The national
averages are 1.1 and 2.2 respectively (at April 2015). Information is also
available from these sources to show how the level of wheel chair accessible
vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most cases the values for
the private hire side tend to be much more approximate than those on the
hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for private hire being
wheel chair accessible. In some areas, to strengthen the ability of the public
to differentiate between the two parts of the licensed vehicle trade, licensing
authorities might not allow any WAV in the private hire fleet at all.

Leeds - operators and % WAV in fleets

160
18
140
120
100
80
60

40

20

35

1994D1997D1999D2001D2004D2005D2007D2009D2010N2011D2012C2013D2014N2015D2016C2017C
—e— Operators —e— % hcv WAV -e- % phv WAV

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

The level of hackney carriage which were wheel chair accessible style (WAV)
rose from 25% to 51% mainly over the period when new vehicles were added
most. Since then the proportion has remained around 51% with some slight
reductions over the years. Just a small number of private hire have WAV
capability.

The level of operators has, however, reduced steadily since a peak of 2005,
with most recent figures continuing to show decline in operator numbers.

Leeds City Council undertakes regular review of its policy to limit hackney
carriage vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. The previous surveys were in
2008 and 2001. The 2008 survey reported some 1,500 hours of observations
at ranks, but split equally over five different periods (i.e. surveys in each of
the five periods were around 300 hours). This format of survey is unusual for
standard unmet demand survey processes, which usually choose one typical
period. Surveys were undertaken on a similar sample size in February, Easter,
August, October and the end of December, in the run up to Christmas.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)

As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in
Leeds City Council is undertaken by the highways section of the Council itself,
with all elements of enforcement also under council jurisdiction, although there
may be a difference between enforcement by parking and licensing officers in
respect of their different aims.

Appendix 2 provides a list of ranks in Leeds City Council at the time of this
current survey. Our methodology to derive this list involves a current review
both in advance of submitting our proposal to undertake this Unmet demand
survey and at the study inception meeting, together with site visits where
considered necessary. This provides a valid and appropriate sample of rank
coverage which is important to feed the numeric evaluation of the level of
unmet demand, and its significance (see discussion in Chapter 7).

In the case of this survey, we began from the listing provided in the 2009
report together with the reported locations which were sampled. At inception,
details of the on-line recording of Traffic Regulation Orders was provided,
followed by maps and listing of ranks provided by the licensing enforcement
team during our visit to them following inception. The issue with TRO data is
that actual currency of the information requires a backwards approach to be
applied to each TRO since there are several cases where a rank has been
removed or amended by the most recent TRO yet will still remain in earlier
TRP’s which retain some, but not all, ranks listed therein. Further, we identified
that the maps provided and still in current use have not been updated since
around 2010. Beyond the formal record, as in most licensing areas, there are
informal arrangements either not yet reflected formally, with some that may
never be so agreed.

Further information was provided from walk-rounds of the city centre, further
streetview review based on the listings and maps, and discussion with hackney
carriage trade representatives and members of the licensing enforcement
team.

During the pre-tender process, it was realized that despite the large number
of ranks, as is the case in many places, the main focus of service and demand
was to a smaller number of locations. However, it was also realized that the
proportion of ranks used in the area might be more significant than suggested
in the sample chosen back in 2008. On appointment, further detail of the 2008
rank work was provided, showing a total of 1,235 hours had been collected
over five periods, but as already suggested in equal amounts and at a similar
set of ranks and times in each period. No detail is available how the individual
observations were translated into the average weekly estimates that were
reported.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

We also found evidence that the level of rank activity has increased particularly
in geographic scope since 2008. This has seen both new ranks added and
previously unused locations drawn into use. A particular development has been
the detailed method which ensures adequate supply is provided to the very
busy station rank. To avoid over-ranking in the daytime near the station,
vehicles have a large choice of ranks they can proceed to where they wait to
be called to the main station rank queue of vehicles. The trade provide a
steward and contact means so that vehicles arriving at these points feed
through in strict arrival order. Some of the rank locations that feed the station
are new and only service the feeder function (e.g. Little Queen Street), whilst
others were chosen from little used locations which might gain local footfall
were vehicles to wait there, such as Boar Lane McDonalds rank. Further, many
suburban ranks are used as waiting points where vehicles servicing hackney
carriage radio networks wait for jobs to be allocated, again providing a point
of generating some walk in trade.

It was determined that undertaking a similar sample of around 250 hours over
five separate periods would not provide a sufficiently comprehensive cover at
this time. Further, technology and methodology of surveys has improved since
2008 making use of video data capture and in-office watching of the footage
produced. This changes the potential sample structure, allowing longer periods
to be covered more readily, and cameras to be located in a concentrated period
which makes playing up to the surveys more difficult. Further, modern
technology makes the cameras very hard to naturally observe compared to the
obvious nature of having a person nearby a rank. Also, Leeds is one of very
few locations to base its rank observations over an extended period, rather
than one main survey undertaken at a typical period.

The proposed method was to undertake a larger baseline survey of some 460
hours, supplemented by some seasonal data at the four busiest ranks. The
2008 work was used to identify the busiest ranks modified by more recent
knowledge. It was also decided that one of the four would be a suburban rank,
giving the initial seasonal sample of the Station, the Bus Station, Woodhouse
Lane (Pryzm) and North Lane Headingley. Our first sample, undertaken at what
is believed to be the quietest period of February, covered a total of 177 hours
over these four locations.

The detailed specification of the hours included in the sample is provided in
Appendix 3(a) (February), 3 (b) (post Easter, baseline) and 3 (c) (post
University return extended sample). After initial analysis of the post Easter
baseline it was agreed the originally proposed three similar size samples
(August, October and December) to the initial work would be replaced by a
more comprehensive single period sample in October once the Universities had
returned.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

A proposal was also made in late March to cover all currently active ranks but
this totaled a survey of some 960 hours. This was felt to be excessive in
comparison to a proven method of survey of main ranks with factors being
used to produce the average weekly estimate for all hackney carriage usage
from ranks. The decision to amalgamate the August and December surveys
into a larger October review was to provide a robust test at a time when, if
unmet demand was going to become significant, it would be identified and
observed.

The August period tends to be one where the absence of school contracts and
people on holiday generally provides excess numbers of hackney carriages
compared to passengers, although it is accepted night life might be increased
given better weather and lighter nights. At Christmas, demand is known to be
higher, and unmet demand likely to be increased, but this is counted as
atypical demand which it could not be expected any licensed vehicle fleet
should reasonably gear up to meet if this implied much higher vehicle levels
than were needed for the trade to make a reasonable all-year living. Hence,
both periods were not felt to provide best value for money, but a wider review
of the student demand was felt to be reasonable and appropriate.

Overview of rank observations

The principal rank observations were undertaken once the schools had
returned from the Easter break, in early April 2017. A total of 12 council ranks,
the private Station rank and two informal locations were observed with a total
of some 462 hours observed overall. One of the informal ranks did not see any
usage by hackney carriages, whereas the other saw some hackney carriages
picking up passengers there. One of the ranks covered was an out of town
location.

These observations were used to produce a weekly estimate of typical demand
across all ranks in the Leeds area. The table below demonstrates the estimated
weekly patronage by rank, compared to estimates from the previous survey
and also from the February and October samples. They are presented with the
rank taking most passengers first to the least used at the bottom of the Table.
The estimates for Boar Lane McDonalds for April have been revised based on
updated day to average week factors using the longer time period observed in
the October data at that site. Previous factors had been based on the belief
that the rank only operated at night, which is now known to be incorrect.

|
ot cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Location Av flow | % of | Av flow | % Av flow Feb | Av flow Oct
April total | 2009 of surveys surveys (%
17 total | (% on same | equiv to
based) basis as | April)

April)

Station (private) 15,119 | 54 11,841 41 | 14,287 (55)

Boar Lane Mcdonalds | 4,007 10 217 1 3,431 (14)

Est Est Est (club gone) 2,134 7

Bus Stn 1,754 7 2,762 9 1,679 (6) 1,623 (7)

Pryzm 1,535 6 2,693 9 1,783 (7) 1,332 (5)

Dortmund Square 1,252 5 482 2 1,159 (5)

Vicar Lane (gone) 1,118 4

Merrion St 1,012 | 4 991 3 1,594 (7)

Halo (club gone) 847 3

Greek St (going) 725 3

Leeds University 824 3 964 3 483 (2)

Headrow 610 2 120 0.0

Grand Theatre 511 2 1,062 4

Call Lane (Revolution) 465 2 2,634 9 149 (0.5)

Nth Lane, Headingley 374 1 675 2 368 (2)

Revolution Bar 336 1 New

Baracoa 268 1 New

Slug and Lettuce, 193 1

informal

Wormald Row, 0 n/a

informal

TOTAL 26,947 29,265 18,117 9,771

Overall apparent| -8%

change

Allow for clubs gone 26,947 | +3% | 26,284

Exact like for like 26,150 | +7% | 24,441

Feb cf April 18,782 18,117 (96)

Oct cf April 10,849 9,771 (90)

The estimates suggest just under 27,000 passengers use ranks from the
sampled ranks above in a typical week in Leeds. This estimate does not include
passenger flows at any other ranks, including several in the suburbs apart from
the Headingly location. However, many outer ranks operate as waiting places
for hackney carriages principally operating on radio circuits, and most of the
other ranks seeing passengers are believed to provide only small amounts of
demand, and certainly few if any opportunities for any unmet demand there
to be significant. We believe that, if there were to be any unmet demand in
the area which was significant, it would occur at one or more of the above
observed ranks. An overall estimate of total rank-based demand in a typical
week for Leeds would be in the order of 30,000 passengers per week from all

ranks.
|
Page 32 I

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Comparing the same sites undertaken in February and April, the February
value is about 96% of the April value; whilst the comparison between October
and April sees the October flows about 90% of those in April. These are not
large differences overall and could as easily be differences between one
weekend and the next. We consider it prudent to use the April value as a typical
one, although trade sources did suggest that weekend was the busiest in the
2017 to that date.

54% of those in April board at the private station rank in central Leeds. The
next largest proportion use the rank near McDonalds in Boar Lane - some 10%
of passengers. This latter location is growing in use and this may be an
underestimate (even though revised with the better October data obtained).
It is also a location not directly covered in the previous survey and one which
is understood to cover some of the usage which used to obtain vehicles in the
Call Lane section which is now often closed off at peak passenger times. It
must also be noted that the October survey found that the Call Lane night
closure was no longer occurring, though the resumption of this was advised to
us to be likely, but the actual date unknown.

The next two largest ranks are the all-day location near the Bus Station, with
7% of demand, and the night rank near to Pryzm (6%). The Dortmund Square
rank on the Headrow sees 5% of demand and the Merrion Street rank 4%. The
rank outside Leeds University saw 3% of demand.

There were three other ranks that saw 2% of estimated demand (Headrow,
Grand Theatre and Revolution) and four with around 1% (North Lane,
Headingley; Revolution Bar; Baracoa and the informal location near the Slug
and Lettuce). The observations at the Wormald Row informal location did not
see any hackney carriage departures.

A validation comparison to the previous survey suggests that, on the basis of
total results for both reported surveys, demand at ranks in Leeds is now some
8% below that observed in the 2009 published survey (mainly observed in
2008). However, since the last survey, Call Lane has been closed at night,
Vicar Lane has seen significant rank removals, Greek Street became unusable
and two well-used clubs closed meaning the ranks observed near to them at
that survey are no longer used. If a like for like comparison is done only of
ranks surveyed both now and in 2008, the actual values are 24,441 for the
2009 reported survey and 26,150 for our April information, a growth of 7% for
similar rank locations. This is not a large amount over eight years, but is higher
than many other areas which have tended to see decline even from what was
believed to be a low point just after the start of the recession.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

It is particularly significant that the fourth and fifth largest rank observation
totals from the 2008 data are no longer directly available — though presumably
passengers must have transferred to other clubs or locations - such as the
Boar Lane location. A test simply taking out the two closed clubs from the 2008
data would imply current levels of usage 3% higher, although as already noted
it is more likely many of these would have transferred elsewhere potentially
suggesting reduced trade. Overall, on balance, it suggests overall demand is
probably relatively similar now at ranks.

The sample February survey flows are remarkably similar to those observed in
April, and even more so when calibrated shares of demand are estimated on
the basis that these four sites account for around 70% of the total demand.
This suggests there is perhaps less variation in demand in Leeds at the current
time than there may have been in the past.

Our proposals for the October ‘double’ sample of observations covered each of
the ranks with 2% or more of demand, but excluding the station rank given
that our review suggests there is very little risk of unmet demand of any
significant nature arising at the station unless the current arrangements cease,
or unless there is a significant event or change that occurs, which would not
count as being ‘significant unmet demand’ that required issue of further plates.

Comparing the seven sites undertaken in both April and October, the October
flows are about 10% less than those observed in April. In most cases, the sites
retain a similar share of the total usage. However, Merrion Street showed a
large increase, almost half as much more in October compared to April whilst
both the Leeds University and the Call Lane Revolution ranks have shown
reduced usage. Boar Lane also saw higher proportionate usage when
considered on a like for like basis (10% of total in April, 14% in October).

All these results tend to suggest less variation through the year than previously
expected and tend to confirm our idea that observations in April might be most
typical moving forward.

Observed April flows, covering the largest number of ranks, were transferred
into graph format below:

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Leeds April passenger flows - all observed ranks

600

500

400

300

200

100

dry,
0 Orrn RWp/y
14172023 2 5 8 1114172023 2 5 8 1114172023 2 5
Bt RwThly F BN Fn Hdgfy fm $L nfSa F8R&anSa M Barsa MRSV Bar Gd Thtr M Lds Uni
M Hdrw Mer St H Dort Sq Pryzm [ BusStn M Boar Ln McD Stn, priv M Total

The graph firstly shows the dominance of the station rank, but also clearly
shows most of the other observed ranks did have moderate passenger flows,
many at specific times, including the Headingly out of town location. It is also
clear that when the station rank begins to tail off its demand, on all nights
other demand kicks in. This is most significant on Saturday nights, but also
quite marked on Friday nights. Some locations peak earlier with others
following later. There are in the order of eight different locations contributing
to the night peaks on both Fridays and Saturdays.

Page 35

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Boar Lane and Pryzm ranks were the two clear top locations used, with Merrion
Street also contributing on a Saturday. However, the demand was at a
sustained high level from the 23:00 hour on the Saturday (507 passengers)
through to the 03:00 hour (374 passengers). The Friday equivalent flows
ranged from 390 to 255, but peaking in the midnight hour, and ending an hour
earlier. Most daytime flows tend to be between 200 and 300 passengers, with
values slightly reduced on the Thursday (148 to 267 in the hours between the
14:00 and the 23:00).

Daytime flows, apart from at the station, focus on up to five ranks. The most
dominant is the Bus Station rank, followed by Dortmund Square, the Headrow
and the Leeds University rank. The Merrion Street rank seems to operate within
this set, but from later in the day.

It is also clear from these reviews that the situation regarding the night clubs
along Call Lane and the rank there and at Baracoa needs significant discussion
between trade, police and the licensing department, to ensure a consistent and
understood provision is made for those needing hackney carriage provision in
the clubs in that area.

Overall delay to passengers

The sample February data found just three hours (2% of the total observed
hours) when there was an average waiting time shared out by those travelling
in that hour of a minute or more. 7% further saw average waits less than a
minute. A total of 92 people (3% of all passengers) experienced a wait, with
the longest wait being 10 minutes. None waited more than 11 minutes. A harsh
test of the average waiting time only for people travelling in hours with any
delay was 23 seconds. Over the full set of passengers, the average passenger
delay was just two seconds, or nine seconds for just the council ranks.

Within our April data, there were 22 hours (5%) of the total when the average
waiting time of passengers shared out between those travelling in that hour
was a minute or more. A further 13% of hours saw average waits of less than
a minute. There were a total of 389 people who experienced a wait of a minute
or more, but only 7% of these waited 11 minutes or more (and concentrated
into nine hours), with the longest recorded wait being one of 34 minutes. The
overall average passenger wait was just 18 seconds over the council ranks,
and reducing to just eight seconds including the operation at the station rank.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

The October data saw just 12 hours (3%) of the total with average waiting
time for all passengers shared out in that hour of a minute or more. A further
11% of hours saw waits of less than a minute, again a reduced level compared
to April. 268 passengers waited a minute or more, but just ten (4%) of these
had waits of 11 minutes or more, negligible. In this set of observations the
longest period recorded for a wait was 24 minutes. The October average wait
for the ranks observed was just 10 seconds. All this information is consistent
with there being lower demand in the October compared to the April.

Further discussion of these results occurs in the test of significance of unmet
demand in that Chapter of our report.

Specific rank operation

This section considers each of the ranks observed by each day which was
observed. This provides an overview of how each location is operating, and
helps validate the total results from the survey by demonstrating rank by rank
that the observed operation was realistic. The ranks are reviewed in order from
the busiest to the quietest in passenger terms (irrespective of if the rank is a
private one or not). Full results are provided in Appendices 4a, 4b and 4c.

For the sake of clarity, the February observations ran from 15:00 on Thursday
23 February 2017 until 06:59 on Sunday 26t February 2017. They produced
a total of 177 hours of observation covering four key ranks. In April, we began
observations at 14:00 on Thursday 27t April, 2017 and ran through at some
locations to 06:59 on Sunday morning, 30% April, 2017. During this period a
total of 461 hours were observed across twelve council, one private and two
informal rank locations. Our October observations ran from 14:00 on Thursday
19th October 2017 until 07:59 on Sunday 22" October 2017, covering 360
hours at seven council sites.

Railway Station

The rank at Leeds Station is directly in front of the main exit from the station.
However, more recently, further exits from the station have been developed
to spread the arrivals and departures, but this remains the principal exit to
both the rank, bus stops and the main pedestrian route to the city centre itself.
The loading section of the rank is on railway land and requires a supplementary
permit from Network Rail. This section has a canopy roof and takes about five
vehicles. All can load from the driver side, although there is also some
protection on the passenger side of the vehicle depending on where the vehicle
actually is. Passengers arriving from the station have had to cross the bus lane
and the taxi arrival lane to get to the departure point, and also have to pass
along the waiting vehicles at this point.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

This main departure section of the rank is fed by spaces in New Station Street,
part of which are on the bridge over Neville Street (which is a single lane for
the hackney carriages), with a further feeder rank on the opposite side of
Station Street as it curves round towards its junction with Boar Lane. These
provide in the order of 36 spaces on council highway under local traffic
regulation orders. The nature of this rank meant that specific and controlled
access was required for installation of the equipment at the pick-up end of the
site.

As the busiest expected rank, the location was proposed for cover in February,
April, August, October and December in a similar manner to that undertaken
in the previous survey. However, given the changed operation here, with a
highly organized service pattern, only the February and April observations
were deemed important. The station rank was observed throughout the survey
period, starting from 15:00 on Thursday 23 February 2017 until 06:59 on the
early hours of the Sunday morning of 26t February, 2017, and then from
14:00 on Thursday 27t April 2017 until 06:59 in the early hours of Sunday
30th April 2017.

The local trade representatives made us aware that this rank sees special
arrangements to provide cover for the high volumes of passengers and vehicles
using the rank. A marshal is employed during main daytime hours who
monitors vehicles arriving and passenger levels. All vehicles servicing the rank
have some form of communication with the marshal. Further, all vehicles need
to choose a feeder rank to wait out beyond the confines of the main station
feeder. On arrival, each checks in with the marshal and are then called in order
of arrival at feeders to the main feeder. Vehicles at the other feeders may
sometimes obtain work from those locations, and the trade confirmed that
some of those locations had actually developed trade by the regular presence
of vehicles there. This system reduces congestion at the main rank and its
feeders, allows rapid refreshing of the main rank when needed, and also helps
develop other central ranks which might not otherwise see vehicles. This tends
towards reducing the opportunity for unmet demand to become significant,
and also reduced the opportunity for latent demand at ranks that might
otherwise exist but rarely see vehicles.

Our queue observation began when vehicles arrived at the start of Lower
Station Street, and ended with departure from the head of the rank. We have
not explicitly included any waiting at feeders beyond this point as it is not easy
to link the sites up, and their waiting times will be recorded where that rank
has been observed for other demand purposes and discussed accordingly.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Many ranks felt unlikely to see much demand were also excluded from the data
collection to ensure we could cover locations more likely to see unmet demand
for vehicles rather than unmet supply of passengers.

Thursday observations, February

During the Thursday observations, some 1,328 passengers used the rank,
leaving in 1,154 hackney carriages, a very low occupancy of 1.2 per vehicle.
Just 20 vehicles, just 2% of those arriving, left without passengers. No
passenger ever arrived to find there was no vehicle available for immediate
hire.

The first two observed hours both saw 78 passengers. Numbers then rose over
the next three hours to reach the peak of 180 in the 19:00 hour. Flows were
then between 134 and 168 in the next four hours. The midnight hour flow was
50, followed by 32, 30 and then six. The 04:00 hour saw no passengers but
there were four in the last hour, 05:00.

This day was one of general rail disruption around the country, although Leeds
seemed to fare better than many other places, although many of the longer
distance trains to the Midlands and London, and from Scotland, were either
heavily delayed or cancelled at times. There were two relatively delayed trains
arriving in the 02:00 hour but otherwise the night hours mainly saw the regular
Manchester Airport to York services operating on time. The first trains left just
after 05:00. The overall impact of the adverse weather on Leeds taxi
operations would probably have been neutral with some extra trips and others
not made.

Most vehicle waits in the observable queue at the Station were between three
and ten minutes, with maximum waits of 22 minutes observed. From midnight
on the vehicle waits tended to be longer, although they then reduced in the
early hours.

Friday observations, February

The full 24-hours of observation on this day saw 3,117 passengers leave in
2,384 vehicles, a low occupancy of just 1.3 per vehicle. Just 23 vehicles left
without taking a passenger, 1% of those arriving. Nearly half of these were in
the quieter morning hours when flows reduced and trains were less frequent.
No passenger arrived to find there was not a vehicle immediately available for
them to hire.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Flows started at 13, then 43, and were then between 99 and 153 in every hour
up to and including the 16:00. The next eight hours saw flows ranging from
185 up to 254 with the peak in the 18:00 hour. Flows were 80 in the 01:00
hour, then 62, 31, 19 and 12, with no hour seeing zero passengers at all.

Vehicle waits in the observable queue were between six and eight minutes,
with the occasional longer wait. The longest vehicle wait recorded was 20
minutes, apart from the very first hour. From the 01:00 hour on waits of
vehicles for passengers extended, with the last four hours seeing some
vehicles wait nearly an hour for a passenger with the lower flows.

Saturday observations, February

The overall 24-hour total for the Saturday hours was slightly lower than the
Friday at 3,016 passengers, leaving in 2,367 hackney carriage departures, a
similar low occupancy of 1.3 per vehicle. Again, just 1% of arriving vehicles
left without a passenger - again mainly towards the end of the day. On this
day, there were six people arriving when there was no vehicle available for
immediate hire, but the longest wait was just two minutes. Waits occurred in
the 11:00 and midnight hours, with most waiting in the midnight hour.
However, given the high flows the average passenger delay was negligible.

Flows were 19 and 30 in the first two hours. They then rose quickly to stay
between 126 and 201 for most hours up to and including the 01:00 hour, apart
from the 13:00 hour with 108 and the 16:00 hour with 82. Interestingly the
midnight, 01:00 and 02:00 hours saw much higher passenger occupancies,
rising to 1.5 and 1.7. Flows dropped in the 02:00 hour to 83, then 51, 57 and
finally just 12 and 11 in the last two hours observed.

General waiting time of vehicles for fares were from two to 11 minutes,
although when demand was low this could extend to nearer half an hour, with
some vehicles observed waiting in the quieter periods sometimes over an hour,
but more usually up to around 40 minutes. In the busier hours, the maximum
wait in the observable queue is at worst 20 minutes, often much less.

Thursday observations, April

During the April observations, on this day some 1,500 passengers were
observed leaving in 1,347 vehicles, a very low occupancy of just 1.1 per
vehicle, lower than in February. Again, just 1% of vehicles arriving left without
passengers, nearly all in the hours towards the end of the night / early morning
when flows were very low. During the period observed, one person, in the
03:00 hour arrived to find no vehicle available for immediate hire, but only
waited a minute, and the overall average passenger delay was negligible.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Passenger flows were between 89 and 197 in every hour up to and including
the 23:00 hour. The busiest hour was 18:00, and the quietest 15:00. After
this, flows dropped quickly to 80, 37, 17, six, six, five and 11, with no hour
having zero passengers at all. Daytime vehicle waits for passengers were
between three and eight minutes. This extended from the 23:00 hour onwards,
including some vehicle waits of over an hour in the quietest hours.

Friday observations, April

The full 24-hours of observation on this Friday saw some 2,721 passengers
leaving in 2,324 vehicles, lower than in February. Just ten vehicles left without
passengers.

There were seven passengers arriving when no vehicles were available in the
04:00 hour. Their maximum wait was six minutes. However, given the volume
of passengers overall, the average passenger delay was negligible.

Passenger flows were 28 in the first hour observed, but were then between 88
and 184 up to and including the 20:00 hour. The peak in that period was at
18:00. Flows were then higher at 232, 220, 193 and 170. The 01:00 hour saw
a much lower 61 followed by 80, 24, 27 and then just seven and eight in the
last two hours.

Saturday observations, April

The 24-hour period from 07:00 on the Saturday through to the Sunday
morning saw some 7,482 passengers leave in 6,187 vehicle movements, a low
occupancy of 1.3 per vehicle. There were just three vehicles leaving without
passengers during the period.

Very unusually, there were passengers identified waiting for vehicles to arrive
during three hours of this day. One person waited a minute in the 17:00 hour.
Another person waited two minutes in the 05:00 hour. 22 people arrived and
found no vehicle available for immediate hire in the 04:00 hour, with one
person having to wait ten minutes, but the rest waiting no more than five
minutes. When shared over all travelling in this hour, the average passenger
delay was just under a minute. Shared over the whole day, the typical wait
time that could be expected on this day was just two seconds.

Passenger flows started at 10 and rose every hour to reach a three hour peak
where flows were between 227 and 236 in each of the hours of 12:00, 13:00
and 14:00. Flows then fell to a level between 125 and 191 in each hour from
the 15:00 to the 22:00. There were then three more hours when flows were
higher, between 205 and 234 (23:00, midnight and 01:00). Flows then
dropped to 105, 114, 81, 27 and finally just one in the last hour observed.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Vehicle waits for fares were between four and 14 minutes in most hours, apart
from the first two hours that saw longer waits. Normal longest waiting times
by vehicles were never more than 25 minutes, again apart from the first two
hours, when one vehicle appeared to wait over an hour for a fare.

Summary

The overall service provide to this rank is very good with just the occasional
time when people had to wait - but very occasional, and exceptional given the
flows experienced.

Boar Lane, McDonalds

Boar Lane runs west to east from near Leeds Station towards the Bus Station.
It has three separate ranks at the current time, two of which are principally
night ranks used to feed the station rank when they are operating. The main
rank used is three spaces on the north side of Boar Lane just before its junction
with Briggate. This is directly outside two burger restaurants and is now a 24-
hour rank, though has previously been a night only rank. It is now in a vibrant
part of the city centre and has grown in usage.

Our plans for observation were based on our understanding of it being mainly
a night rank, but the October observations were extended to cover the location
full time. Even with the limited April observations (albeit factored to take into
account the shorter hours observed), this rank now appears to be the second
busiest in Leeds. The October data confirmed this.

This rank was observed from 23:00 on Friday 28t April 2017 until 05:59 on
the Saturday morning, and again from 23:00 on Saturday 28% April again
covering the same hours. In October we covered the location for the full survey
period from 14:00 on Thursday 19t October until 07:59 in the early hours of
Sunday 22" October 2017.

Friday observations, April

The Friday evening into the Saturday morning saw 477 passengers leave the
rank in 307 vehicle movements, a moderate occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. 32
further vehicles, 9% of those arriving, left without passengers. It is understood
some of these would be going to service the station rank. Five people had to
wait for vehicles to arrive, three in the 23:00 hour, and one each in the 01:00
and 02:00 hours. The longest recorded wait was two minutes, and the average
over the period observed was just one second.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Flows increased over the first three hours from 42 up to the peak of 96 in the
01:00 hour. After this, flows dropped back to 48 in the last observed hour of
05:00. Vehicles waited two to five minutes for fares, though this increased to
around seven minutes in the last two hours.

Saturday observations, April

The Saturday had 524 people leave in 330 vehicle movements, the same
moderate occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. On the Saturday just nine other
vehicles left without passengers, just 3%. 13 passengers had to wait for a
vehicle to arrive, none more than five minutes, in the midnight and 01:00
hours. Over the whole observed period the average passenger delay was four
seconds.

Flows started at about the same level as the Friday, but then dropped to 34,
before rising to 66 and the peak of 131 in the 02:00 hour (a later and higher
peak). Flows then dropped to 116, 83 and 50 in the last hour observed.

Average vehicle wait times for fares were lower, at just one or two minutes
apart from being seven minutes in the very last hour.

Thursday observations, October

The October part Thursday saw 367 passengers leave in 236 vehicles, a
moderate occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. A further 10% of vehicles arriving left
without passengers. Just three passengers arrived with no vehicle immediately
available for hire - but none waited more than a minute. This was in the 14:00
hour.

Passenger flows were between 13 and 19 in each hour from the start of survey
until the 21:00 hour, apart from a dip to just eight in the 15:00 hour. From
22:00 onwards, flows increased to a peak of 47 in the 02:00 hour, after which
they dropped back to 19 and then just four in the 06:00 hour.

Vehicle waits were between eight and 25 minutes for fares, with most around
the 11 minute mark. The waiting time was longer as flows reduced later in the
observations. Longest waits were 35 minutes, although they did rise to over
an hour in the overnight observations.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Friday observations, October

The Friday saw a total of 608 passengers leave the rank using 381 vehicles, a
similar moderate occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. Just 2% left the area without
passengers. There were two hours, the 15:00 and the midnight hour, when
passengers arrived and there were no vehicles there for immediate hire. The
longest wait, however, was just three minutes with most waiting only briefly.
In total just six passengers had to wait.

There were no passengers until the 10:00 hour, and only one vehicle in the
09:00 hour. After this flows were between two and eight up to the 14:00 hour.
Flows were then between 11 and 22 in each hour up to the 22:00 hour when
flows began to rise, leading to a peak of 77 in the 02:00 hour. Flows then
remained around this level for three hours, but dropped to 21 in the 05:00
hour and 18 in the 06:00 hour.

Vehicles tended to wait between three and 22 minutes for fares, with the
longest vehicle wait being 36 minutes, which was in the night hours. Early wait
times suggest vehicles were only pausing here briefly before moving on - but
later most vehicles took passengers.

Overall, the October similar hours were about 10% quieter in passenger terms
than the April values.

Saturday observations, October

On the Saturday, 940 passengers left the area in 587 vehicles, again a
moderate occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. A slightly higher 4% left without
passengers, still very low. One person had to wait two minutes for a vehicle in
the 15:00 hour, six up to five minutes in the 23:00 hour and 13 waited with
the longest wait being three minutes in the 01:00 hour. Over all passengers,
the average passenger delay was just three seconds.

Flows for the same observed hours as April were about 4% higher in October.
Unlike Friday, there were some very small passenger flows from 07:00
onwards with between one and eight passengers in the hours up to and
including the 12:00. Flows then gently rose to a peak of 56 in the 17:00 hour,
after which they fell to a low of 33 in the 21:00 hour. They then rose again to
the peak of 95 in the 01:00 hour, after which flows remained about this level
until the 03:00 hour, then dropped, with the 07:00 hour seeing just eight
passengers.

Vehicle wait times for fares were generally low, often between two and 15

minutes with a few exceptions. The longest recorded vehicle wait, even in the
quieter hours, was just 24 minutes.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Summary

The overall service here is very good. It is also clear that the rank is used at
all times, with a focus on afternoons and the 01:00 to 03:00 hours. Even when
flows of passengers are low, vehicles service the rank, although empty
departures are relatively low.

Call Lane, Revolution

This rank has seen recent modification. Since the last survey, this road has
been closed off on Friday and Saturday nights due to the high volumes of
pedestrians and traffic and concerns about their safety. Since then, a traffic
scheme has also been applied which has narrowed the pavement where the
rank is, providing double the pavement width on the rank side of the road.
Further, what was a 24-hour six space and a further 23:30 onwards six space
night rank has become a single rank which operates only from 19:00 to 07:00
with loading at other times. This is also dependent on the road being open,
which, as already noted it is not on the busiest nights. However, by October
the weekend closures had ceased, albeit temporarily, and the rank was
observed in place of the alternative location (although due to uncertainty we
also covered the alternative but found it was not used).

When operating, loading is from the passenger side of the vehicle, with driver
side loading not safe at all given the traffic passing by and the now narrowed
carriageway next to the vehicle.

Observations at this location ran from 18:00 on Thursday 27% April until 06:59
in the early hours of the Friday morning. With our understanding the road
would be shut on the Friday and Saturday, no plans were made to observe the
location when it was not expected to be possible to serve. However, this was
not the case in October so in October the location was observed on the Friday
and Saturday nights, 20t and 21st October 2017, from 23:00 until 05:59 on
the Saturday and 07:59 on the Sunday mornings respectively.

Thursday observations, April

In the observed period, total passengers were 93, leaving in 59 vehicle
movements, a moderate average occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. A further 16
vehicles, 21% of those arriving, left without passengers.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

The rank only saw vehicles and passengers from the 21:00 hour to the 04:00
hour, otherwise it was not used. During this eight hour period, there were just
three hours when passenger flows were over 15 in any hour, between midnight
and the 02:00 hour. Peak flows were just 30 in the 02:00 hour. No passenger
ever arrived without a vehicle being available for immediate hire. Vehicle waits
for fares were variable, but generally high, with one vehicle waiting nearly 90
minutes for a fare.

Friday observations, October

On the Friday observed, there were just 17 passengers who left in nine
vehicles, a high occupancy of 1.9 per vehicle. Most passengers were in the
23:00 hour, of which five had to wait, with a longest wait of three minutes.
The last two hours saw a very high nhumber of vehicles pausing but then leaving
without passengers, with 61% of all vehicles arriving leaving empty.

Saturday observations, October

The Saturday saw a similar pattern, with 54 passengers leaving in 35 vehicles,
a moderate occupancy of 1.5 per vehicle. A lower level of 21% of vehicles left
empty. Again, most passengers were in the 23:00 hour, but with a few more
using the rank in the midnight, 04:00 and 06:00 hours.

This rank sees good service but is not used to a great extent. This may relate
to uncertainty if it is operating or not, with passengers most likely heading to
other locations where they would always expect to find vehicles.

Bus Station

This rank is directly outside the pedestrian exit from the main Leeds City bus
station, and very close to the outdoor market site. Formally there are four
spaces on Dyer Street and three on Ludgate Hill, all 24-hour, but the area used
tends to extend beyond this into George Street. The area has developed further
recently with the new John Lewis building on the opposite side of the road from
the Bus Station. During our first site visit we also noted some additional night
spaces along George Street, but a further site visit identified that other spaces
just south of Vicar Lane, had been removed with the general changes in Vicar
Lane.

At the time of setting up our tender, this rank was believed to be the second
busiest rank in Leeds based on the previous survey. It was proposed for cover
during February, April, August, October and December to act as one of the four
control ranks to provide estimates of demand variation through the year.
Further review identified the rank to be the third busiest, although it was
retained for observation in the larger October sample as well as being covered

in February and April.
|
Page 46 I

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

This rank was observed in February, starting from 14:00 on Thursday 23 until
07:59 in the early hours of Sunday 26t February 2017. In April, it was
observed from 14:00 on Thursday 27% April through to 05:59 on Sunday 30t
April 2017. In October we covered the location for the full survey period from
14:00 on Thursday 19% October until 07:59 in the early hours of Sunday 22nd
October 2017.

Thursday observations, February

During the hours observed, the rank saw 179 passengers leave in 118 hackney
carriages, a moderate occupancy of 1.5 per vehicle. A further 21 vehicles, 15%
of those arriving, left without passengers.

During our observations, five people arrived when there was no hackney
carriage waiting for them to board immediately. However, none waited longer
than a minute and the average wait shared over all passengers during this set
of observations was just two seconds. The passenger waits occurred in the
14:00, 15:00 and 01:00 hours.

The flows at this site were between 17 and 33 in the shopping hours, but
dropped to between six and ten in the evening, with a peak of 14 in the 22:00
hour, after which flows dropped to between one and five, apart from a peak of
17 in the 01:00 hour that led to two passengers having to wait. The 03:00
hour saw no passengers at all. The highest flows were 32 and 33 in the
consecutive hours of 15:00 and 16:00.

Vehicle waits at this location varied dependent on the passenger flows, with
some quite long waits observed. Some vehicles were observed to wait here
well over an hour at times.

Friday observations, February

On the Friday, in a full 24-hour period starting from 07:00, 394 passengers
left this rank in some 267 vehicles, again a moderate occupancy of 1.5 per
vehicle. A further 25 vehicles, 9% of those arriving, left without passengers.

During this period, 23 people arrived when no vehicle was available for
immediate hire. Their average wait shared over all passengers during the day
was 14 seconds. The longest wait was eight minutes, and waiting was observed
in the 08:00, 12:00 and 22:00 hours, with the worst being in the 12:00 hour
on this day. In that hour the average waiting time shared over all passengers
was just under two minutes.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Passenger flows were between four and 13 from the 07:00 to the 10:00 hours.
After this, levels increased to be between 16 and 34 through to 22:00, with
one peak of 47 in the 16:00 hour. After this, flows dropped to 11, then ten,
then between one and three with again no flow in the 03:00 hour.

Again vehicle waits depended on flows in an hour, but generally were shorter
than on the Thursday, with the longest wait recorded by a vehicle being just
under an hour.

Saturday observations, February

The full 24-hours of observations starting from 07:00 on Saturday found a
slightly lower total of 314 passengers leaving in 192 vehicles, a slightly higher
but still moderate occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. A higher 36, or 16% of those
vehicles arriving left without passengers.

24 people arrived and found no vehicle there for immediate hire. The longest
recorded wait was nine minutes, with the average over all people during this
day being 16 seconds. The waits occurred in the 10:00, 11:00, 18:00, 20:00
and 22:00 hours, with the worst waits in the 11:00 hour.

Passenger flows were two to five for the first three hours observed. After that
they were between 11 and 31 in the hours up to and including 23:00. The peak
was 31, again in the 16:00 hour. The remaining hour from midnight on saw
just two or three passengers in each hour, with again none in the 03:00.

Vehicle waits for fares were 10-20 minutes during the daytime hours, but
longer first thing and later at night. However, in the very quiet periods waits
tended to be shorter suggesting less vehicles operating. However, those
servicing the night demand tended to have to wait longer for fares

Thursday observations, April

The Thursday saw 166 passengers (just slightly less than in February) leave
in 108 vehicles, a moderate occupancy of 1.5 per vehicle. Just 15 other
vehicles left without passengers, 12% of those arriving. Eleven people arrived
and found they had to wait to board a hackney carriage. Waits occurred in the
15:00, 16:00, 19:00, 21:00 and 23:00 hour. One person had to wait 15
minutes in the 23:00 hour, and one six minutes in the 19:00 hour. All other
waits were two minutes or less. Averaged over all passengers during this set
of observations, the average passenger delay was 18 seconds. In just one of
the hours the average wait was over a minute.

|
e 1 cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

The first two hours, 14:00 and 15:00 saw 26 and 33 passengers respectively.
Flows were then between 12 and 21 over the next four hours. The 20:00,
21:00 and 22:00 hours saw much lower flows, between four and seven, with
10 in the 23:00 hour, then just six, five and one in the next three hours. There
were no vehicles or passengers in the 04:00 hour, but two people in each of
the 05:00 and 06:00 hours.

Vehicle waits for passengers were generally quite long, with a range between
11 and 80 minutes, depending on the busyness of the rank. Quite a humber
of vehicles were observed waiting over an hour.

Friday observations, April

The full 24-hours on the Friday saw 447 people (marginally more than in the
February) leave in 304 vehicle movements, a moderate occupancy of 1.5 per
vehicle. A further 23, just 7% of those vehicles arriving, left without
passengers.

During the period observed, 45 passengers arrived and had to wait for a vehicle
to arrive. Two hours saw average passenger waiting of a minute or more. The
worst waits were in the 14:00 hour, when 27 had to wait, with the longest wait
being 11 minutes. Nine others waited between six and 10 minutes. Other
waiting occurred in the 11:00, 13:00, 16:00, 17:00 and 22:00 hours, although
for those passengers most only waited up to two minutes, with just a few
having to wait up to five minutes. Over the full period, the average passenger
delay was just under half a minute.

Passenger flows were between six and nine for the first three hours observed.
They were then between 21 and 37 from the 10:00 hour through to the 14:00
hour. The next three hours saw between 44 and 47 in each hour, the peak
flows here. The 18:00 hour saw 26, then 14 passengers, then just nine in the
20:00 hour. Flows were then between 17 and 27 in the next three hours, before
dropping to 9, 9 and finally two in the 02:00 hour. There were no passengers
or vehicles in the 03:00 hour, after which there were four, six and two
passengers respectively.

Average vehicle waits were generally between 12 and 34 minutes, although
the period after midnight did see some lower vehicle wait times. There were
several cases of vehicles waiting here over an hour for a fare at quieter periods.

Flows on this day were generally similar to the February flows, although more
people were observed queueing in this set of observations.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Saturday observations, April

The Saturday 24-hour period saw a higher 368 people than in February leave
in some 234 vehicle movements. This was a moderate occupancy of 1.6 per
vehicle, with a slightly higher 9% of arriving vehicles leaving without a
passenger.

47 passengers arrived without a vehicle being available for immediate hire,
double that on the same day in February. The longest wait observed was 18
minutes, in the 07:00 hour. Seven hours had average passenger wait times of
a minute or more. There was a 15 minute wait for a passenger in the worst
hour, the 12:00. Other waits occurred in the 13:00, 14:00, 15:00, 19:00,
20:00, midnight and 01:00 hours. Over the whole period, the average
passenger delay was 41 seconds.

The profile of flows through the day was similar to the other days, with low
starts (3 to 8) in the first three hours, then 20-23 over the next three hours,
35-39 in the three hours of 13:00, 14:00 and 15:00, 22 -28 in the next three
hours, 15-20 in the next four hours, and then just one to three after midnight,
with again 03:00 completely quiet. Flows then were 2 in the 04:00 hour and 4
in the 05:00.

Vehicle waits for passengers were lower, between five and 31 minutes in
general. The longest wait was lower at just 38 minutes, compared to other
days.

Thursday observations, October

The October part Thursday saw 152 passengers leave the rank in some 113
vehicles, a low average occupancy of just 1.3 passengers per vehicle. Some
17% of vehicles arriving left without passengers. During the course of the
observations, just two passengers arrived when no vehicles were available for
immediate hire. These both were in the 06:00 hour early on the Friday
morning, but the overall average passenger waiting time for all passengers
was just one second.

Daytime and evening passenger flows varied from six to 27 people in any hour
with the peak in the 14:00 hour. The hours from midnight on saw much lower
flows, between none and three, although there was only the 03:00 hour which
saw no passengers, and every hour saw at least one vehicle operating there.

General vehicle wait times for fares were quite long, generally being between

19 and 44 minutes, but often longer. However, the early hours saw shorter
waits suggesting many may have been booked passengers, or drivers arriving

to service specific coach arrivals.
|
Page 50 I

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Friday observations, October

The Friday saw some 381 passengers leave the rank in 270 vehicles, a low
overall occupancy of 1.4 per vehicle. A further 9% of vehicles arrived and left
without passengers.

In total some 38 people arrived and found no vehicle there available for
immediate hire. The longest recorded wait was nine minutes. People waited in
the 08:00, 13:00, 14:00, 16:00 and 17:00 hours, with the highest numbers
and longest waits in the 16:00 hour. Shared over all passengers during this
24-hour period, average passenger delay was 21 seconds.

Passenger flows were between four and 14 in the hours up to and including
the 11:00 hour. They were then between 26 and 38 over the next four hours,
rising to a peak of 48 and 51 in the 16:00 and 17:00 hours. Flows were then
between 15 and 22 until the midnight hour, with one very low flow of just five
people in the 20:00 hour. The 01:00 hour saw just three passengers, with
none in the next three hours, and three in the 05:00 rising to eight in the
06:00.

Vehicle waiting times for fares were generally five to 20 minutes, although
there were some severely extended waiting times in the early evening after
the main peak. In this period there were some vehicles waiting nearly two
hours here.

Saturday observations, October

The Saturday flows, at 367, were very similar in total to those on the Friday.
They left in 253 vehicles, a moderate occupancy of 1.5 per vehicle, marginally
higher than the Friday. 9% of vehicles left without passengers, the same as
on the Friday.

Ten people arrived when no vehicle was available for immediate hire — with
two people waiting 24 minutes in the 01:00 hour. However, shared over all
passengers during the 24 hours, the average passenger delay was small at
just 13 seconds. Other waits occurred in the 18:00, 22:00 and 04:00 hours,
though none were over three minutes.

There were no passengers in the 08:00 hour, but two in each of the hours
either side of this. Flows were then between 15 and 23 in the next four hours.
They were then between 24 and 43 between 14:00 and 19:00 with the peak
at 14:00. Flows were then 18 and 17 after which there was a peak of 30 in the
22:00 hour. Remaining flows were between two and six, with no passengers
in the 03:00 hour.

|
s cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Vehicles tended to wait longer for fares on this day, although there were some
smaller waits in busy hours.

Summary
The overall service here is fair with regular instances of waiting, but also some
high cost to vehicles in terms of times they had to wait for vehicles to arrive.

Pryzm (Woodhouse Lane)

This rank is a 24-hour rank which is principally used at night to service the
night club, currently known as Pryzm, whose exit is adjacent to the head of
this four space rank. The club was previously known as Oceana. It is located
in a lay-by, meaning there is little extra capacity beyond the rank, and loads
from the passenger side of the vehicle. Any loading from the driver side would
be very dangerous given the other passing traffic, albeit in a one-way system,
but a wide section of road.

Our pre-appointment information suggested that this rank was the third
busiest location in Leeds based on the previous survey. More recent
information suggests it is actually the fourth busiest with it being supplanted
by a more recently developing location. On the original basis it was proposed
for observation in February, April, August, October and December, but with
the revised package of observations cover was undertaken in February, April
and October.

The location was observed in February from 23:00 on Friday 24t February until
05:59 the next morning and repeated for the same hours for the Saturday
night, 25% February into the Sunday morning. The April observations ran from
23:00 on Friday 28t April until 05:59 on the Saturday morning, and again for
the same hours starting from Saturday evening. In October the location was
observed on the Friday and Saturday nights, 20t and 21st October 2017, from
23:00 until 05:59 on the Saturday and 07:59 on the Sunday mornings
respectively.

Friday observations, February

During the observed hours a total of 251 passengers left the rank using 116
hackney carriages, a relatively high occupancy of 2.2 per vehicle. A further 14,
or 11% of those arriving here, left without passengers. There were just three
passengers arriving when no vehicle was available for their immediate hire.
The longest waited ten minutes, in the 03:00 hour. Shared over all those
travelling during these observations, the average passenger delay was eight
seconds.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Passenger flows began at 35 and rose to the peak of 69 in the 01:00 hour.
They then fell back with the 04:00 hour seeing just 11, and the 05:00 seeing
no passengers or vehicles. Vehicle waits for fares were short, three to eight
minutes, and the longest observed vehicle wait was just 18 minutes.

Saturday observations, February

The Saturday saw more than double the number of passengers, 519, leaving
in 234 vehicles, still the same high occupancy of 2.2 per vehicle. Whilst the
number of vehicles leaving empty was the same, the higher number of vehicles
meant this was just 6% of the total.

25 passengers arrived to find no vehicle available for immediate hire. None,
however, waited longer than three minutes. The average passenger delay on
this set of observations was five seconds.

Passenger flows began higher, at 78, and rose to the peak of 157 again at
01:00, then dropping to 111, 66 and six. There were no passengers in the
05:00 hour, nor vehicles, but there was a solitary passenger picked up in the
06:00 hour. Vehicle wait times for fares were very low, just one to three
minutes.

Friday observations, April

The Friday saw a total of 198 passengers use 100 departures to leave the rank,
a relatively high occupancy of 2 per vehicle. This is lower than in February,
with a higher 16% of vehicles leaving the rank without passengers. Just one
person arrived and found no hackney carriage there to take them - waiting
three minutes for a vehicle to arrive.

Flows started at 33, rose to the peak of 67 in the midnight hour, then dropped
to 55, 31, 11 and finally one in the 04:00 hour after which the area saw no
passengers and just one vehicle. Vehicle waits for passengers were four to 11
minutes. This flow profile and range was very similar to February despite
overall flows being about 20% lower in these observations in April.

Saturday observations, April

The Saturday saw some 495 passengers leave the rank in 227 vehicle
movements, a relatively high occupancy of 2.2. 10% of arriving vehicles left
without a passenger. This is just 5% less than in February, but with a slightly
higher level of empty departures.

|
Pagess cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

86 passengers arrived and found they had to wait for a vehicle. However, the
longest wait, in the 23:00 hour, was eight minutes. Apart from in this first
hour, all but two people obtained vehicles in three minutes or less, with the
average passenger delay being 20 seconds. People did wait in every hour from
the 23:00 through to the 03:00, effectively most hours the rank was
operational.

Flows started at 113, dropped to 89, then rose to the peak of 120 in the 01:00
hour. They then dropped to 93, 66, 13 and just one in the final 05:00 hour.
Given the queues and busyness of the rank, vehicle waits for fares were low
at just one to three minutes. The peak flow was lower than in February but the
queues were more significant now, over three times as many.

Friday observations, October

The Friday in October saw a total of 159 passengers leave the rank using 83
vehicles, a high average occupancy of 1.9 per person. 19% of arriving vehicles
left without passengers. Just three people in the 01:00 hour arrived and found
no vehicle there to take immediately - but they only waited a minute.

Comparing flows on the Friday over the February, April and October saw
numbers reduced as the months progressed, the October flows were 20%
lower than those in April and the April themselves were 20% less than those
in February. The level of empty vehicle departures increased correspondingly
over the three periods observed.

Flows were between 29 and 60 with the peak in the 01:00 hour; there were
passengers in the 03:00 to 05:00 hours but only between one and five.

Vehicles waited between six and 14 minutes in general for fares, with longest
waits around 35 minutes, although these figures were exceeded in the last
hour when flows were very low.

Saturday observations, October

The Saturday saw a much higher 464 passengers leaving in 217 vehicles, a
relatively high occupancy of 2.1 per vehicle. A lower 11% of those arriving left
without passengers. The higher flows meant that people waited for vehicles to
arrive in every hour from the midnight through to the 04:00 hour. The longest
wait, in the midnight hour, was seven minutes, otherwise no-one waited longer
than two minutes and most just a minute. Over all using the rank on this night,
the average passenger delay was 18 seconds.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Flows began at 87, rising to the peak of 140 at midnight. They were then
between 65 and 92 in the next three hours, with just four and two respectively
in the next two hours, and no-one at all in the 06:00 and 07:00 hours. There
were no vehicles servicing the rank when there were no passengers.

Vehicle waits for fares on this night were never long, with a maximum wait
never more than two minutes, and the average lower than this. The fact that
just two people waited any longer than two minutes is very indicative of good
response to demand.

Summary

This rank sees variable service based on how busy the area is - with higher
flows there seems to be slightly reduced service levels, suggesting overall
service here is fair. However, the October Saturday night saw great response
by the trade to high flows, evidenced by only two people having to wait longer
than two minutes, and then only seven minutes.

Dortmund Square

This rank is located in Dortmund Square on the north side of The Headrow. At
this point, the Square has a pavement build out into The Headrow’s eastbound
carriageway, on which a two space hackney carriage rank is located. This is
directly outside one of the main exits from the nearby shopping centre. There
is a bus stop immediately behind the rank on main carriageway, so there is no
extra space for further vehicles to wait at all. Feeder spaces are provided by
the more recently provided Miller and Carter / The Light four space rank (which
is also on pavement build-out). Our quoted vehicle wait times for fares in this
case exclude any previous wait time at the feeder rank.

Dortmund Square rank was observed from 14:00 on Thursday 27t April 2017
until 05:59 in the early hours of Sunday morning, 30t April 2017. In October
we covered the location for the full survey period from 14:00 on Thursday 19t
October until 07:59 in the early hours of Sunday 22" October 2017.

Thursday observations, April

On the Thursday 136 passengers left this rank in 102 vehicles, a low occupancy
of 1.3 per vehicle. 11% of vehicles left without passengers. Four passengers
arrived and found no vehicle available for immediate hire. None waited longer
than two minutes, with the average passenger delay for the observations just
three seconds. People had to wait in the 15:00, 17:00 and 19:00 hours.

|
pages cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Passenger flows were between 16 and 24 in all hours from the 14:00 to the
19:00, then fell to 10, 11 and 9 before the rank saw no further passengers
from the 23:00 hour on. There were a few vehicles which paused briefly at the
rank in later hours.

The typical waits of vehicles for passengers were between three and six
minutes, although occasionally longer. Vehicle waits were up to 23 minutes.

Friday observations, April

The full 24-hours of observations on the Friday saw a total of 228 passengers
leave in 173 departures, again a low occupancy of 1.3 per vehicle. A lower 7%
left without passengers. Ten passengers had to wait for a vehicle to arrive,
with the longest waiting nine minutes, with all others waiting three minutes or
less. Overall, the average passenger wait was ten seconds. People waited in
the 12:00, 14:00, 15:00 and 17:00 hours.

Passenger flows did not start till the 09:00 hour, when there was just one
passenger. Flows then rose to 2, 6 and 12. They were then between 15 and
27 in every hour from the 13:00 until the 20:00. The peak hour was 17:00.
After this, flows varied, with 9, 29, 13, one, five and one in the following hours.
There were no passengers or vehicles in the 03:00, 05:00 or 06:00 hours, but
one passenger and vehicle in the 04:00 hour.

Vehicle waits were generally three to seven minutes, although there were
some longer waits early in the day when it was quieter.

Saturday observations, April

The full 24-hours of the Saturday saw a marginally higher 270 people leave
the rank in 159 vehicles, a moderate and much higher average occupancy of
1.7 per vehicle.

27 people had to wait for a vehicle to arrive. Two waited up to 14 minutes
although all others waited no more than three minutes. However, there were
waits in the 11:00, 13:00, 15:00, 17:00 and then every hour from 21:00 to
the midnight hour. The average waiting time over all passengers was 18
seconds.

Flows were relatively low until the 15:00 hour, with a peak of 15 in the 11:00
hour but otherwise no more than nine in any hour. From the 15:00 hour until
flows were between 16 and 30 in all hours up to and including the 22:00 hour.
Patronage then dropped to 14, three and three with no passengers or vehicles
after the 02:00 hour.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Vehicle waits for fares tended to be between one and six minutes, with a few
hours with longer waits. However, the longest vehicle wait observed was 22
minutes.

Thursday observations, October

The October part Thursday observations saw about the same number, 124
passengers, leaving in 101 vehicles, a marginally very low occupancy of just
1.2 per vehicle. Just 7% left without passengers.

Eleven people, more than in the April, arrived when there was no vehicle
available. The longest wait was five minutes, with most being two to three
minutes. Waits were in the 14:00, 15:00, 16:00, 18:00 and 23:00 hours, with
overall average passenger delay just 15 seconds.

Flows were between 12 and 24 in the hours from the 14:00 hour until the
19:00 hour. They were then just two to seven in the next four hours, with no
flows of either passengers or vehicles in the hours after midnight. This is
consistent with the rank mainly servicing a shopping street.

Vehicle wait times at this rank were generally three to five minutes when the
rank was busy, but around 20 to 25 minutes in the quieter periods. Two
vehicles were observed waiting up to 38 minutes for fares.

Friday observations, October

On the Friday, total flows were about 14% down on those in April. Average
occupancy departing was low at 1.4 but slightly more than in April. The same
value of 7% of vehicles left without passengers.

Twelve passengers had to wait for a vehicle to arrive. The worst waits were in
the 13:00 hour when one person had to wait 11 minutes, and the average wait
over the hour for all passengers in that hour was nearly 1.5 minutes. Other
passengers waited in the 14:00, 15:00 and 23:00 hours, but none for more
than three minutes. Over the full 24-hours and all passengers, the average
passenger delay was 14 seconds.

Flows of passengers did not begin until the 09:00 hour, with between two and
eight people in each of the next four hours. Flows then rose to between 10 and
28 up to and including the 23:00 hour. Peak flow was in the 14:00 hour.

Vehicle waits on this day for fares were three to nine minutes in the busiest
hours but longer otherwise.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Saturday observations, October

The Saturday flows were a very similar total to those in April, with 265 people
leaving in 150 hackney carriage departures, a high occupancy of 1.8 per
vehicle. 8% of vehicles left without fares, and 18 people arrived when there
was no vehicle immediately available for hire.

The waiting passengers occurred in all four hours from the 15:00 to the 18:00,
22:00, 23:00 and the 03:00. The longest wait was eight minutes, but most
waited no more than three minutes, with the bulk waiting just a minute. Over
the full day, the average passenger delay was just ten seconds.

Passenger numbers again did not begin till the 09:00 hour, and were only two
or three in the next two hours. The next four hours saw between 10 and 16 in
each hour, then rising to between 23 and 38 in the next five hours, with the
peak in the 17:00 hour. Flows were then five, 19, 10, 2 and zero from the
01:00 hour onwards. There were some vehicles pausing here in the quiet hours
and a solitary passenger in the 07:00 hour on the Sunday morning.

Vehicle waits for fares tended to be six to 13 minutes, but longer in quiet hours.

Summary
This rank sees fair service, and is mainly operative in the daytime, although
with more usage later on the Saturday night, although less so in October.

Merrion Street

The Merrion Street rank has six spaces and originally formally operated from
19:00 until 07:00, but is now a 24-hour rank. It is near a former night club,
currently closed, but also on the loop road around the city centre and near the
Santander bank offices. It is in a layby and entry is from the passenger side of
the road. In similar manner to the Pryzm rank, entry from the driver side would
be dangerous given the fast passing traffic. The location was observed from
14:00 on Thursday 27t April, 2017 until 20:59 on Friday 28t April 2017. It
was then observed from 23:00 on Saturday 29t April until 05:59 the next
morning. It is one of the station feeder ranks. In October we covered the
location for the full survey period from 14:00 on Thursday 19t October until
06:59 in the early hours of Sunday 22" October 2017.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Thursday observations

This rank saw some 67 persons leave in 53 vehicles, at a low occupancy of 1.3
per vehicle. However, a very high 79% of vehicles left the rank without
passengers, many of which would be proceeding to the station rank as this is
one of the feeders in the system providing vehicles to the station. No passenger
ever arrived to find a vehicle not available for immediate hire. This is partly a
result of the rank being a waiting rank for the station as this provides a regular
supply of vehicles here which would not otherwise see anywhere near sufficient
levels of demand to justify waiting here.

This is demonstrated by the passenger demand level being between one and
five per hour over all observed hours apart from those from 20:00 up to and
including the 23:00 hour, when flows were between eight and 14, with the
peak in the 23:00 hour. The area saw no passengers in the 04:00 or 05:00
hours but otherwise there were always vehicles and passengers, albeit at a
relatively low level. The level of vehicle departures, however, from the 14:00
to the 23:00 hours was never less than 13, and in the 18:00 hour up to 41.

Wait times for fares are generally six to 12 minutes, but occasionally longer,
and more so in the very quiet hours. However, vehicle waits before departing
are often lower given that vehicles move off to the station rank.

Friday observations

The Friday saw less passengers, just 51, leaving in 38 vehicles, still the same
low occupancy per vehicle of 1.3. The level of empty vehicle departures was
higher at 84%.

On this day, despite the lower flows, there were nine people arriving when
there were no vehicles available for immediate hire. There were two people
who waited up to three minutes in the 14:00 hour. The worst waiting was in
the 20:00 hour when seven people waited, the longest being a wait of 34
minutes, with the average passenger delay at this site on this set of
observations being over two minutes. The queues occurred with the peak of
19 passengers arriving, compared to otherwise levels no higher than eight.

Passenger flows on this day were more sporadic, with no passengers in the
07:00, 08:00, 11:00 or 12:00 hours, and no more than five in other hours
right up to the 18:00 hour. There were eight in the 19:00 hour and 19 in the
last hour observed, the 20:00 hour.

As per the previous day, vehicle waits were generally low, with many vehicles
moving on with shorter average waits than those that waited for fares in some
cases. After 16:00 there were always 18 or more vehicles passing through in
any hour, often many more (the peak was 34).

|
pagess cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Saturday observations

The Saturday was observed from 23:00 through to the early hours of Sunday
morning. This was a very busy period for this rank, with some 385 passengers
leaving in 315 vehicles, a very low occupancy of 1.2 per vehicle. There were
just three passengers who arrived when no vehicle was available for immediate
hire; none waited more than a minute.

Passenger flows began at 64 and rose to a peak of 94 in the 01:00 hour. They
then dropped back to 77, 30, 27 and finally two in the 05:00 hour when the
area became quiet. During this period the rank was principally operating as a
rank rather than a feeder, with just 6% of arriving vehicles leaving without
passengers.

Most vehicles only waited one to seven minutes for a fare, with very few long
waits by vehicles recorded.

Thursday observations, October

The October part Thursday saw a marginally higher number of passengers, 67,
with a slightly lower occupancy of 1.3 per vehicle. A very similar 79% left
without any passengers. Just two people has to wait just a minute for a vehicle
to arrive. The resulting overall average passenger delay was just three
seconds.

Passenger flows ranged from none up to a maximum of 15 in the 22:00 hour.
20:00 and midnight were the only other two hours with 10 passengers. There
were no vehicles or passengers in the 04:00, 05:00 or 06:00 hours.

Daytime vehicle wait times for fares were between five and 20 minutes, but
much longer from midnight onwards. In the daytime vehicles tended to wait
up to 30 minutes maximum, but the early hours saw many waiting over an
hour.

Friday observations, October

The full 24-hours in October on the Friday saw some 277 passengers leave the
rank in 178 vehicles, a moderate occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. 57% left
without taking passengers. Just three people arrived and had to wait just a
minute for a vehicle to arrive, with the average passenger delay just a second.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Considering the same time period as in April, flows here were lower by nearly
a third. However, main flows occurred from 21:00 onwards at this location.
Passenger flows were zero until the 16:00 hour apart from there being one
person in the 10:00 and two in the 12:00 hours. There were 10 in the 16:00
hour, followed by five, three and one. From 20:00 onwards more used this
location, rising from 13 in the 20:00 hour to the peak of 50 in the midnight
hour, with 48 in the following hour. Flows then fell till there were no passengers
in the 05:00 or 06:00 hours.

Vehicle waits were moderate, five to 25 minutes, relating to the use of this
rank to feed the station.

Saturday observations, October

Saturday flows saw a much higher 675 people leave in 436 vehicles, a
moderate occupancy of 1.5 per vehicle. A lower 28% left the rank without
passengers.

Four people, shared between the 15:00 and 20:00 hours waited a minute each
for a vehicle to arrive. However, there was a much higher shortage of vehicles
compared to passengers in the midnight hour. 7 people waited more than 11
minutes, with the longest wait 14 minutes. 9 waited between six and ten
minutes with 39 waiting up to five minutes. Average waiting time in that hour
shared over the total travelling in that hour was over two minutes. However
the 24-hour overall average passenger delay was jut 25 seconds.

There were about a third more passengers at this location comparing like hours
to those in April. Similarly to other days, there were no flows in the 07:00,
08:00 or 09:00 hours, with no more than six in any hour up to the 16:00 hour.
Flows then rose to 12, six, and then increased from 18 in every hour up to and
including the peak flow of 120 in the 01:00 hour. Flows then reduced with 38
in the 04:00 hour, and just one in the 05:00 hour. It was the busiest hour that
saw most queues.

Vehicle waits for fares tended to be fairly short. Longest vehicle waits were
also short, with none more than 38 minutes, and usually much less. This again
relates to the use of the rank to feed the station demand.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Summary

Service to this rank is generally very good. It demonstrates the value of the
station feeder system, although there is still need for care that peoples’
expectations of finding a vehicle can be met when there is high demand at the
station and the feeders could be ignored. However, there can be occasional
peaks that may catch the supply out and lead to relatively higher levels of
passenger waiting.

Leeds University

Cavendish Road forms a loop off Woodhouse Lane near to the main entrance
to Leeds University, with a grassed area between the loop and the main road.
The rank has five spaces and operates 24-hours and is directly outside the
University exit, as well as being near several other pedestrian routes out of
various parts of the Campus. In the previous survey, and in formal listings,
this location is counted as an out of city rank although in reality it is now part
of the extended city centre area. The rank was observed from 14:00 on
Thursday 27t April 2017 until 06:59 in the early hours of Saturday 29t April
2017. In October we covered the location for the full survey period from 14:00
on Thursday 19t October until 06:59 in the early hours of Sunday 22"d October
2017.

It is mainly understood to be active during tuition hours of the University.
There are little other active land uses nearby.

Thursday observations, April

On the Thursday, this rank saw 97 passengers leave in 81 vehicles, a very low
occupancy of 1.2 per vehicle. One passenger had to wait five minutes for a
vehicle in the 17:00 hour, but the average delay was just three seconds shared
over all using the rank in this observation period. 13% of arriving vehicles left
without passengers.

Passenger flows were between 10 and 23 in each of the hours from the 14:00
through to the 18:00, with the peak at 16:00. The last three hours with both
passengers and vehicles, the 19:00 to the 21:00 hours, saw 6, 4 and 2 people
respectively. One vehicle waited at the rank for eight minutes in the midnight
hour, otherwise the remaining hours saw no passengers or vehicles.

Vehicle wait times for fares were between a minute and 11 minutes.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Friday observations, April

The 24 hours of observations starting on the Friday morning at 07:00 saw a
total of 159 passengers leave the rank in some 115 vehicles, a higher
occupancy than on the Thursday, but still at a low overall level of 1.4 people
per vehicle. There were a much higher, 42% of vehicles which left without
passengers.

During this day, 23 people arrived when vehicles were not immediately
available for them to hire. In most cases, the waits were one, two or three
minutes, or in one case five minutes, but the 23:00 hour did see a wait of up
to 26 minutes, with seven people waiting more than 11 minutes. The average
wait time for passengers in this hour was over five minutes. However, when
shared over all passengers, the average passenger delay was just under 1.5
minutes.

Passenger flows did not start until the 10:00 hour. Flows were then between
three and eight in all hours apart from the 15:00, 16:00, 17:00 and the 22:00,
23:00 and midnight hours. The afternoon peak saw either 13 or 14 passengers
in each of those three hours. The late night peak took flows to 18, the peak of
32, and then just 11. There were no passengers or vehicles in the 05:00 or
06:00 hours.

Vehicle wait times for fares varied from two to 25 minutes, although the longer
waits only occurred in two hours (12:00 and 14:00).

Thursday observations, October

The October observations saw exactly the same number of passengers, and
the same average occupancy as in April. However, in October only 2% left
empty. Five people had to wait for vehicles to arrive, but none for more than
three minutes. Waits occurred in the 15:00 and 18:00 hours.

The rank saw between 10 and 22 passengers in the hours between 14:00 and
19:00, and four in the 20:00 hour, after which there were no passengers and
only a handful of vehicles servicing the location.

Vehicles tended to wait between one and 20 minutes for fares, with a longest
wait of 41 minutes observed in the last but one hour.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Friday observations, October

Friday flows in October were about half those in April, with just 83 passengers
leaving in 61 vehicles, a low occupancy of 1.4 per vehicle. 38% of vehicles
arriving left without passengers. Just three people arrived when there was no
vehicle immediately available for hire — none waiting more than two minutes.
The average passenger delay resulting was just five seconds.

Flows were just two to 15 in the active hours, which ran from 10:00 to 18:00
with the peak at 16:00. However, there was also some activity, albeit with only
two to four passengers per hour, in the 01:00 to 04:00 period. 20:00 to
midnight and from 05:00 onwards saw no passengers but occasional vehicles.

Vehicle waits were two to 18 minutes although towards the end of the main
period of usage, on vehicle waited over an hour to take a fare. Other than this,
the longest observed wait was 33 minutes.

Saturday observations, October

The Saturday saw jut 18 passengers in the 24-hour period, leaving in 13
vehicles with an average occupancy of 1.9. Just 6% of vehicles left without
fares, and no-one ever arrived when no vehicle was available.

There were no passenger flows until 16:00, and none in the 01:00 hour or
afterwards. Most flows were one, two or three passengers, with a peak of seven
in the 17:00 hour. Vehicle waits were one to eight minutes, but lower in the
hours with less passengers, possibly suggesting hailing or bookings.

Summary

Service to this location is good. The generally low level of demand, however,
can mean that vehicles do not always anticipate peaks, which can lead to
issues for passengers at times. The demand is mainly related to the academic
day, although there is some demand in the early hours of Saturday morning.

Headrow

This is a long, 24 hour rank, sometimes known as Headrow North. It has some
16 spaces and is outside the Sports Direct shop at the eastern end of The
Headrow. Vehicles load from the passenger side, although there is traffic on
the driver side, this can tend to be more slower moving than in other parts.
This rank was observed from 14:00 on Thursday 27% April 2017 through to
Sunday 30% April 2017 at 05:59.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Thursday observations, April

On this day, during observed hours, 61 passengers left the rank in 48 vehicles,
a low occupancy of 1.3 per vehicle. A very high 78% left the rank without
passengers, again since this rank does feed vehicles to the station rank. During
the observations no passenger ever arrived to find no vehicle available for
immediate hire.

Passenger flows were generally just three to 10 people in any hour, with a
peak flow of 15 in the 22:00 hour. There were vehicles in the following two
hours, but no passengers, and neither passenger nor vehicles in the hours
from the 01:00 through to the 06:00. Vehicle waits for fares tended to be five
to 17 minutes. In active hours there were never less than 18 vehicles passing
through per hour.

Friday observations, April

Our Friday observations covered a full 24-hour period. During this time 122
people left the rank in 85 hours, a low average of 1.4 persons per vehicle. A
further 73% of those vehicles arriving here left without passengers,
presumably moving to the station rank.

During the day, 14 people arrived when no vehicle was available for immediate
hire. The worst wait was six minutes in the midnight hour. Other hours saw
waits but not more than three minutes - in the 08:00, 15:00 and 21:00 hours,
though the worst waiting overall was in the last active hour, the midnight hour.
For those waiting in this hour, the average passenger delay was nearly five
minutes, but shared over the full observation set, this reduced to just over half
a minute.

Passenger flows here were again very low, between two and 14 in any hour,
with most towards the lower end. The peak flow was 14 people in the 21:00
hour. Before the 16:00 hour, flows were usually nine or less. There were no
passengers or vehicles in the 07:00 hour, nor in any hour from the 01:00
onwards. Interestingly, there were no passengers in the 23:00 hour, which
may have contributed to the waiting issue in the next hour as the passengers
in the midnight hour may not have been expected in the normal course of
events.

Vehicle wait times for fares tended to be low, up to 18 minutes and generally
more like three minutes. Most hours saw at least 12 vehicles passing through
the rank, and in the peak flows, this rose to 32.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Saturday observations, April

The Saturday saw 23 hours of observations undertaken. The total flow was
slightly higher than on the Friday, with 140 people leaving the rank in 85
vehicles, a moderate occupancy of 1.6 which was higher than on any other
observed day. The proportion of vehicles leaving the rank without a passenger
reduced to 60%.

During this day, 20 people arrived to find no vehicle available for immediate
hire. The worst wait was 12 minutes, in the 14:00 hour. There was an eight
minute wait in the 23:00 hour, but all other waits tended to be no more than
two minutes or less. Over the full day, the average passenger delay was 37
seconds.

Passenger flows were between one and 25, with the peak in the 23:00 hour.
Flows were generally 12 or more in all but one hour from the 15:00 up to the
23:00 hour. However, there were no vehicles or passengers in the 07:00,
08:00, 12:00 nor any hour from the 02:00 onwards. There were vehicles, but
no passengers, in the 11:00 and 13:00 hours.

Vehicle waits for fares tended to be up to eight minutes, although quite a few
hours saw shorter waits.

Summary

Overall service to this rank is good. Again, it is clearly servicing the station
rank, and again providing service to flows which may not otherwise see direct
supply of vehicles due to their low nature, and sometimes sporadic nature.

Grand Theatre

New Briggate has several sections of rank, some 24-hour and some operating
part time. The part time (19:00 to 07:00) section lies between the two 24-
hour sections to form a more continuous rank at night at this point. The loading
for all ranks, however, is on the drive side given the one way nature of this
road at this point. This could make driver side loading dangerous, and any
need for the driver to assist passengers may also be difficult. The rank here
was observed from 23:00 until 05:59 on both Friday 28% April 2017 and
Saturday 29t April 2017.

Friday observations, April

On the Friday evening into the early hours of Saturday, 94 passengers left the
rank in 70 vehicles, a low occupancy of 1.3 per vehicle. Just 10% of vehicles
left without passengers. No passenger ever arrived to find no vehicle available
for immediate hire.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Passenger flows ranged from nine to 22, with the peak in the 01:00 hour.
Flows halved between the 03:00 and 04:00 hours and then the area became
quiet with no passengers or vehicles observed in the 05:00 hour. Vehicle wait
times for fares were longer than in other places, between 11 and 18 minutes.
One vehicle was observed to wait up to 41 minutes for a fare.

Saturday observations, April

Observations through into the early hours of Sunday morning saw around the
same number of passengers as the previous night, 90. Occupancy, given that
they left in 56 vehicles, was however higher, but still at a moderate level, of
1.6 per vehicle.

Flows showed a higher range, between six and 26, with the peak in the first
observed hour, 23:00. Again, there were no passengers in the 05:00 hour, but
one vehicle was observed. Vehicle waits for passengers were markedly lower,
between one and eight minutes, but the empty departure proportion was
slightly higher at 15%.

During these observations, nine passengers arrived when there was no vehicle
available for immediate hire - but none waited more than three minutes, and
the average over the set of observations was 17 seconds.

Summary
Service to this rank is good.

North Lane, Headingley

North Lane rank is located on the northern side of the B6157, North Lane in
Headingly, North Leeds, immediately outside the Sainsbury’s Local store. It
has partly faded road markings and signing with notes it is for two vehicles
and that it operates at all times. The two spaces south of the rank are for a
car club, but it can be abused by vehicles delivering to the many shops in this
area.

This rank was chosen as part of the pre-appointment control ranks to be
observed to identify temporal differences in demand. It would have been
covered in February, April, August, October and December. With the revised
plan following receipt of the full April survey data, the location will now be
observed in February, April and October. It is the out of town location included
in the survey to act as a proxy for other out of town locations.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

This location was observed in February from 23:00 on Friday 24t February
2017 until 06:59 in the early hours of Sunday 26t February, 2017, then in
April from 10:00 on Saturday 29% April 2017 until 00:59 on the Sunday
morning (partly revised based on the observations from February).

Friday observations, February

In the February, we observed 34 passengers leaving in 21 vehicles, a moderate
occupancy of 1.6 per vehicle. Three other vehicles left without passengers,
13% of the total. The rank was only used in the 23:00, midnight and 01:00
hours, with seven people arriving without a vehicle to immediately board in
the first hour observed. The longest wait however was just two minutes, and
the average passenger delay for the site was 26 seconds during these
observations. Vehicles waited one to six minutes for fares, and passenger
numbers were 18 in the 23:00 hour, then 14 and then just two, with none in
any other observed hours.

Saturday observations, February

During the longer observations, 64 people used the rank, leaving in 36
vehicles, a high average occupancy of 1.8 per vehicle. A further 17, or nearly
a third of other vehicles arriving here, left without passengers. No passenger
arrived without a vehicle being available for immediate hire.

Passengers were seen in the 15:00 hour (one), and then in every hour from
18:00 until the 01:00 hour. In this time, flows varied between one and five,
apart from for the three hours of 22:00, 23:00 and midnight where numbers
rose to 14, 15 and 22, marginally higher and longer in extent than on the
Friday night. While most vehicles tended to wait very short times, perhaps
suggesting some bookings picking up at the rank, there were others that
waited up to eight minutes for a fare.

Saturday observations, April

Observations here were revised given the results from February. Just the main
part of the day and late night were covered on the Saturday, found to be the
busiest day. During these observations, 68 passengers left the rank in 29
vehicles, a relatively high occupancy of 2.3 per vehicle. A further seven
vehicles, just under a fifth, left without passengers.

During these observations, 13 passengers arrived when no vehicle was
available for immediate hire, although the longest wait here was just three
minutes. For this day of observations, the average passenger delay was 22
seconds (very similar to that in February). People had to wait in the four main
hours when there were passengers.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

There was also one passenger in the 18:00 hour, but the main flows were in
the 20:00 to midnight hours. Flows were five, 14, eight, the peak of 38 and
then just two in these hours. Vehicles tended to wait between two and six
minutes for fares to arrive.

Summary

This suburban rank sees principal usage around the time that pubs are closing,
with only occasional activity at other times. The Saturday was busiest, with
very similar levels of flow between the February and April Saturday nights,
although the April night saw passengers spread over a shorter period, though
the main focus remained around pub closing times. There may be an element
of service from bookings although it is also clear vehicles are waiting her for
custom, and service is good.

Revolution Bar

Cookridge Street has two ranks. The 24-hour one is immediately north of the
junction with The Headrow but tends to mainly be used at night, and perhaps
less often. The Revolution Bar rank is at the northern end of the Street and
where traffic has to turn sharp right to continue along Rossington Street. At
this point the road is one way, northbound.

The rank is located on the western side of Cookridge Street giving passenger
side loading into vehicles. There is a very clear sign showing the rank location
and operating hours (19:00 to 07:00) but given it is a part time rank,
carriageway markings are very poor and appear to easily wear off. This rank
was observed from 23:00 on Friday 28t April 2017 until 05:59 in the early
hours of Saturday morning. Observations were repeated on the Saturday night
covering the same period.

Friday observations, April

The rank saw 58 people leave in 28 vehicles, a relatively high occupancy of
2.1 per vehicle. 28% of vehicles left without passengers, but there were also
eight passengers who had to wait for vehicles to arrive. There were waits of
up to 25 and 28 minutes recorded, with the average passenger delay for the
observations being nearly three minutes.

Passenger flows were not high — ranging from a minimum of eight up to a peak
of 21 in the 02:00 hour. The flows were concentrated in the four hours from
23:00 onwards, with no passengers or vehicles in the 03:00 or 04:00 hours,
and just one vehicle but no passengers in the 04:00 hour. Interestingly, vehicle
waiting times for fares also tended to be quite high, between six and 28
minutes suggesting possible over-reaction to the preceding passenger delays,
or perhaps expectations of fares.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Saturday observations, April

The Saturday saw higher flows, with 69 people leaving in 32 vehicles, a slightly
higher average occupancy of 2.2. Again there were eight passengers who had
to wait for a vehicle to arrive, but in this set of observations the maximum wait
was just a minute and the average over all passengers just nine seconds. About
the same proportion of vehicles left without passengers, 26%.

Passenger flows covered a longer period, starting in the 23:00 hour and
running to the 04:00 hour, with only the 05:00 not seeing passengers or
vehicles. Peak hour was shared between 01:00 and 03:00 both with 18 people
in each hour. Midnight saw just two passengers, and 04:00 six, but most other
hours saw between 11 and 18.

Vehicle waits for fares varied from next to no wait up to just over seven
minutes, but not dependent on levels of departures.

Summary
Service at this rank is good.

Baracoa

Call Lane had a spell when it was closed on busy nights between The Calls and
Boar Lane. This new rank, with about three spaces, operates from 23:30 until
05:00 and is located on the north side just to the west of the section of Call
Lane which is closed. Loading would be from the driver side of the vehicle. It
is understood that with the main Call Lane section closed, vehicles are allowed
to wait along the closed off junction along into The Calls to feed the main rank.
The location was observed from 23:00 until 05:59 on both Friday 28t and
Saturday 29t April 2017.

Friday observations, April

The observed period from Friday night through to Saturday morning saw 43
passengers leave in 31 vehicles, a low occupancy of 1.4 per vehicle. Some
37% of vehicles left without passengers, but no-one arrived when there was
no vehicle available for immediate hire.

Flows were very light in the 23:00, midnight, 03:00 and 04:00 hours (between
one and five), and were just 16 in each of the main used hours of 01:00 and
02:00. There were no passengers in the 05:00 hour, but several vehicles did
wait. The average vehicle wait time varied from a minute up to eight minutes.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Saturday observations, April

The following night / early morning saw nearly half as many passengers again
as the Friday night, some 64, leaving in 43 vehicles, a moderate occupancy of
1.5 per vehicle, but not much different to the Friday overall. A lower level of
20% of vehicles left without passengers.

Passenger flows were slightly more concentrated, with no passengers in either
23:00 or 05:00 hours, and a slightly higher peak of 21 in the 01:00 hour.
There were less hours with under five passengers - in fact just the 04:00 hour,
with all other hours active seeing at least 10 people. Average vehicle waits for
fares were less, from a minute up to six minutes.

Summary
Overall, service to this rank is excellent. This is despite relatively low overall
flow levels.

Slug and Lettuce, informal

Park Row runs north from the main exit from Leeds Station towards The
Headrow. It is an important area for pubs and restaurants, and also has many
similar streets leading off it, including Greek Street. It is understood that, being
a main artery for traffic, a lot of licensed vehicles tend to arrange to collect
passengers near to the Slug and Lettuce. Operations here were observed from
23:00 on Friday 28™ April 2017 until 05:59 the next morning and similarly
from Saturday 29t April 2017 23:00 till 05:59 on the Sunday morning of 30t
April 2017. Given the closure of the Greek Street rank for building work (and
then its expected extinction with the finalized new road layout there), this site
may become more important for pick-ups in the future.

Friday observations, April

During the Friday/Saturday observations, 24 hackney carriages were seen
picking up 32 passengers, a low occupancy of 1.3 per vehicle, with 44% of
hackney carriages leaving the area without passengers. There were no
observed passenger waits. Vehicles did tend to pause here for an average of
around four minutes before they obtained fares, suggesting the location is
being used as a rank. Passenger flows were 18 in the 23:00 hour, 13 in the
midnight hour and just one in the 02:00 hour. There were seven vehicles who
waited an average of three minutes each in the 01:00 hour, but no passengers.
There was no activity in the hour from the 03:00 hour onwards.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Saturday observations, April

The Saturday night / Sunday morning saw about a third more passenger
departures, covering four hours. The peak was at midnight, with 19 people.
Overall, 43 people left in 33 hackney carriages, a similar and low occupancy of
1.3 per vehicle. A much lower 18% of vehicles passing through left without
taking passengers. However, average wait times for fares were much less, no
more than two minutes, suggesting more usage of hailing than on the previous
night.

Summary

This location clearly shows some demand for hackney carriages which would
preferably see a rank established here to formalize the arrangements -
particularly with the loss of Greek Street. It may also release other currently
marked rank spaces which are not used for other kerbside uses.

Wormald Row, informal

Wormald Row is a small access road running eastwards from Albion Street,
and in towards the St John’s Shopping centre (which also feeds out on to
Dortmund Square). Given the location, we were advised this was a key
location, where licensed vehicles might often arrange to meet passengers, or
might wait expecting bookings. Operations here were observed from 23:00
until 05:59 on both Friday 28% and Saturday 29t April 2017. It is possible this
could be felt to be a latent demand location, perhaps serviced by private hire
due to the lack of hackney carriages.

Friday observations, April

The Friday evening / Saturday morning observations saw just two hackney
carriages pausing here for just under a minute each, not gaining any
passengers.

Saturday observations, April

On the Saturday evening / Sunday morning, there was more activity with four
hackney carriages pausing here, one for nearly three minutes, but none gained
any passengers.

Summaries

Considering the summaries provided for each rank, from those locations
sampled, there is one (night) location with excellent service, three locations
with very good service, six with good and just three with only fair service, at
least one of which has relatively high overall flows, but spread over long
periods meaning there is often quite low demand that is more susceptible to
people arriving and finding no vehicle there (Bus station).

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Other locations

We are aware from plans and walk-rounds that both central Leeds and the
suburbs do have many other ranks in existence. Some have faded markings
or signing, but others remain clearly marked. Others have changed operating
hours or seen the reason they existed cease. Other places have opened that
would possibly benefit from ranks. This is entirely normal for a vibrant city but
potentially needs more documentation and review than currently occurs.

Appendix 2 seeks to provide some element of documentation but has only
partly been tied up to current traffic orders due to the time that would be
required for a full review.

We believe that our review, whilst not covering all hackney carriage observed
demands at every rank, has captured all significantly active location, with the
specific view of covering any which may give rise to passenger unmet demand,
a necessary focus for this study. Further thoughts about this are provided in
the synthesis chapter.

Greek Street

During one of our walk-rounds, we asked at a nearby restaurant about the
rank here, which was clearly obstructed by building works. The person in the
restaurant said this rank was regularly used but could not be at that time. They
also confirmed their customers did use this rank (see key stakeholder
comments below). We now understand this location has been deleted from
formal provision and is unlikely to be returned to availability as a rank.

Other usage of rank locations

Our rank review also identified all vehicles at or near the rank locations. In
total, just under 14,800 vehicle movements were observed. Of these, 63%
were local Leeds hackney carriages. 18% were private hire vehicles, 13%
private cars, 5% emergency vehicles and 1% goods vehicles. Some out of town
licensed vehicles were noted, but they were a very small proportion, well less
than 1% (20 movements in total).

There was a wide range of variation in terms of levels of abuse. The station
rank was hardly abused at all, with just a handful of delivery vehicles and a
very small number of private cars observed. Most of the emergency vehicles
at or near ranks were at the Dortmund Square rank, which is near a major
shopping centre which has very few vehicular accesses.

The Wormald Row location was host to some 348 observations during our

survey of private hire vehicles picking up or setting down, or waiting. There
were also a relatively smaller number of private cars using this location.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

The Slug and Lettuce similarly saw just under 300 private hire, but this did
compare to some 170 hackney carriages. To set this in context, over the course
of the observations at the Slug and Lettuce, hackney carriages picked up 75
passengers during the period that private hire were observed to collect 103,
albeit the latter in a lot more vehicle movements, many of which therefore
were speculative or empty.

The Baracoa location also saw a high proportion of private hire abuse - about
four times the level of hackney carriage usage. Headingley saw about three
times as many private hire as hackney carriages at or near the rank.

Merrion Street was the worst location for delivery vehicles with nearly 50
observed there during our survey. The bus station saw a modest 27 such
vehicles, and the Headrow 19.

Disability use of ranks

The proportion of hackney carriage vehicles believed to be wheelchair
accessible (WAV) style in the observations for April was 49% WAV. This is very
similar to the 50% proportion believed to be within the current fleet,
suggesting no difference in usage of saloon against wheelchair accessible
vehicles.

In terms of passengers, a total of seven people were seen accessing hackney
carriages at ranks in wheel chairs. Three were at the station, two at the bus
station and one each at Dortmund Square and at the Headrow.

There were a further 25 people observed to be disabled in some way, but not
in a wheel chair. 9 of these were at the bus station rank, six at Dortmund
Square, four each at the Headrow and Station, and one each at Pryzm and the
Leeds University rank.

Levels of hackney carriage vehicle activity

A review was undertaken during the period the rank observations were being
undertaken of plates active at or near three key locations (the station, the bus
station and Woodhouse Lane). Ten hours were observed from early afternoon
to early morning on the Saturday.

During the February period, 558 records were obtained of active Leeds
hackney carriages. These represented 52% of the available fleet during the
time observed. This suggests reasonable spare capacity available were higher
demand to occur. It also suggests no attempt of vehicles to play up to the
survey being undertaken.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

The April activity observations identified 497 records for active Leeds hackney
carriages. These vehicle movements represented 51% of the available fleet, a
very similar level to that observed in the February for a similar sample and
confirming the apparent stability of the current operation.

The October activity observations identified 645 records over the same period,
with a further 66 covering a later set of observations at the Woodhouse Lane
location. For the same set of information, this suggests 61% of plates active,
a higher level than either previous set of observations. The additional
observations increased the proportion of plates seen to 65% of the fleet. This
was checked with a trade representative who suggested that the October and
November period did tend to be one where less vehicles saw drivers on holiday
or taking other breaks, or working less hours. Usually, this matched higher
demand levels with the full student population most active in these two
months.

The largest volume of vehicle observations and the highest proportion of plates
seen was in the 19:00 to 21:00 period near the station. The previous period
at the station was next highest, followed by the later period at the station,
Woodhouse Lane and finally the Bus Station rank. This pattern was true for all
three time periods, although the dominance of the 19:00 to 21:00 period at
the station was much higher (39% compared to 32%) in October, with a
corresponding reduction in the early evening period.

A review was undertaken of where and how often vehicles were observed. In
April, some 18% of the active plates observed were only seen in the station
evening observations (20% in October). 16% were only seen in the station
afternoon, 12% in the late station observations and a similar level only at
Woodhouse Lane. A further 11% were observed at the station in both
afternoon and evening periods. All other groupings of observations saw 4% or
less of the active fleet. Only very small numbers of vehicles were seen more
than in one of the sample location / times only.

In April, 42% of all plates were observed during our observation sample at the
station rank. In October, this level rose to 50% of the full plate list. This would
exclude any vehicles only working the station in the morning or early
afternoon.

In both April and October the average time a plate was seen was 1.3 times -
with very few plates seen in more than three of the different location/time
pairs. This suggests a lot of vehicles service different locations, with little focus
on just one rank. However, as already demonstrated a very high proportion

will visit the station at some point.
|
Page 75 I

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Review of other observable licensed vehicle demand

Whilst this survey is focused on identifying unmet demand for hackney
carriages and gathering of evidence to clarify if retaining a limit on vehicle
numbers remains appropriate, and if so, if it is at the right level, during the
inception process we were made aware that it was possible to observe levels
of private hire demand clearly in one location.

There was also concern from the operator of the facility that the level of private
hire demand might reflect gaps in the hackney carriage service, which may
relate to experiences of unmet demand.

A total of 33 hours were observed during the February survey of the pick-up
area for private hire vehicles located away from the hackney carriage rank at
Leeds station. This comprises a set-down area and a separate pick-up area,
also shared with private vehicles. The aim of this observation was to identify
the proportion of passengers split between hackney carriage and private hire,
with the latter split as far as possible by local private hire and vehicles from
further away. Comparison of the observations could also show if there were
any periods where private hire were clearly providing for any observed gaps in
hackney carriage provision.

The overall results from this survey compared total passenger pick-ups from
the main rank and the rear pick-up point by vehicle. During the periods
observed, 66% of all passengers departed in hackney carriages from the rank.
16% of passenger departures were in private cars, 12% were in private hire
vehicles that were clearly Leeds operators and 5% were in app-based private
hire vehicles. 1% of the departures were in hackney carriages but from the
rear pick-up area, presumably booked hackney carriages.

When considering only the rear pick-up area, 47% of passenger departures
from there were in private cars, 35% in Leeds private hire vehicles, 3% in
Leeds hackney carriages and 16% in app-based private hire vehicles.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

4 General public views

It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about
the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which
these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting
for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent
demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify
the overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles
within the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues
and factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more.

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed
vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential
demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have
places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney
carriages waiting at ranks.

These surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more
people are available, and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further,
interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption
may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in
speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher
demand and then more likely unmet demand. Where possible, extension of
interviews to the early evening may capture some of this group, as well as
some studies where careful choice of night samples can be undertaken.

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable
responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this
ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and
consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a
trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented
by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (eg of students,
or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only
be indicative taken alone.

It is normal practice to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the
latest available local and national census proportions to identify if the sample
has become biased in any way.

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council
citizens’ panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot
be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding
cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have
chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have
stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey _

Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the
questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond,
although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as
people choosing to take part may have a vested interest.

For this survey, we undertook a set of central area on-street interviews in mid
March 2017, obtaining 200 responses. Full details of results are in Appendix 5.

Of those interviewed, 49% said they had used a licensed vehicle in the Leeds
area in the last three months. In the previous survey, this level was 60%, a
little higher. 88% of all respondents then told us how frequently they used
licensed vehicles. Of these, the largest proportion, some 49% said less than
once a month, with the next highest level of usage a few times a month (23%).

The question was used to estimate the average number of trips per person per
month by licensed vehicle, providing an estimate of 1.9 trips per person per
month. The similar question later, but specifically asking about hackney
carriage usage (having explained to the person what a hackney carriage was),
reduced to 0.2 trips, around 11% of the total. Interestingly, this proportion
exactly matches the proportion the hackney carriage fleet is of the total
licensed vehicle fleet in Leeds. It is marginally less than the level saying they
used ranks (see below).

People were asked their normal method of getting a licensed vehicle. 44% said
mobile or smart phone, 26% said they used an app, 15% said they used ranks,
12% a phone, 2% freephone and 1% hailed. This is different to the previous
survey ten years or so ago, when 51% said they got licensed vehicles from
ranks and 12% hailed. Phone was 37%, but not split down further (this is now
84%).

Four specific ‘apps’ were named, with the largest taking 88% of the mentions.
The other three only obtained one or two responses each.

96% of those responding (most of those interviewed) said they did not need,
nor knew anyone who needed an adapted vehicle. Of those saying they knew
someone needing such a vehicle, 75% said need for a WAV and 25% for
another type of adaptation, though this response was only between seven
people.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

44% of those interviewed had regular access to a car. 81% were from the
Leeds area. 38% were male (much lower than the census estimate of 49%),
59% were under 30 (compared to census 29%), 26% were the mid age group
(39%) and 15% were the older group (31%). This suggests the sample tends
towards younger females, which may increase licensed vehicle usage levels in
our responses. It is not clear why this sample was thus biased.

People were asked which companies they contacted to obtain a licensed
vehicle. There were some 153 responses made by 105 people. 9% gave three
companies and 29% two, but most gave just a single company name - 62%
of respondents to this question, which suggests a high level of satisfaction with
their main choice.

In terms of companies, the top company obtained 31% of the total mentions,
the second 23%, the third 19%, the fourth 14% and the fifth 5%. No other
company obtained more than 2% of the mentions, with seven companies only
mentioned once each. A total of 15 companies received any mention. Three of
the top five mentioned were also those people named as having ‘apps’ which
they used.

Questions then focused on peoples’ direct views about hackney carriages. Of
those responding, 83% said they could not remember the last time they used
a hackney carriage. This is again fairly consistent with the 11-15% usage of
hackney carriages from earlier estimates. However, a positive view was that
only one person said they could not remember seeing a hackney carriage,
meaning that hackney carriages are obvious in the area, just not used that
much in comparison to other licensed vehicles.

53 people, about a quarter of those responding, told us the ranks they used.
Of these people, 38% gave three locations and 21% gave two, with 41%, the
largest number, giving just one location. Of all the mentions, 75% of locations
were not used, with just a quarter of mentions being used. 16 locations were
mentioned, although only three had ten or more total mentions.

The top rank mentioned was the station, with 49% of responses. The Headrow
(specific place not given) received 25% and the bus station 11%. However,
when the high level of non-use is applied, only six locations are actually used,
with the rail station most used followed by Headrow. The bus station is known
about but not used by our respondents. One mention is made of an area
suggested to us to be an area where private hire tend to pick up (Albion
Street), and there were two mentions of a rank at Quarry Hill, with one of the
two saying they used it.

The overall low level of response about ranks is matched by no-one saying
they considered there was anywhere that needed a rank.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

In terms of problems with the hackney carriage service, there were only 15
overall responses, suggesting no real issue. Of these, the highest level of
response related to driver issues but no further detail was given.

People were asked if they could get a hackney carriage in Leeds when they
needed one, and in what situations. There were 132 responses. Of these 46%
were that you could get hackney carriages in the daytime, 41% at night and
13% only in Leeds city centre.

There were more responses, but only a total of 89, to the question what might
encourage people to use hackney carriages more. As is usual, the largest
response was 73% of mentions being for cheaper fares (much higher than the
44% quoted in the previous survey). The next, and only other significant
response, was 16% for better drivers, consistent with the problems question.

Just three people said they had ever given up waiting for a hackney carriage
in Leeds. Two were at the station and one in the Headrow. Given that the
station is a private location, the council based latent demand value is just
0.5%; whilst that for the station rank is 1%. Neither are significant. This is
much reduced from the estimated 11% in the previous survey.

People were asked if they thought people in Leeds that had disabilities got a
good service from hackney carriages and their drivers. 82% of those
interviewed responded. 40% said they thought people did, 1% said they did
not think people did, and 59% said they did not know.

Overall, the set of interviews suggests a general lack of interest in licensed
vehicles, and particularly hackney carriages in those we interviewed. However,
the responses do seem consistent and include several positive pointers that
there are visible and available hackney carriages although for those using
licensed vehicles, private hire appear to dominate.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

5 Key stakeholder consultation
The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the
recommendations of the BPG:

e Supermarkets

e Hotels

e Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs

e Other entertainment venues

e Restaurants

e Hospitals

e Police

e Disability representatives

e Rail operators

e Other council contacts within all relevant local councils

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall
appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases there
are very specific comments from one stakeholder but we have tried to maintain
their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the
remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the
authors of this report. Those consulted are listed in Appendix 6.

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, letter or face to face
meeting as appropriate. The list contacted includes those suggested by the
Council, those drawn from previous similar surveys, and from general internet
trawls for information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn
from across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area
and not just specific parts or areas.

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side
separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are
summarized separately in the following Chapter.

Where the statistical analyses in Chapter 2 demonstrate low levels of
wheelchair accessible vehicle (WAV) provision, an increased emphasis will be
given to the issue in terms of the focus of stakeholders but also in specific
efforts to contact disabled users and their representatives.

Supermarkets
A sample of ten supermarkets were contacted across the full Leeds City council

area. Of these, nine responded and all said that their customers used licensed
vehicles. Eight had direct free phones within the store. One of these would also
allow staff to phone if people wanted a different company. Another said that
people mainly made their own calls.

|
ot cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Four were not aware of any rank, one had provision within its car park and one
had a rank on the highway outside (this was a suburban rank). Three however
suggested the rank was a private hire company. None had received any
complaints about the service provided.

Hotels

Ten hotels were randomly chosen from across those in the Leeds City council
area. Eight replied, all saying their customers did use licensed vehicles. One
had a free phone in reception for people to use. The other seven said that staff
from reception would call for a vehicle if customers asked. Two were unaware
of nearby ranks. Three were aware of the Leeds station rank. One was aware
of a suburban rank. Three suggested private hire companies when asked about
ranks. Only two had issues, one that phoned for vehicles occasionally did not
come at their advised time, and one that vehicles would not come to the hotel
as they said people should go to the nearby railway station rank instead.

Public houses

Across the area, a sample of ten public houses were contacted. Six responded,
of which one was not sure if their customers used licensed vehicles or not. The
others all said that they did. One had a free phone provided. One said their
staff would call for vehicles if asked. Two said people usually phoned
themselves whilst another two said that people usually phoned but that they
would contact a company if customers asked.

Only one was aware of any nearby rank, whilst two gave private hire company
names as rank locations. Only one had any issue, which was that one of the
two companies they tended to use had become unreliable.

Night clubs

Ten night clubs were contacted. Four responded, one saying they did not think
customers used licensed vehicles but then said most used an app. Three said
they believed their customers did use licensed vehicles. Two said people made
their own arrangements whilst one said they thought this was the case, but
they would phone if asked.

None were aware of ranks. The only issue they had ever received complaint
about was overcharging (but this was the location who felt their customers all
used an app).

Other entertainment venues

Ten entertainment venues were contacted. Seven replied, all saying that their
customers did use licensed vehicles. One said staff would call for vehicles if
asked, three said customers usually phoned themselves whilst two said they
would phone if asked, but that customers often made their own arrangements.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

One said people either phone themselves, or used the free phone they
provided.

Four were not aware of any ranks. Two named nearby ranks whilst one named
a private hire company. None had received any complaints from their
customers about the service received.

Restaurants

A sample of ten restaurants were contacted. Four replied. One was not sure if
their customers used licensed vehicles or not. The other three said that they
did. Only one would make phone-calls to companies for customers if asked,
with the other three saying customers would phone themselves. Three were
aware of nearby ranks, but one suggested a private hire company. None had
received any complaints regarding the service provided. One restaurant, near
a rank closed for building works, said that rank had been well-used before
closure, and that their customers had made use of it when it was available.

|
et cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

Page left intentionally blank

Page 84

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

6 Trade stakeholder views

The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’.
There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this
requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is
reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in
their area.

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade
representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face
meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure
validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to
occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able
to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behavior.

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney
carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by
the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using
an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being
provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can
be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives. Some authorities
cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to operators seeking
they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle data head
communications.

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly
and measure response levels. For Leeds, most of those relating to the licensing
section do so using electronic methods. The detailed questionnaire, agreed
between ourselves and the Council, was issued by the council to all available
email contacts, plus copies were made available in reception at the Licensing
Office for people to complete and return while waiting for various matters at
the Office.

A total of 78 responses were obtained, with 56% from hackney carriage and
42% from private hire. Just one person said they drove both kinds of vehicle.
This is a response rate of 5% for hackney carriage drivers, a typical level for
this kind of survey. The private hire rate is much lower, less than half of one
percent, whilst the overall level of response, with the much higher number of
private hire dominating the calculation, is 1.3%. This is a sufficient response
from which a valid result should be obtained.

For the full set of respondees, the average length of service in the Leeds
licensed vehicle trade was some 13 years, with a maximum length of service
quoted as 43 years. This is a substantial level of expertise available across the
service provided.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

Of those responding, 47% said they worked six days, 33% five days, with no
other number of days having more than 9% of responses (both seven and four
days obtained 9% of response each). There was one person who said they
worked a single day and another who worked three days. The overall average
hours worked were 43, with a maximum quoted of 90 hours.

Of those that told us matters that affected their choice of shift, the highest
proportion, 23% said family commitments. 19% said they would avoid working
when there was heavy traffic or at rush hour. 15% said they would work at
times they knew there was most passenger demand. None suggested they
would avoid drunken, violent or abusive customers. Some said their ability to
work was restrained by not being able to have access to the vehicle they
rented.

Of those responding, 71% owned their own vehicle and just 25% said someone
else drove the vehicle they used. For those saying someone else used their
vehicles, it was clear that most shared vehicles were out working most hours,
with people saying someone else used the vehicle either day or night. In one
case, three people shared the vehicle and again it was running more or less
24/7.

In terms of working with others, 84% of the hackney carriages that gave an
answer said they worked on a radio circuit. There appeared to be three
hackney carriage circuits and one mixed fleet circuit used. Less private hire
vehicles said they worked for circuits, suggesting many work on their own
account possibly for their own company, or on contracts. Overall, 43% of those
naming a company said one of the hackney carriage companies, a further 19%
said another of these. The mixed fleet company obtained 9% of responses.
There were eight other private hire companies named most of whom obtained
just one or two quotes. This suggests the ‘phone’ element of the licensed
vehicle trade in Leeds may be dominated by hackney carriage operators.

In terms of ranks used, there was a high response, but none were really
dominant. The highest proportion of the mentions was for the railway station
rank (12%) followed by Boar Lane, Call Lane, East Parade and Headrow (not
specified which one) (all 5% each). Many other ranks were named, but each
just by at most three drivers. Out of town ranks were also named as being
used. Some places named were not clear.

The main issue with ranks was felt to be that there were too few ranks and too
few spaces at the used ranks. 15% of responses were concerned about rank
abuse by private cars.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

When asked how drivers obtained their fares, 69% of hackney carriages said
their main way was from working the ranks. 14% said from phone bookings,
10% from private contracts and 7% from hailing. All but two of the private
hire said they mainly obtained work from bookings. One was mainly a school
contract operator.

Most told us their view about the current hackney carriage limit policy. The
overall result was 69% who supported the policy and 31% who did not. We
tested the split between hackney carriage and private hire on this, and found
interestingly exactly the same split if the two parts of the trade were taken
separately. In fact, the private hire response was marginally higher than the
hackney carriage by 1%.

Despite the clear view above that most supported the continuation of the policy
limiting hackney carriage vehicle numbers, there were a vocal number
opposing the current policy - but these, as is often the case, were hackney
carriage drivers who rented a vehicle and who felt they should have their own
vehicle, a reasonable concern. There were a small number who very strongly
suggested that the limit was illegal, which is incorrect. However, their point
about their frustrations of renting were also very strongly felt.

Some said why they felt the limit benefitted the public. Of all responses, the
highest response was by 26% who said it ensured vehicles were always
available at ranks. 17% said it ensured clean, safe, well-maintained vehicles,
and a further 17% said it stopped over-ranking and congestion. 14% felt it
reduced issues over public safety of over-tired drivers. 9% felt it reduced
pollution and congestion, and 3% said it was essential to keep the level of WAV
vehicles where it was.

Overall, this driver response appears very motivated and reasonable. It
suggests a coherent view between both private hire and hackney carriage
trades regarding the limit, and also suggests much of the public services
provided are likely to be by those on the hackney carriage side of the trade,
across the whole city, despite the size of the private hire trade.

In addition to the all-driver survey, trade representatives met us and also
provided rank tours at appropriate times, both day and night. This was
appreciated and very useful. The only concerns raised by trade reps were the
need for some form of ‘rest rank’, need for review of wheel chair accessibility
at the station, concern about the Call Lane night provision, and caution about
the rise of app-based operations particularly at the station pick-up point.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Both the trade reps and other information provided to us also drew our
attention to the need to address emissions from both hackney carriage and
private hire vehicles, and concern on the impacts this might have on vehicle
numbers.

Page 88

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance

It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet
demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank
and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally
leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be
latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later
passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the
queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at
hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that
it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers
can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations, but can also
occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not
consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this,
it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant.

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was
initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act
as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its
significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and
then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys
made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage
vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to
take into account various court challenges. It has how become accepted as the
industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand
is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles
identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80
was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet
demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue
of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy
if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry
standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in
providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided.
However, the index has various components which can also be used to
understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle
market.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate
component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the
demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal
inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from
the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet
demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy
of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful
balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero.
In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means
they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even
if other values are high.

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours
where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive.
The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry
definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to
18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet
demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this
component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of
such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of
a wider sample needs to be considered.

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion
of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger
wait in that hour is greater than one minute.

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of
the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality
factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers
in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who
entered hackney carriages.

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods
which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally
be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on
the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply.
This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools
are active or not.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles
being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such
periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday
from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in
the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts
of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor
tends to range from 0.8 for December to 1.2 for January / February.

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered,
although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be
so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities.

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5
(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow
for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of
peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport
system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from
asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting
for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally
only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given
up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people
are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful
questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire
vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with
taxi ranks outside).

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together
and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the
individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the
growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand
developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing
a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just
that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky demand profile can tend
towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant.

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to
feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered.
Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to
significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be
the case - the index is a guide and a part of the evidence.

|
ot cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

A test was undertaken using the ISUD components based on the four rank
surveyed information from February. This is an extreme test given the small
number of ranks covered, albeit perhaps covering a high proportion of all
journeys. Estimates were made including and excluding the private station
rank. The results are shown below.

ISUD component Council only | Station | All four ranks
Average passenger delay (min) 0.15 0 0.0333

% off peak hours with any queue 25 0 13.04

% passengers in hours with queue 4.16 0 0.79
longer than 1 minute average

Seasonal factor 1.2 1.2 1.2
Peakiness factor 0.5 0.5 0.5
Latent demand factor 1.005 1.01 1.015
ISUD estimate 9.41 0 0.21

The table shows that, even with the extreme test, the level of significance of
unmet demand at the council ranks is far from being significant (which requires
an index level of 80 or more). The main driver of the level of the value is
queuing in the off peak, although the sample of hours is relatively small.

A very interesting result is that the station sees no off peak hour queues and
no queues over a minute in any hour. This results in both the off peak and the
passenger queue elements of the index being zero, which has the effect of
setting the whole index for the station to zero.

When all four ranks are combined, the dominance of the station rank both in
terms of passenger performance and volume of flow translates the index down
to a very low value of 0.21 overall.

These conclusions give comfort that the full baseline survey is unlikely to find
unmet demand in the area which is significant, although this conclusion should
not be prejudged and does still require the fuller sample to be used.

The results from the base-line survey are provided in the table below:

ISUD component Council only | Station | All ranks
Average passenger delay (min) 0.3 0.017 0.133
% off peak hours with any queue 30 0 25
% passengers in hours with queue 5.95 0 2.395
longer than 1 minute average

Seasonal factor 1 1 1
Peakiness factor 0.5 0.5 0.5
Latent demand factor 1.005 1.01 1.015
ISUD estimate 26.9 Zero 4.1

|
oo cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Our base-line survey confirms that there is unmet demand in the Leeds area
for the non-station ranks. However, the level of this is beneath the cut-off
value of 80 which industry standards accept defines the unmet demand to be
significant in terms of Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. The main
component contributing to this index is the proportion of off peak hours which
have passenger queueing (of any size).

However, the station sees very little passenger delay at all, and has an ISUD
index on its own of zero since both main delay components are both
themselves zero. If this information is included with the main council data, the
value of the ISUD tool reduces to 8.1, much lower. Therefore the overall
viewpoint, using all rank in Leeds surveyed, is that there is clearly unmet
demand, but it is far from significant under the industry standard tool
evaluation.

When compared to the February surveys, the results of most components have
deteriorated but this relates to the widening out of our survey work, which was
always expected given that key ranks often receive significant levels of
attention from the trade, whilst some lesser used ranks may tend to be less
well serviced given their lower potential.

The overall conclusion from this part of the work is that the larger October
seasonal test is definitely required, although again we doubt it will prove any
unmet demand is significant, but it is needed to provide further comfort that
this is the case. The results above also clearly show there is little merit in
observing the station rank at that time, and that is much more important to
focus on a wider range of other ranks where it is much more likely unmet
demand will be observed.

The October data found an average passenger delay of 10 seconds, or 0.167.
26.67% of off peak hours observed had passengers arriving when no vehicle
was immediately available but only 3.93% of all passengers travelling in hours
when there was delay a minute or more in that hour. The seasonal factor was
1.0 and the peakiness factor 0.5. This provided an ISUD value of 8.8 using the
council rank only latent demand factor of 1.005.

These values are all less than those for the April Council sample, consistent
with there being reduced demand, with possibly a more active fleet.

The overall conclusion from the test of significance of unmet demand is
therefore that there is unmet demand, but that it is far from significant
focusing only on council ranks, and even less so if the station data is also taken
into account. Further, the station feeder system is very clearly having positive
impact not only on supply to the station, but also to the overall provision of
hackney carriages in the Leeds city centre.

|
pagess cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions

This Unmet demand survey on behalf of Leeds City Council has been
undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and other recent case history
regarding unmet demand and its significance. This study has been undertaken
over an extended time period similar to previous Leeds studies, not using the
more typical single set of rank observations to evaluate unmet demand and its
significance. Further detail and results from this extended survey period are
provided below. This Chapter provides a summary of each separate chapter, a
synthesis comparing, contrasting and bringing together the various strands of
evidence about unmet demand, and the study overall conclusions. Specific
recommendations are provided in the next chapter giving a steer based on our
national experience of similar studies.

Current legislative and practical background

At the time of writing this chapter, and throughout the period of undertaking
this Survey, the April 2010 Department for Transport Best Practice Guidance
(BPG) remained the current benchmark for review of unmet demand and its
significance in terms of Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. We are unware
of any revised legislation or case history changing the overall background
under which our work has been undertaken.

Local background and study context

This survey for Leeds City Council has been undertaken according to our
proposal of December 2016, as modified during our inception meeting of
January 2017, and as developed through the course of the survey. Elements
of information drawn together include three different periods of rank
observation, one set of public on-street interviews in March 2017 with people
in central Leeds, key stakeholder discussions throughout the period of the
survey and a detailed licensed vehicle driver survey during May and June. We
also acknowledge assistance from trade representatives both in identifying the
current operable ranks as well as providing information about the present
overall operation. We have also received significant assistant from various
members of the licensing section of the Council, including discussions about
operational issues of the present service.

Leeds is a unitary authority meaning both rank provision and overall transport
policy are undertaken within the authority, albeit by different departments to
licensing itself. Local statistics confirm that travel to work by taxi is at the same
level as bicycle or motorcycle, and about a quarter of the level undertaken by
train. The current transport strategy document Policy RN5 recognises hackney
carriages and private hire as a valuable part of the local transport system
providing more choice for whole or part journeys. This policy aims to enhance
the offer of such services.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

A key part of this is ensuring sufficient provision of ranks where appropriate.
In support of this aim, the highways section has electronic plans of the
associated regulation orders behind taxi ranks, although we did find that this
was not necessarily up to date at the time we began our review.

Local taxi policy saw managed growth of hackney carriage vehicle numbers
until 2007, at which the level of growth was set to zero. This led to 83% growth
in vehicle numbers between 1994 when DfT statistics were first gathered until
2007 when the current number of 537 was effectively fixed. The most recent
published demand survey covered observations at ranks throughout 2008,
reporting in early 2009. This found no unmet demand which was significant.
That study provided five sets of rank observations, all for the same sample of
hours, equally split between the February, Easter, August, October and
December periods.

Hackney carriage driver numbers have tended to decline marginally since the
peak of 2007, but there still appears to be significant levels of double shifting
of hackney carriage vehicles.

Private hire vehicles and drivers saw higher growth levels between the start of
information gathering in 1997 and the peak of 2012. Since that time, numbers
slumped with some recovery in the latest statistics available, but still not to
the levels of 2012.

Current levels of hackney carriages compared to population are below the
national average, with 0.7 vehicles per thousand population for Leeds
compared to the national average of 1.1. On the other hand, private hire
numbers vastly exceed the national level of 2.2, at some 5.5 vehicles per
thousand population.

Present levels of WAV within the hackney carriage fleet remain at the 51%
level first reached in 2007. Just a handful of private hire vehicles have chosen
to be WAV. Private hire operator numbers have declined since the peak of
2005.

Rank observations

Concerted effort was made to confirm the current status of rank provision
across the City at the start of the project. The City Centre in particular has
seen significant change including pedestrianisation and traffic flow revisions
since the last study. The initial information on ranks was found to be the
situation as in 2010, with key changes such as the recent pavement revisions
in Vicar Lane not taken into account. Both licensing and trade sources were
used to ensure we had an up to date picture of rank provision.

|
pagess cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Appendix 2 provides the status of ranks at the time of instigation of our survey
work. Principal changes are the loss of many ranks in the Vicar Lane axis, with
the Boar Lane McDonalds rank becoming 24-hour and seeing significant
increase in usage. Many new ranks were also added, a number of which related
to the system used to provide feeder spaces for the railway station.

We also identified that a comprehensive management system was in place to
service the partly private rail station rank. Not all Leeds hackney carriages
choose to pay the extra fee for the permit needed to pick up from the head of
this rank, and although a good proportion of the feeder system immediately at
the station is in fact public highway space it is not possible to service this rank
without that permit being in place. The trade pay for a daytime marshal to
bring in appropriate numbers of vehicles from various feeder locations to
ensure sufficient vehicles at all times to meet demand at this rank. This has
the benefit that several rank locations which would not otherwise have vehicles
waiting, do have regular available hackney carriages, whilst the immediate
station area is kept free from too many waiting vehicles.

The conclusion of our survey was undertaking a small, four-rank survey in
February (177 hours), a baseline wider survey of 462 hours at 16 ranks in
early April 2017 once schools had returned from the Easter break, and a final
set of observations at the top 7 ranks over 360 hours in October once the
Universities were all fully functioning.

Strict like for like rank comparisons suggest an increase of 10% now compared
to 2008, whereas the actual totals from the total surveys suggest an overall
decline of 8% from the 2008 levels. On balance, the actual usage suggested
for 2017 is probably therefore very similar to 2008.

Comparisons between the February and April observations found very similar
flows. However, comparison like for like between April and October found an
overall 10% lower usage in October compared to April. Discussion with a trade
representative suggested this was a result of a particularly busy April
compared to a more normal October. All the reviews suggest much less
variation through the year for the periods covered than was the case in 2008.

Comparing 2008 and now the main change has been the increased usage of
the Boar Lane rank now that it is 24-hour, but also the loss of two of the top
five ranks of 2008 to club closures or road revisions.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Overall, in 2017, based purely on our sample of ranks, the station provided
just over half of all rank-based passengers in the City. The next largest rank
provided around 10% of passengers (Boar Lane). The Bus station provided
7%, Pryzm 6% and Dortmund Square 5%. Merrion Street provided 4% and
the Leeds University rank 3%. Three other ranks saw 2% of passengers each
and a final four 1%. Only small additional amounts would be added from
observation of any other ranks.

With regard to passengers arriving when no vehicles were available (unmet
demand). In February only three hours, or 2% of the total, had average
passenger delays in that hour over a minute. The April data saw 5%, whilst
the October data 3%. Overall average passenger delays were highest in April
but only 18 seconds when considering council only ranks. The very high
performance level at the station reduced that value including the station to
just eight seconds. Overall, the active feeder operation at the station reduced
the opportunity for unmet demand there to negligible.

Overall performance of ranks saw the two busiest providing very good service
to customers. A further rank also provided very good service. One night rank
provided excellent service. Six others received good service with the remaining
three locations getting fair service. This demonstrates a very active and
professional hackney carriage operation in the City at this time.

Whilst our overall observations suggested high levels of private hire vehicles
and private cars potentially affecting rank operation, this mainly applied to the
lesser used ranks, and more so to the two locations tested in April which were
not formally ranks but conversely provided some of the few locations in the
City where legitimate private hire pick-ups might be otherwise made, given
the relatively low provision of such locations given the high pressures on kerb
space in the City.

A test in February at the pick-up location at Leeds station found the level of
private hire pick-up very low compared to the volumes dealt with by the
hackney carriage provision at the front of the station. Whilst there were clearly
some potentially speculative waits, the impact of these overall was very small.
For all observed vehicular passenger departures from the station, 66% were
using hackney carriages from the rank. Just 16% of vehicle departing
passengers left in private cars, and 12% in private hire vehicles, with a further
5% in app-based vehicle departures. It is very clear that the excellent location
of the hackney carriage rank still encourages most licensed vehicle usage from
the station by hackney carriage.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

The proportion of WAV vehicles observed in the rank observations effectively
matched the proportion in the fleet, suggesting no discrimination between use
of vehicles at ranks in operational terms. Seven people in wheel chairs were
seen accessing hackney carriages at ranks with most at the station, but also
some at three other ranks.

Tests of vehicle activity levels on the busiest day in each survey period found
a very similar proportion - nearly half - active in the February and April
surveys. October saw 61% of plates active for the same periods, and 65%
when the actual (wider) survey was considered.

On street public views

49% of those interviewed had used a licensed vehicle in the Leeds area in the
previous three months, a reduced level from the 60% giving this answer in
2008. Overall usage was 1.9 trips per person per month. This reduced to just
0.2 for hackney carriage only trips, around 11% of the total, very similar to
the proportion of people saying they normally got licensed vehicles from ranks.

Compared to the most recent National Travel Survey results, usage of licensed
vehicles in Leeds is about twice the national average of 0.9 trips per person
per month. Nationally about 42% of people have used a licensed vehicle less
than once a year, or never, with approximately 27% who would have used
them in the last three months, suggesting again that Leeds usage is higher
than the English average.

Since 2008, the proportion getting vehicles from ranks has reduced from 51%
at ranks and 12% hailing, to 15% rank and 1% hail. 56% now use mobile
phones or phones with 26% using apps (88% were one app). Freephones are
now quite low at just 2%, although it is not clear if this is a reduction or not.

A very high 96% said they did not need, nor knew anyone who needed, an
adapted vehicle. Of those needing adaptation, 75% needed a WAV style
adapted vehicle.

For those phoning vehicles, 62% of responses just named one company,
suggesting overall high satisfaction with companies chosen. Five companies
obtained 5% or more of the mentions, with the top company obtaining 31%
and the second 23%. 15 companies in total were mentioned although many
only got a single mention. Three of the top five companies were those that had
‘apps’ in use.

|
e cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

All but one person could remember seeing a hackney carriage in the Leeds City
area, an encouraging level of knowledge, although this was countered by 83%
saying they could not remember the last time they used one.

A quarter of those responding told us ranks they used. The main rank known
about was the Station, with 49% of responses. Headrow (actual one not
specified) was second with 25% and the bus station 11%. Of 16 locations
mentioned only six were actually used. Albion Street was mentioned by one
person as a rank - it is known as an informal private hire pick-up point.

No-one suggested need for any new rank locations suggesting overall
satisfaction with rank provision although this is tempered by the low number
actually known about (not consistent with the rank surveys).

There were no real problems identified with the hackney carriage service.
When the opposite question was asked, 73% of responses said if fares were
cheaper, and 16% if drivers were ‘better’.

46% of respondents said they could get a hackney carriage when they needed
one in the daytime, with a slightly lower 41% saying they could get one at
night.

Latent demand in terms of observable ‘giving up waiting’ was 1% for the
station rank and 0.5% for council ranks. This is much lower than the 11%
quoted in 2008.

40% of those responding to the question regarding if people with disabilities
got a good service from hackney carriages felt they did. All but 1% of the
remainder were not sure.

Overall, the licensed vehicle and hackney carriage services in Leeds appear to
be well appreciated and used. The only concern was lack of knowledge of the
wide range of available ranks, although this did not appear to be an issue to
those interviewed so it appears they found ranks where they wanted them.

Key stakeholder views

Supermarkets mainly had free phones to private hire provision, although one
suburban store had a rank outside. Hotels also focussed on private hire, though
a few more were aware of ranks. The same was true for most public houses.
Night clubs were not aware of ranks and most said their customers made their
own arrangements to get a vehicle. Some of the entertainment locations
responding were aware of ranks, though again most used private hire. Most
restaurants were aware of ranks. No other stakeholders reported any issues.

|
o cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

Driver consultation
The overall driver response was 5% from hackney carriage and less than 0.5%
for private hire, with the total response rate 1.3% of the licensed drivers.

A substantial level of expertise was identified, with average time of service in
the trade some 13 years. 47% worked six days and 33% five days. Hours were
on average 43, with a maximum of 90 quoted, marginally high compared to
other areas.

No driver said they would avoid awkward passengers with the top reason
determining when people worked being family commitments (23%) followed
by 19% avoiding busy traffic hours. A moderate 71% owned their own
vehicles, with 25% saying someone else also drove their vehicle. However,
there were several who told us their vehicles was working almost 24/7 with up
to three drivers.

84% of hackney carriage drivers said they used radio circuits. Three appeared
to be pure hackney carriage circuits, with one mixed hackney carriage / private
hire fleet. Overall, the phone element of licensed vehicles in Leeds appears
dominated by hackney carriage radio operators.

A lot of drivers told us ranks they used, but usage of specific ranks was very
widely spread. Only the station obtained 12% of responses, with four others
gaining just 5% of mentions each. However, a major concern was a lack of
ranks and lack of space at active ranks.

69% of hackney carriages got most work from ranks.

69% of all respondents supported the limit of hackney carriage vehicles. This
split applied to hackney carriage and private hire equally. The strongest
opposition to the policy was by those who rented plates. Some of those
supporting the limit suggested reasons it benefitted the public. The top
number, 26% was that the limit ensured vehicles were always available at
ranks with the next highest value being 17% saying it ensured clean, safe and
well-maintained vehicles and a further 17% that it stopped over-ranking and
congestion.

The overall driver response appears motivated and reasonable, with a coherent
view between hackney carriage and private hire respondents.

|
e CLS

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Unmet demand and its significance

The formal industry standard index of significance of unmet demand (ISUD)
tests found no value exceeding the cut-off of 80 that suggests observed unmet
demand to be significant. The worst result obtained was for the council only
ranks in April, with a value of 26.9. This was driven by the percentage of off
peak hours that had queues of any size. In every case, the station performance
was significantly better than that for council ranks, and this meant any value
including the station always saw improvement over that just for council ranks.
This is consistent with the managed approach to providing demand at the
station. The highest levels of ISUD were those for April compared to those in
February or October, both of which in fact were harsher tests.

Synthesis

All the evidence drawn together is generally consistent with a very professional
and appreciated hackney carriage service being provided by the current
operation and level of vehicles in Leeds. Overall licensed vehicle usage is higher
than the national average, although this should be expected for a large City.
The hackney carriage fleet is 11% of the overall licensed vehicle fleet, but
people suggest 15% of their usage of licensed vehicles is from ranks and 1%
from hailing, meaning hackney carriages are taking more than their share on
the basis of vehicle numbers. This is even more true when the suggestion that
in the order of 84% of hackney carriages also take telephone bookings.

However, the level of usage at ranks seems to be very similar to what it was
in 2008 at the time of the last survey. We estimate around 30,000 hackney
carriage rank trips in an average week, about half of which will be from the
main station rank. On this basis, there would be a further 300 passengers from
hailing and a total of just under 200,000 licensed vehicle trips per week across
the City. This is over 10 million passengers a year travelling by hackney
carriage and private hire.

The rank usage and unmet demand calculations are both consistent in
confirming that service to the public at ranks is very good. Even with further
limited numbers at the station rank, that location sees an even higher level of
service than the other ranks in general. This is very strongly related to the
system operated by the trade ensuring there are always vehicles available
there during most of the operational periods of the station. This is excellent
best practice and also provides benefit in several ranks having regular vehicles
present which would not otherwise be the case. Further, it ensures the station
area is not clogged up by hackney carriages waiting. The rear pick-up point
also helps to ensure the front of the station works efficiently.

|
e CLS

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

We are aware that the current rank location has issues, particularly for those
needing to enter the vehicle in a wheel chair, and that compared to the past
people now have to cross the bus flows to get to the rank. Despite all this, the
rank is very effective and significantly dominates vehicular departures from
the station due to its high visibility. This is confirmed by our estimate that two
thirds of all passenger departures by vehicle from the station are by hackney
carriage (excluding any vehicular pick-ups from the new Southern entrance).
It is essential for the benefit of station passengers and the City as a whole that
this operation is protected and possibly developed further.

Despite a number of club closures and loss of some important ranks since the
last survey, passenger numbers have kept steady. This is even more
encouraging given the recent growth in other competition from new forms of
licensed vehicle service, i.e. use of apps.

Evidence from the public and drivers, however, suggests better knowledge and
marketing of ranks is necessary, and there is also need for clarity with the
night ranks around the Call Lane area, which seems to be reducing hackney
carriage usage there, and could therefore be putting customers at risk not due
to any shortage of vehicles, but due to lack of clarity where they should best
obtain them.

Conclusions

At the present time there is no evidence of any unmet demand in the Leeds
City licensing area that can be considered to be significant in terms of Section
16 of the 1985 Transport Act.

The current station operating system paid for by the trade is critical in ensuring
the level of service to the station, and to a lesser extent to all the city ranks
which are part of the feeder system. This system must be encouraged and
continued.

There is clearly some priority given to servicing the station, and any
opportunity for unmet demand that could be significant could arise were this
balance to tip further against council rank service, but at the present time the
operation overall is very well balanced.

At the present time there appears to be some spare capacity within the
hackney carriage trade to meet any future growth in demand, although we
would advise caution if any pressure was put to bear on the fleet which might
reduce numbers - suggesting care is needed in applying requirements for
move to more sustainable vehicles in the near future.

|
we CLS

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Page left intentionally blank

Page 103

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

8 Recommendations

On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Unmet demand survey for Leeds
City Council, our key conclusion is that there is no evidence of any unmet
demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent or latent which is
significant at this point in time in the Leeds City Council licensing area. The
committee therefore has the option of retaining the current limit, at the current
level, and should be able to defend this if necessary.

The ultimate decision about being sure about there being no significant unmet
demand is for councillors to decide, but our national experience would currently
support such a decision that the limit could remain.

There are some specific matters which should be noted and encouraged. A key
one is the current station provision including the trade supported feeder
system. Another is the good working relationships between the trade and
council.

There are also opportunities for further development and continued
improvement of the offer provided by hackney carriages in the City.

The most important is to ensure trade, police and council (both licensing and
highway) clarity about the Call Lane area in terms of night rank provision.

Consideration is needed to provide better disability access to the rank at the
station.

Great care is needed with application of the Clean Air legislation to ensure the
current number of hackney carriage vehicles remain available for servicing all
ranks.

Some of the further out feeder ranks could be considered for provision of rest-
rank facilities, such as those available in London near to the DfT building.

DfT BPG recommends where limits are retained that further surveys should be
undertaken within three years. We would strongly recommend therefore that,
unless legislation or situations change (e.g. were the station feeder system to
be removed), a fresh independent survey of unmet demand should occur with
rank work undertaken no later than April 2020.

Given the results of our current work, we would also suggest that a robust
decision could be made by one main rank data collection exercise after Easter
covering at least 500 hours of observation and at least two suburban locations,
with seasonal variation concerns perhaps covered by undertaking surveys at
the top three ranks (including the station) for 72-hour periods, preferably in
October 2019 so that the final report could be produced and reported in early

October 2020.
|
Page 104 I

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION




Unmet demand survey

The other alternative that could be considered to enable the committee to keep
ahead of changes in hackney carriage demand could be following the present
Edinburgh example of having regular short period surveys covering key
locations where there might be unmet demand. This does not need to be
expensive and could also be used alongside rank development programmes to
test their impact, such as to ensure proper provisions with regard to the Call
Lane night life.

|
e CLS

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Page 106

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

Appendix 1

Current vehicle statistics

Iv % %
hcv phv total hcd phd total d Ops hcv phv
WAV | WAV
1994D 294 614 1994D
1997D 320 2422 | 2742 703 2861 3564 | 1997D 18

1999D 400 2700 | 3100 813 3100 | 3913 |1999D | 130 35

2001D 402 2649 | 3051 866 3140 | 4006 |2001D | 135 35

2004D 402 2649 | 3051 866 3140 | 4006 |2004D | 135 25

2005D 402 2649 | 3051 866 3140 | 4006 |2005D | 135 35

2007D 537 3698 | 4235 | 1456 | 4563 6019 |[2007D | 128 49

2009D 537 4281 | 4818 | 1082 | 5500 | 6582 |2009D | 115 51

2010N 537 4107 | 4644 | 1090 | 5390 | 6480 |2010N | 111 51

2011D 537 4281 | 4818 | 1098 | 5279 6377 |(2011D | 107 51

2012N 537 4405 | 4942 | 1036 | 5056 | 6092 |2012C | 103 50

2013D 536 3723 | 4259 974 | 4833 5807 | 2013D 98 49

2014N 537 3689 | 4226 986 | 4723 | 5709 | 2014N 94 50

N IN [N [l

2015D 537 3877 | 4414 998 | 4612 | 5610 |2015D 90 51

2016C 537 4303 [ 4840 952 5127 | 6079 |2016C 62

2017C 536 4310 | 4846 951 5176 6127 |2017C 58

2016 data from 24/11/16, 2017 from 28/3/17. See below for exact details of all vehicles, drivers and operators,
only pure hc and ph included above.

DfT stats had 345 dual drivers in 2007 and 284 in 2015, these have been removed and added to hcv totals

Notes

|
e CLS

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey _

Page left intentionally blank

Page 108

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Appendix 2
List of ranks

See separate document

Appendix 3
Hours surveyed at ranks

See three separate documents for February, April and October

Appendix 4
Detailed rank results

See three separate documents for February, April and October

Appendix 5
On street interview results

See separate document

|
e CLS

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Page left intentionally blank

Page 110

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



Unmet demand survey

Appendix 6

Key Stakeholders contacted

Page 111

cts

TRAFFIC + TRANSPORTATION



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 9

Report author: Andrew White

gal ceds e

Report of Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration
Reportto Licensing Committee
Date: 3 April 2018

Subject: Taxi and Private Hire Licensing: Report by Transport for London (TfL)

Are specific electoral Wards affected? [ ] Yes X No
If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and L] Yes X No
integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes X No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [] Yes X No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

1 This report informs Licensing Committee of the content of a report by Transport for
London (TfL) on recommendations for new legislation to address cross-border hiring
by taxi and private hire vehicles.

2 The report has many interesting points of information for Licensing Committee
members, but seeks local authority support for new legislation. It requests authorities
supportive of the recommendations to contact the Parliamentary Under Secretary of
State for Transport.

Recommendations
1 That Members note the information in this report.

2 To seek Members’ views and support for TfL’s recommendations for new legislation
to tackle cross border hiring.

Page 113



24

2.5

2.6

Purpose of this report

To inform members of Taxi and Private Hire enforcement priorities, and recent
activity.

To advise members of planned enforcement activity.

Background information

For laws and local conditions to be effective, they need to be enforced. Under
current law, responsibility for enforcement of the taxi and private hire licensing
lies with the licensing authority that issued the relevant licence. In particular,
licensing authorities have powers to suspend or revoke licences, to refuse to
renew them, or to place additional conditions on licences. Licensing authorities
can also bring criminal charges against a suspected offender. Where breaches
of licensing conditions also constitute offences, the police can also take
enforcement action.

However, under current law, licensing officers are unable to undertake
enforcement against vehicles, drivers and operators licensed in another area,
and such ‘cross border’ operating is a regular occurrence in Leeds, particularly at
nights, linked to the large night time economy in the city centre. Since the
Deregulation Act (2015) came into force, and the rise in use of ‘taxi’ smartphone
apps there has been a marked increase in drivers and vehicles being licensed in
one area, but working predominantly in another area:

o Leeds City Council has a database of vehicle registration of more than
700 out of district vehicles;

o Transport for London found 85 of its licensed drivers lived at Leeds
postcodes;

o West Yorkshire & York licensing authorities holding a workshop in March
2018 of enforcement teams to agree joint ways of inspecting vehicles
observed working across borders; and

o 40 out of district vehicles inspected since October 2017 joint working with
West Yorkshire Police (two traffic officers funded by West Yorkshire
Police & Crime Commissioner).

The council has for a number of years lobbied local MPs and the Secretary of
State for Transport about the risks posed by cross border operating, giving
evidence in objection to the Deregulation Act, and also giving evidence to the
Transport Minister's Task and Finish Group on taxi legislation. The council is
also providing input to an LGA project aimed at establishing a database of
refused, revoked and suspended licenses for drivers, and is also working closely
with neighbouring authorities to put in place additional conditions, which will
enable the five West Yorkshire authorities and City of York Council to take
effective enforcement action against any private hire or taxi vehicle licenced by
any of the six authorities.

Nationally, a Private member’s Bill on Taxi and Road Safety looks unlikely to
become law, with an adjourned second reading planned for October 2018.

Page 114



2.7

3.1

3.2

3.3

Further, Knowsley MDC lost an appeal at the High Court in February 2018 by two
private hire operators against an Intended Use Policy aimed specifically at
restricting cross border hiring.

However, the TfL report is an important development, especially if a significant
number of authorities were to contact the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State
for Transport, Nusrat Ghani MP, in support of the TfL recommendations.

Main issues
Cross border hiring

The TfL report (attached as Appendix IlI) defines cross border hiring as “a
situation where taxis or private hire vehicles licensed in one area work
predominantly or wholly in another.”

TfL summarise the main problems and risks caused by cross border hiring in very
similar ways to how Licensing Committee has discuss cross border operating.

Public Safety Cross border hiring allows a driver who has had their licence
revoked or suspended in one area to apply to be licensed by another authority,
which is unlikely to have information on the driver’s prior licensing history. The
ability of drivers to operate in any area, regardless of where they have been
licensed presents a public safety risk. (p7)

Enforcement A consequence of cross border hiring is that licensing authorities
do not have adequate powers to tackle infringements in the taxi and private hire
trades operating in their local areas, which can undermine local enforcement
efforts, putting the public at risk and undermining the reputation of the trades.

(p8)

Undermining local licensing standards Cross border hiring undermines the
ability of local licensing authorities to set and enforce standards appropriate to
their local area, which can undermine the standards that local customers expect.

(P9)

Complaints Cross border hiring is making it harder for customers to complain to
the appropriate authority in the event of an incident or the failure to meet their
expectations and could lead to a loss of vital intelligence. (p10)

Support for legislative changes

TfL propose to remedy these problems and risks with three key responses, each
of which TfL state is essential, and they are seeking support from other
authorities:

The start or finish requirement Primary legislative change is needed to
introduce a requirement that private hire journeys must either start or finish in the
area for which the operator, driver and vehicle is licensed and taxi journeys must
either start or finish in the area for which the driver and vehicle is licensed. (p11)

National minimum standards Primary legislative change is required or DfT
Statutory Guidance to introduce national minimum standards, which should
include a high level of safety requirements imposed upon the driver, vehicle and
operator. Passengers have the right to expect a minimum level of safety
wherever they are and whichever kind of vehicle they travel in. (p13)

Page 115



3.4

3.5

3.6

4.1

4.2
4.2.1
43
4.3.1

National enforcement powers Primary legislative change is required to
introduce national enforcement powers which are essential to allow the effective
enforcement of any licensed vehicle or driver working in licensed areas. (p15)

Discussion at Licensing Committee

The views of Licensing Committee members are sought on the request for
support on proposed legislative changes, and what the council could submit to
the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Transport, whether in full support,
or making some adjustments or concessions.

TfL accept that in particular, the start or finish requirement may benefit from
some adjustment or exemptions, such as permitting cross border hiring from
neighbouring authorities, or concessions for executive/chauffeur service, school
contracts, or by permitting a percentage of journeys to cross borders, or to place
a restriction on app based journey bookings (pp 17-18). These matters are also
very likely to arise as part of the review of the council’s Operator Policies and
Conditions, which is planned for later in 2018. They also relate to the
collaborative work being undertaken by the West Yorkshire & York authorities.

TfL are also interested in authorities’ views on other possible remedies:
e A statutory definition of plying for hire and pre-booked services;
e Greater Enforcement Powers;
e Fixed Penalty Notices;
e Pedicab legislation; and

e Capping the number of private hire drivers & vehicles.

Corporate Considerations
Consultation and Engagement
e At present, TfL are asking local authorities for their views.

e The service consults and engages regularly with the hackney carriage and
private hire trades. The services holds forum meetings three times a year,
with the private hire operators and separately with recognised hackney
carriage associations/groups, and issues a newsletter three times a year.
The service is seeking to set up driver association forum. The issue of cross
border hiring is extremely important to many locally licensed drivers and
operators, although some operators licensed in Leeds have their drivers work
cross border in other local authority areas.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

Not applicable.

Council policies and City Priorities

The Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to the following aims:
Best Council Plan 2013 -17

Towards being an Enterprising Council

Page 116



4.4
441

4.5
4.5.1

4.6
4.6.1

Our Ambition and Approach

Our Ambition is for Leeds to be the best city and Leeds City Council to be the
best council in the UK — fair, open and welcoming with an economy that is both
prosperous and sustainable so all our communities are successful.

Our Approach is to adopt a new leadership style of civic enterprise, where the
council becomes more enterprising, business and partners become more civic,
and citizens become more actively engaged in the work of the city.

Our Best Council Outcomes
Make it easier for people to do business with us.
Our Best Council Objectives

Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth — Improving the economic
wellbeing of local people and businesses. With a focus on:

e Helping people into jobs;
e Boosting the local economy; and
e Generating income for the council.

Ensuring high quality public services — improving quality, efficiency and involving
people in shaping their city. With a focus on;

e Getting services right first time; and

e Improving customer satisfaction.

Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to priorities:

¢ Reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds;

e Effectively tackle and reduce anti-social behaviour in communities;
e Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults.

Leeds City Council has both a moral and legal obligation to ensure the duty of
care for both children and vulnerable adults across all of its services. This cannot
be achieved by any single service or agency. Safeguarding is ultimately the
responsibility of all of us and depends on the everyday vigilance of staff, who
play a part in the lives of children or vulnerable adults.

Resources and value for money

The Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service is cost neutral to the Council and by
virtue of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, raises its
own revenue by setting fees to meet the cost of issuing and administering
licenses.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

There are no legal implications arising from these proposals, and they are not
subject to call in or publication.

Risk Management

There are no adverse risk management implications arising from the request
from TfL, and they are not subject to call in or publication. However, the
council’s current assessment is that risks to passengers are raised by an
increase in cross border hiring because of the reasons set out in section 3.2.

Page 117



Conclusions

5.1 Licensing Committee has been aware for some time of the risks to the travelling
public posed by high levels of cross border hiring of taxi and private hire vehicles,
and the council has started to make some changes with high standards in Leeds
and collaboration with West Yorkshire Police and neighbouring authorities. We
have established Leeds as a city of strong licensing and enforcement practice.

52 However, the progress nationally via LGA and in parliament to higher minimum
standards and stronger enforcement powers has been slow, in comparison with
the increase in cross border hiring and use of smartphone app bookings.

5.3 The response from TfL shows that authorities need to raise their efforts in
lobbying for the essential legislative changes, and the council has an opportunity
to join TfL in influencing central government.

6 Recommendations
6.1 That Members note the information in this report.
6.2 To seek Members’ views and support for TfL’s recommendations for new

legislation to tackle cross border hiring.

7 Background documents
Appendix | Email from TfL to local authorities and Executive Summary
Appendix Il TfL Report

Link to web page for report: http://content.tfl.gov.uk/cross-border-hiring-proposals.pdf

Page 118


http://content.tfl.gov.uk/cross-border-hiring-proposals.pdf

Appendix | Email from TfL to local authorities and Executive Summary

From: TPH Senior Relationship Manager (SRM)
[mailto:SMBTPHSeniorRelation@tfl.gov.uk]

Sent: 09 March 2018 10:37

To: Blake, Clir Judith <Judith.Blake@leeds.gov.uk>
Subject: TfL Report on Taxi and Private Hire Reform

Dear Clir Blake,

Following significant public interest, Transport for London has today published a report
setting out our proposals for resolving cross border hiring.

Over the last six months TfL has been working with licensing authorities and stakeholder
groups across England to understand the individual challenges facing each authority and
how a solution may be developed to respond to these challenges.

The key recommendations are as follows:

o To require all taxi and private hire journeys either to start or finish in the area in which
the driver, vehicle and operator are licensed.

« Set high national minimum standards to provide a consistent approach to customer
safety and accessibility.

« Create national powers to ensure authorities can enforce national minimum standards
in their areas, regardless of where the operator, driver and vehicle is licensed. This
would be supported by a provision for data sharing, for example licensing decisions
and conduct of licensees, between licensing authorities.

« Consider the impact of these issues in Scotland and Wales, and work with respective
devolved governments to ensure any future requirements in England are not
undermined.

o A statutory definition of ‘plying for hire’ and what constitutes a ‘pre-booked journey’ to
help enforcement and prevent illegal activity.

A copy of the report can be found here: www.tfl.gov.uk/tph-policy

| would like to thank those authorities that kindly shared their experience and information
to enable us to produce this piece of work.

If you support this paper we would encourage you to write to the Minister of State, Nusrat
Ghani MP expressing your support.

If you have any further suggestions please do contact me.
Kind regards,
Helen Chapman

Interim Director, Licensing, Regulation and Charging

Page 119


mailto:SMBTPHSeniorRelation@tfl.gov.uk
mailto:Judith.Blake@leeds.gov.uk
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/tph-policy

Executive Summary

This policy paper has been prepared as a submission to the Department for
Transport's (DfT) Taxi and Private Hire Task and Finish Working Group that was
established in late 2017. The Group was established in order to consider the
adequacy and efficiency of legislation and guidance concerning the licensing of taxis
and private hire vehicles (PHVs) in England. The paper is seeking support from the
Task and Finish Working Group to include proposals for national legislative change in
the report being prepared by the Working Group for the Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for Transport, Nusrat Ghani MP, to consider. This paper sets out
recommendations from Transport for London (TfL), supported by the Mayor and has
been informed by engagement with local licensing authorities, industry stakeholders
and debated within the DfT's Taxi and Private Hire Task and Finish Group, to urgently
address issues of cross border hiring within the taxi and private hire trade.

The term ‘cross border hiring’ is commonly used in the taxi and private hire industries
to describe where taxis or private hire vehicles that are licensed by one licensing
authority work wholly or predominantly in another licensing authority area. This
practice is permitted under current legislation and there are no geographic restrictions
providing the operator, driver and vehicle are licensed in the same licensing authority
(referred to as the triple licensing requirement) and the booking is also accepted in
that authority.

From our engagement with local licensing authorities we are aware that nationally
cross border hiring generates serious public safety issues while undermining local
licensing regimes. The scale of the cross border hiring problem has been magnified
significantly in recent years through the advent of new technology. It also restricts the
enforcement capabilities of local licensing authorities as they only have limited
powers to enforce against out of town vehicles.

Cross border hiring in the taxi and private hire industries has been commonplace for
many years which has resulted in localised issues, particularly in areas where there
are a number of licensing authorities in close proximity.

It was considered as part of the Law Commission Review which commenced in 2012.
The Law Commission put forward proposals to Government which, to date, have yet
to be taken forward. Since the review, there have been major technological advances
in the industry with many taxi and private hire customers now preferring app based
services. This is coupled with significant and rapid growth in the number of private
hire drivers and vehicles and both of these issues have exacerbated cross border
hiring concerns. The proposals considered by the Law Commission review, in respect
of addressing cross border hiring, are now considered by TfL and other stakeholders
we have engaged with, to be out of date.

As the regulator for taxi and private hire services in London, TfL's primary purpose is
to ensure public safety. In recent years, we have seen a significant growth in the
number of drivers applying for a licence in London with the intention of working
elsewhere. We know this to be an issue due to the large number of complaints we
have received about TfL licensed drivers, from licensing authorities around the
country as well as through analysis of a small sample of data from a London Driver
Diary Survey. Appendix 2 contains a map that has been produced by TfL to
demonstrate the scale of the problem and also includes responses from licensing

2

Page 120



authorities around the country, which elaborate on the various issues they face
because of cross border hiring. We believe urgent legislative reform is required to
address these issues.

In November 2017, the Metropolitan Police Service submitted a paper to the Working
Group and gave verbal evidence to the group in December. In their submission on
cross border hiring they state that: “This is the single largest risk to Policing
nationally”. This has been included as Appendix 3.

In July 2017, the Mayor was asked by The Right Honourable Chris Grayling MP,
Secretary of State for Transport, to provide more detail on our proposals to address
cross border hiring. Since that meeting, the DfT Working Group has been convened
making it the ideal platform to consider these proposals.

To address the issue of cross border hiring we recommend the following package of
changes be progressed together:’

1. Introduction of a start or finish requirement, meaning that all taxi and
private hire journeys either start or end in the area in which the driver and
vehicle (and operator in respect of private hire) are licensed.

2. National minimum standards set at a high level, to provide a consistent
approach to customer safety and accessibility.

3. National enforcement powers, to allow enforcement officers to enforce the
national minimum standards in their areas regardless of where the operator,
driver and vehicle are licensed, supported by a provision for data sharing.

4. We would also recommend that the impact of these issues in Scotland and
Wales are considered by the respective Governments, as not to undermine
any future requirements to address cross border hiring in England.

In his draft Transport Strategy, the Mayor set out his intention to deliver a safe,

secure, accessible, world-class taxi and private hire service in London. The strategy
also recognises that the rapid growth in the number of private hire vehicles on
London’s roads is contributing to worsening congestion. Addressing the issue of cross
border hiring will go a long way in terms of tackling public safety issues, however
further powers are required to limit the overall number of private hire vehicles licensed
so as to manage their contribution to overall congestion, particularly in central London.
This is why the Mayor continues to press Government for powers to introduce a cap
on the number of private hire drivers and vehicles in London.

The Mayor and TfL have a number of other legislative proposals required for
consideration. These were published in the Mayor's Taxi & Private Hire Action Plan
in September 2016. This paper provides an overview of these legislative requests
and asks the Working Group to consider the inclusion of these proposals in its
recommendations to Government:

» A statutory definition of plying for hire and pre-booked services — as the law
stands, plying for hire is difficult to prove and requires significant enforcement

resources;

' While we have engaged widely with other licensing authorities, the proposals relate to England only.

3

Page 121



» Greater enforcement powers — changes in primary legislation to address
common enforcement issues in London, for example, the power to seize
vehicles that are found undertaking a passenger journey without hire or
reward insurance cover

« Approval from the Secretary of State for TfL to issue Fixed Penalty Notices
(FPNs), for example to drivers found not wearing a badge, which would act as
an instant deterrent for minor offences

« The introduction of legislation for TfL to control and regulate pedicabs in
London allowing us to ensure the safety of passengers and other road users;
and

Next Steps

We are seeking the support of the Working Group to submit these proposals to
Government as part of the overall recommendations following their detailed review of
the legislation governing taxi and private hire. TfL will also continue to engage with
other licensing authorities in England to further enhance support for these proposals.

Separately, Daniel Zeichner MP’s Private Member's Bill received its second reading
debate in Parliament on 2 February 2018. The Bill is due to return to the House of
Commeans in the Autumn for the resumption of the second reading debate although its
chances of success will now be slim. This Bill proposes the introduction of a national
database that licensing authorities must use to determine if an applicant for a private
hire driver’'s licence has been refused, suspended or revoked by another licensing
authority. TfL will continue to support the Bill and offer technical support to Daniel
Zeichner MP and the DfT as required.

Notwithstanding the failure of the Bill to progress at this time, TfL will carry on working
with the Local Government Association (LGA) on the development of its database of
refused, suspended and revoked drivers that licensing authorities will be able to use on
a voluntary basis. We would welcome this to become a mandatory requirement.

Page 122



Transport for London
London Taxi and Private
Hire

Cross Border Hiring — Proposals for Legislative Change

"N TRANSPORT
MAYOR OF LONDON NN FOR LONDON

EVERY JOURNEY MATTERS

1

Page 123



Executive Summary

This policy paper has been prepared as a submission to the Department for
Transport’s (DfT) Taxi and Private Hire Task and Finish Working Group that was
established in late 2017. The Group was established in order to consider the
adequacy and efficiency of legislation and guidance concerning the licensing of taxis
and private hire vehicles (PHVS) in England. The paper is seeking support from the
Task and Finish Working Group to include proposals for national legislative change in
the report being prepared by the Working Group for the Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for Transport, Nusrat Ghani MP, to consider. This paper sets out
recommendations from Transport for London (TfL), supported by the Mayor and has
been informed by engagement with local licensing authorities, industry stakeholders
and debated within the DfT’s Taxi and Private Hire Task and Finish Group, to urgently
address issues of cross border hiring within the taxi and private hire trade.

The term ‘cross border hiring’ is commonly used in the taxi and private hire industries
to describe where taxis or private hire vehicles that are licensed by one licensing
authority work wholly or predominantly in another licensing authority area. This
practice is permitted under current legislation and there are no geographic restrictions
providing the operator, driver and vehicle are licensed in the same licensing authority
(referred to as the triple licensing requirement) and the booking is also accepted in
that authority.

From our engagement with local licensing authorities we are aware that nationally
cross border hiring generates serious public safety issues while undermining local
licensing regimes. The scale of the cross border hiring problem has been magnified
significantly in recent years through the advent of new technology. It also restricts the
enforcement capabilities of local licensing authorities as they only have limited
powers to enforce against out of town vehicles.

Cross border hiring in the taxi and private hire industries has been commonplace for
many years which has resulted in localised issues, particularly in areas where there
are a number of licensing authorities in close proximity.

It was considered as part of the Law Commission Review which commenced in 2012.
The Law Commission put forward proposals to Government which, to date, have yet
to be taken forward. Since the review, there have been major technological advances
in the industry with many taxi and private hire customers now preferring app based
services. This is coupled with significant and rapid growth in the number of private
hire drivers and vehicles and both of these issues have exacerbated cross border
hiring concerns. The proposals considered by the Law Commission review, in respect
of addressing cross border hiring, are now considered by TfL and other stakeholders
we have engaged with, to be out of date.

As the regulator for taxi and private hire services in London, TfL’s primary purpose is
to ensure public safety. In recent years, we have seen a significant growth in the
number of drivers applying for a licence in London with the intention of working
elsewhere. We know this to be an issue due to the large number of complaints we
have received about TfL licensed drivers, from licensing authorities around the
country as well as through analysis of a small sample of data from a London Driver
Diary Survey. Appendix 2 contains a map that has been produced by TfL to
demonstrate the scale of the problem and also includes responses from licensing

2

Page 124



authorities around the country, which elaborate on the various issues they face
because of cross border hiring. We believe urgent legislative reform is required to
address these issues.

In November 2017, the Metropolitan Police Service submitted a paper to the Working
Group and gave verbal evidence to the group in December. In their submission on
cross border hiring they state that: “This is the single largest risk to Policing
nationally”. This has been included as Appendix 3.

In July 2017, the Mayor was asked by The Right Honourable Chris Grayling MP,
Secretary of State for Transport, to provide more detail on our proposals to address
cross border hiring. Since that meeting, the DfT Working Group has been convened
making it the ideal platform to consider these proposals.

To address the issue of cross border hiring we recommend the following package of
changes be progressed together:*

1. Introduction of a start or finish requirement, meaning that all taxi and
private hire journeys either start or end in the area in which the driver and
vehicle (and operator in respect of private hire) are licensed.

2. National minimum standards set at a high level, to provide a consistent
approach to customer safety and accessibility.

3. National enforcement powers, to allow enforcement officers to enforce the
national minimum standards in their areas regardless of where the operator,
driver and vehicle are licensed, supported by a provision for data sharing.

4. We would also recommend that the impact of these issues in Scotland and
Wales are considered by the respective Governments, as not to undermine
any future requirements to address cross border hiring in England.

In his draft Transport Strategy, the Mayor set out his intention to deliver a safe,

secure, accessible, world-class taxi and private hire service in London. The strategy
also recognises that the rapid growth in the number of private hire vehicles on
London’s roads is contributing to worsening congestion. Addressing the issue of cross
border hiring will go a long way in terms of tackling public safety issues, however
further powers are required to limit the overall number of private hire vehicles licensed
SO as to manage their contribution to overall congestion, particularly in central London.
This is why the Mayor continues to press Government for powers to introduce a cap
on the number of private hire drivers and vehicles in London.

The Mayor and TfL have a number of other legislative proposals required for
consideration. These were published in the Mayor’s Taxi & Private Hire Action Plan
in September 2016. This paper provides an overview of these legislative requests
and asks the Working Group to consider the inclusion of these proposals in its
recommendations to Government:

e A statutory definition of plying for hire and pre-booked services — as the law
stands, plying for hire is difficult to prove and requires significant enforcement
resources;

! While we have engaged widely with other licensing authorities, the proposals relate to England only.

3

Page 125



e Greater enforcement powers — changes in primary legislation to address
common enforcement issues in London, for example, the power to seize
vehicles that are found undertaking a passenger journey without hire or
reward insurance cover

e Approval from the Secretary of State for TfL to issue Fixed Penalty Notices
(FPNSs), for example to drivers found not wearing a badge, which would act as
an instant deterrent for minor offences

e The introduction of legislation for TfL to control and regulate pedicabs in
London allowing us to ensure the safety of passengers and other road users;
and

Next Steps

We are seeking the support of the Working Group to submit these proposals to
Government as part of the overall recommendations following their detailed review of
the legislation governing taxi and private hire. TfL will also continue to engage with
other licensing authorities in England to further enhance support for these proposals.

Separately, Daniel Zeichner MP’s Private Member’s Bill received its second reading
debate in Parliament on 2 February 2018. The Bill is due to return to the House of
Commons in the Autumn for the resumption of the second reading debate although its
chances of success will now be slim. This Bill proposes the introduction of a national
database that licensing authorities must use to determine if an applicant for a private
hire driver’s licence has been refused, suspended or revoked by another licensing
authority. TfL will continue to support the Bill and offer technical support to Daniel
Zeichner MP and the DfT as required.

Notwithstanding the failure of the Bill to progress at this time, TfL will carry on working
with the Local Government Association (LGA) on the development of its database of
refused, suspended and revoked drivers that licensing authorities will be able to use on
a voluntary basis. We would welcome this to become a mandatory requirement.

4

Page 126



Introduction

Cross border hiring is a term used to describe a situation where taxis or private hire
vehicles licensed in one licensing area work predominantly, or wholly, in another.

Currently there are no geographic restrictions on private hire services provided that
the operator, driver and vehicle are licensed in the same licensing authority and the
booking is accepted in that authority. It is unlikely that Parliament intended for private
hire licensees to license themselves in one area with the intention of working 100 per
cent of the time in another.

The law is less clear with taxis because they can both ply for hire and be pre-booked
and the rules in London are slightly different to those elsewhere in England. London
licensed drivers can accept pre-bookings for journeys that start and finish outside of
the area in which they are licensed to ply for hire providing they are in their licensed
area when they accept the booking. Drivers licensed outside of London are not
subject to the same control in relation to pre-bookings although they can also only ply
for hire in their licensed area.

The legislation governing taxi and private hire services requires modernisation to
ensure it caters for a modern taxi and private hire industry. Cross border hiring has
become an increasing challenge for licensing authorities to ensure public safety, in
part due to the advancements in technology which enable passengers to book taxi
and private hire services via their smartphones. Further information regarding the
scale of cross border hiring is included in Appendix 2.

In principle, where a driver or vehicle is licensed may not be of great concern to a
passenger. However, the public expect that when they use taxi and private hire
services they are doing so safely, and have the protection and oversight from a local
licensing authority. Cross border hiring restricts the ability of licensing authorities to
enforce effectively, set appropriate safety standards for drivers, vehicles and
operators and can undermine the confidence the public have in the licensed taxi and
private hire trades within their area. In summary, local licensing, and the ability of
local licensing authorities to ensure passenger safety and meet local needs, is being
undermined and destabilised.

Having listened to the views of the Working Group and through engagement with
stakeholders, TfL believes that national minimum standards set to a high level to
ensure public safety are essential. While it remains vital for local licensing authorities
to retain the ability to set additional standards to match local conditions, for example
to meet local knowledge, accessibility and air quality requirements, standards to meet
public safety requirements, such as requiring an enhanced Disclosure and Barring
Service (DBS) check on applicants and driver should be set as a national minimum
standard. Other examples of national minimum standards should include medical
checks, road worthiness of vehicles and may include vehicle signage and information
in the vehicle about how to contact the local licensing authority to comment on a
journey.

The overwhelming view from our engagement with a number of interested parties
within the taxi and private hire industry, MPs, Metro Mayors, London boroughs, local
licensing authorities, consumer protection watchdogs and other licensing and
transport authorities, is that primary legislation to tackle cross border hiring is crucial.

5

Page 127



While much of the recent concern around cross border hiring activity is in relation to
private hire services, there are also examples of taxis working predominantly in areas
where they are not licensed, receiving pre-booked work through private hire operators
or taxi booking companies/apps. We therefore believe it is important to address cross
border hiring problems across both taxi and private hire services. London taxis are
often referred to as the gold standard of taxis world-wide with the driver’s
encyclopaedic knowledge of London streets and iconic wheelchair accessible ‘black
cabs’ and therefore we would have serious concerns if taxis licensed outside of the
capital were working as pre-booked taxis in London.

6

Page 128



Issues arising from cross border hiring
Public Safety

Cross border hiring allows a driver who has had their licence revoked or suspended
in one area to apply to be licensed by another authority, which is unlikely to have
information on the driver’s prior licensing history. The ability of drivers to operate in
any area, regardless of where they have been licensed presents a public safety risk.

Through our engagement with local authorities, it has become apparent just how big
an issue this has become, with several authorities referencing instances of licensees
being revoked only to obtain licences elsewhere and then continuing to work in the
original licensing authority’s area.

In their submission to the Working Group, Rotherham’s licensing manager states that
there “are numerous examples in Rotherham of drivers being refused a licence or
having their licence revoked, only to then apply to another local authority with a view
to utilising the “sub-contracting clause” within the Deregulation Act.” He feels that “the
sole aim of these drivers is to circumvent the high standards that have been
introduced in Rotherham, and we feel that this will put the public at significant risk of
harm.”

The primary aim of the licensing authority is to protect the safety of the travelling
public, in doing so, they may sometimes need to make licensing decisions based on
information from customers that has not and may not appear on a DBS disclosure.
This could include one or multiple allegations that could demonstrate a pattern of
behaviour, even if individually these haven’t been followed through by the police or
the Crown Prosecution Service, perhaps due to a lack of evidence or at the request
of the victim. Using this information however, the licensing authority may refuse an
applicant or suspend or revoke a driver’s licence. Cross border hiring could then
allow an applicant or driver who has had their licence revoked or suspended in one
area to apply to be licensed by another authority, with the intention of working in the
original authority. This new licensing authority may be unaware of previous
infringements and licensing action taken against the driver and may therefore license
that driver, who they would not have deemed fit and proper if they had had all
information the original licensing authority had. As a consequence, drivers can
continue to work legally in the original licensing area notwithstanding that they had, or
would have, been refused a licence there.

To ensure public safety, licensing authorities require taxi and private hire driver
applicants to undertake Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks to assess the
applicant’s fitness against any previous cautions or convictions. All licensing
authorities require an enhanced DBS check which provides details of cautions and
convictions. This also means that the local police force can consider whether they
have ‘other relevant information’ (soft intelligence) - for example, allegations or arrests
that may be relevant to the occupation being applied for. This could include one or
multiple allegations that could demonstrate a pattern of behaviour even if individually
these haven't been followed through by the police or Crown Prosecution Service,
perhaps due to a lack of evidence. The determination of whether to release this other
relevant information is made at a local level within the relevant police force. It is
conceivable that this information could be released to one licensing authority that may
use the information to refuse an application. However, the driver may then apply for a

v

Page 129



licence with a different licensing authority and the new enhanced DBS check may not
contain that police soft intelligence or information concerning the driver’s licence
revocation.

Enforcement

A consequence of cross border hiring is that licensing authorities do not have
adequate powers to tackle infringements in the taxi and private hire trades operating
in their local areas, which can undermine local enforcement efforts, putting the public
at risk and undermining the reputation of the trades.

Licensing authorities undertake enforcement activity to ensure taxi and private hire
services are compliant with the law and are safe. Where there are breaches of
licence conditions or local regulations, licensing authorities will take action to protect
the safety of the traveling public and uphold the reputation of the trades.

Local licensing authorities have limited powers to enforce against out of town vehicles.
As highlighted in the submission from the police to the Working Group in November
2017, this means drivers operating in different licensing areas can effectively choose
to pay little attention to the local enforcement officers. Some of these drivers operating
cross border know that the local enforcement officers have no powers to take action if
they are committing an offence. Many of these offences can compromise public safety
for example, the road worthiness of their vehicle, touting, plying for hire, refusing to
assist or carry a disabled passenger or private hire vehicles standing for hire at a
designated taxi rank.

As it is highly unlikely that enforcement officers from the home licensing authority will
be regularly undertaking enforcement operations in other areas, the only effective
enforcement of these drivers and vehicles falls on local police officers. With limited
enforcement powers by local licensing officers and stretched police resources this
significantly increases the risk to public safety.

To help safeguard the public in those areas where London licensed drivers are
operating outside the capital, TfL has, in recent months, undertaken a number of joint
enforcement operations with local authorities such as Brighton, Watford and Reading.
This removes vital enforcement resources from London which is not an effective use
of resources or value for money for licence fee payers in London.

The cost of enforcement is usually funded by licence fees that are obtained by the
licensing authority that granted the licence. Where cross border hiring is prevalent, a
licensing authority that undertakes operations to monitor and enforce out of town
drivers and vehicles has no means of recovering the costs of this activity against the
licensees committing the offences.

Inadequate enforcement can lead to a fall in standards. As stated above some drivers
will be aware that enforcement officers have limited powers to take action and
therefore this may lead to a rise in poor behaviour from drivers and a fall in vehicle
standards. At the extreme, drivers and operators could intentionally seek licensing in
areas where there are fewer resources for enforcement and therefore less
enforcement activity, which could compromise passenger safety.

8

Page 130



Undermining local licensing standards

Cross border hiring undermines the ability of local licensing authorities to set and
enforce standards appropriate to their local area, which can undermine the standards
that local customers expect.

Cross border hiring can render ineffective attempts by local licensing authorities to
set appropriate high standards to all available taxi and private hire services in their
areas.

For example, in London, we are implementing new measures to enhance public safety
and service standards. These include a formal English language requirement for all
applicants for private hire driver’s licenses and a proposal to introduce an advanced
driving test for private hire drivers. It is already a requirement for London taxi drivers to
take an advanced driving test. In addition, we are proposing to introduce assessments
for private hire drivers in areas such as disability equality, customer care and
safeguarding. Our serious concern is that cross border hiring may encourage some
TfL licensed drivers and operators to deliberately seek to be licensed in other areas,
that do not have these requirements which we consider important for London in place,
while continuing to operate in the Capital. This can undermine guarantees such as
disability access or standards that promote good customer service. There is evidence
of this taking place in areas such as Rotherham (as cited above) and through our
engagement with other licensing authorities we understand that this is a major concern
faced by many licensing authorities who are considering raising their standards.

London is also introducing stringent environmental standards as part of the Mayor’s
commitment to tackle the Capital’s poor air quality, which includes Zero Emission
Capable (ZEC) standards for taxi and private hire vehicles. For example, since

1 January 2018 all newly licensed taxis must be zero emissions capable.
Understandably, such standards may not be required in rural areas that are not facing
the same environmental challenges from transport. Other licensing authorities could
therefore license vehicles that end up working predominately or wholly in London.
This could not only undermine our efforts to clean up London’s air, but it may
increasingly become an issue in several other large metropolitan areas such as
Manchester, Birmingham, Leeds, etc, that are developing their own clean air
proposals to tackle localised air quality issues. Derby is one of a number of cities that
are currently undertaking work on the implementation of clean air zones, which is
likely to have a significant impact on its locally licensed hackney carriage and private
hire fleet. Should this current practice be allowed to continue, it could encourage more
of the Council’s currently licensed vehicles to become licensed elsewhere only to
continue working in the city. This would entirely undermine the Council’s actions to
improve air quality in Derby. For the trades, many feel that drivers and operators
working in their areas without a local licence are unfair competition. Out of area
drivers may not have completed the same training or invested in vehicles that meet
local standards, particularly for taxis in London where drivers have undergone the
extensive Knowledge of London and invested in purpose built, wheelchair accessible
and zero emissions capable taxis. Some licensing authorities (outside London) restrict
the number of taxi licences issued based on the demand in their local areas; these
controls, designed to manage the market, can be undermined where cross border
hiring takes place.

9

Page 131



In addition, there is considerable and growing concern about the number of private hire
drivers licensed in the Capital, exacerbating London’s congestion and air quality
challenges.

Although cross border hiring is the primary concern for taxi and private hire regulators,
we believe the possibility of limiting the number of private hire vehicles in London
should be explored, given current supply and demand.

Complaints

Cross border hiring is making it harder for customers to complain to the appropriate
authority in the event of an incident or the failure to meet their expectations and could
lead to a loss of vital intelligence.

Passengers who have cause to complain to a licensing authority about a private hire
or taxi journey will understandably be confused about whom to make the complaint to.
For example, if a passenger in Windsor has booked a journey which has been fulfilled
by a private hire driver and vehicle licensed outside the area they may not be aware
of this and may try to report their complaint to the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead.

When private hire or taxi drivers work in areas where they are not licensed, the local
enforcement officers have limited powers over the drivers, vehicles or operators.
Where there has been a criminal breach, licensing authorities and/or the Police may
pursue a prosecution. Other infringements, however, cannot be tackled. Some
complaints — such as verbal abuse or inappropriate comments may not be reported to
the relevant licensing authority and therefore the behaviour of the driver will not be
considered or action taken. This is a concern as often low level complaints may not,
individually, attract licensing action but multiple complaints of a similar nature about a
driver or vehicle could demonstrate an escalating pattern of behaviour. This could
mean that appropriate licensing action isn’t considered or taken and this can put the
public at risk.

10

Page 132



1. Proposals to address cross border hiring

Following consultation with the Working Group and engagement with stakeholders
and local licensing authorities, we recommend the following package of changes to
address the issue of cross border hiring:

e New primary legislation to introduce a start or finish requirement, meaning that
all taxi and private hire journeys must either start or end in the area in which
the driver and vehicle (and operator in respect of private hire) are licensed.

e New primary legislation or Statutory Guidance from the DfT to introduce
national minimum standards, that are high enough to provide a guarantee of
customer safety and accessibility; and

e New primary legislation to introduce national enforcement powers, to enable
licensing authority enforcement officers to enforce the national minimum
standards in their areas regardless of where the operator, driver and vehicle
are licensed, supported by a provision for data sharing.

It is important that all three proposals are progressed to address the various concerns
regarding cross border hiring. While one proposal alone could tackle some of the
issues raised above, none will tackle these issues in their entirety without the other
supporting proposals.

These proposals would significantly reduce the issues associated with cross border
hiring, while still allowing a degree of flexibility for operators, drivers and vehicles to
work across local boundaries.

Our engagement with other authorities has shown there is broad support that the
issues of cross border hiring need to be resolved by changes to primary legislation.
There is some support for our proposals although some stakeholders have also put
forward alternative suggestions. Similarly, for the proposals to introduce national
minimum standards and national enforcement powers there is general support for the
concept although some stakeholders believe national standards should be mandatory
rather than minimum.

For clarity, our proposal is for national minimum standards to be mandatory, however
licensing authorities would have the ability to depart from them and set higher
standards when required.

The Start or Finish Requirement

Primary legislative change is needed to introduce a requirement that private hire
journeys must either start or finish in the area for which the operator, driver and
vehicle is licensed and taxi journeys must either start or finish in the area for which
the driver and vehicle is licensed.

Under this proposal private hire operators would be able to accept the following
bookings:

1. Journeys starting and finishing in the home licensing area. (Journeys taken
within Licensed Area A on Figure 1)

11

Page 133



2. Journeys starting in the area in which they are licensed but ending in
another licensing area (Journey A to B on Figure 1)

3. Journeys that finish in the area for which they are licensed but starting in
another licensing area. (Journey B to A on Figure 1)

This provides reasonable flexibility and avoids unnecessary ‘empty’ vehicles: drivers
could accept a booking to a neighbouring licensing authority and on completion accept
a subsequent journey finishing in their home authority.

Some exemptions would be required to ensure this proposal doesn’t unduly burden
private hire operators with legitimate business needs to cross boundaries. For
example, many chauffeur services will have customers who wish to book a driver and
vehicle to undertake journeys in multiple locations throughout an entire day. Further
detail is provided on possible exemptions and how these could be implemented in
Appendix 1.

Taxis are able to ply for hire on the street and stand for hire at designated taxi ranks
in the areas for which they are licensed. However, for pre-booked London taxi
journeys they are currently able to accept bookings for journeys starting and ending
outside their licensed area providing they accept the booking while in their licensed
area. For example, in London, a suburban taxi driver licensed in Merton and Sutton
can accept a pre-booking via a taxi radio circuit or app providing he/she is in Merton
and Sutton at the time of accepting the booking. In respect of the start or finish
requirement, for taxis, it is proposed that they are able to undertake journeys as
follows:

1. Journeys starting and finishing in the home licensing area. (Journeys taken
within Licensed Area A on Figure 1)

2. Journeys starting in the area in which they are licensed but ending in
another licensing area (Journey A to B on Figure 1)

3. Journeys that finish in the area for which they are licensed but starting in
another licensing area. (Journey B to A on Figure 1)

Consideration should be given to appropriate exemptions for certain taxi services
such as the carriage of disabled passengers and school contracts, particularly as all
London taxis are wheelchair accessible.

Figure 1: Start or finish requirement

Page 134



To ensure flexibility, it would remain possible for operators, drivers and vehicle
owners who wish to undertake bookings across multiple licensing areas to apply for
licences to operate in other areas. Each licensing authority can then determine
whether this would be in the interests of the local area(s), and would enable the
authority to take enforcement action, if required, to protect public safety.

To minimise the impact to existing operations, transitional arrangements could be put
in place to allow for existing private hire operators, drivers and vehicle owners to
apply for licences in any area in which they intend to work.

Enforcement

Initial enforcement may benefit from a light touch approach, working with drivers,
vehicle owners and operators to provide advice and guidance. After an initial period,
non-compliance could result in licensing action. Appropriate sanctions could be
considered to discourage breaches of the requirement, such as the suspension or
revocation of a licence or a large financial penalty.

Enforcement would be conducted by the licensing authority by means of checks on
operator bookings or journey records. Both inside and outside of London operators
are already required to retain records of journeys and therefore this is not an
unreasonable expectation or additional burden for licensing authorities.

Combined with a national enforcement capability, enforcement officers would also be
able to stop and check any licensed vehicle operating in their area. This would be a
new power which would aid enforcement and act as an effective deterrent to criminal
activity or breaches to licensing requirements.

Test purchasing could also be conducted by licensing authorities on private hire

licensees and taxi drivers to ensure their compliance with the requirement.
Intelligence from customers and other operators could provide evidence to target
operations, as already happens with existing breaches across the industry.

National minimum standards

Primary legislative change is required or DfT Statutory Guidance to introduce national
minimum standards, which should include a high level of safety requirements
imposed upon the driver, vehicle and operator. Passengers have the right to expect a
minimum level of safety wherever they are and whichever kind of vehicle they travel
in.

Many parties are calling for national minimum standards as a way to improve safety
in the trade. They would ensure a minimum level of safety and service that
customers expect when traveling by taxi and in private hire vehicles. National
minimum standards of a sufficient strength would also minimise the incentive for
drivers/operators to ‘licence shop’ — seeking out more permissive licensing regimes.

While we support national minimum standards for taxis and private hire vehicles, we
do not believe they will address the problems caused by cross border hiring as there
would be no restriction on the movement of taxi and private hire journeys. This
would not solve other problems of cross border hiring; for example, complaints could
still be misdirected and intelligence lost. Cross border hiring could continue, not
because of lower standards, but potentially because of lower licence fees, lower

13

Page 135



levels of enforcement or convenience. The issues with enforcement and licence fees
would continue.

We believe national minimum standards should include, as a minimum, the following
to ensure passenger safety. However, it is proposed that these are discussed as part
of the working group to seek input from other parties including the LGA and the Suzy
Lamplugh Trust

Taxi & Private Hire
Vehicles

Taxi & Private Hire
Drivers

Private Hire Operators

Criminal conviction policy

DVLA Group 2 medical
standards

operating centres

Appropriate record
keeping of bookings,

e Enhanced DBS checks | e Planning permission for e A maximum age limit or

exceptional vehicle
maintenance policy

Minimum mechanical

drivers and vehicles and testing

e Appropriate Route

finding test customer comp!alnts e Minimum accessibility
« Ability to communicate in| * Accurate reporting of requirements
English records to the licensing « Vehicle identification and
N . - authority how to contact the
* Disability equality training| Right to reside and work licensing authority to
and assessment in the UK make a complaint

e Safeguarding training
e Advanced driving skills

¢ Right to reside and work
in the UK

e Clear driver identification

e Appropriate criminal
background checks,
particularly for those
coming into contact with
customers

The Law Commission’s review of taxi and private hire services which started in 2012
proposed national mandatory standards for private hire services and national
minimum standards for taxis. While, as set out above, we are supportive of national
minimum standards, we strongly believe that mandatory standards would inhibit local
licensing authorities from enhancing standards to meet the requirements of the local
area. The risk of national mandatory standards being set low to avoid unnecessary
standards in some areas cannot be ignored even if that isn’t the original intention.
This would undermine local autonomy and an authority’s ability to meet, and adapt
to, local needs.

By introducing a requirement for national minimum standards to meet passenger
safety requirements, for example, an enhanced DBS check, but at an appropriate
level for other standards, for example, vehicle age limits could be decided by the
local licensing authority. This local autonomy allows for flexibility to meet the
requirements in the relevant licensing area. For this reason we support national
minimum standards and not mandatory standards.

Government retaining and protecting the ability for licensing authorities to impose
additional or higher requirements, where necessary

In England, taxi and private hire standards are set at a local level; in London, this
statutory responsibility is undertaken by TfL and outside of the Capital by district and
unitary authorities. Setting licensing standards locally ensures that taxi and private

14

Page 136



hire services are publically accountable by way of locally elected representatives,
who are best placed to determine and set the standards that are relevant to their
local community. It also allows local authorities to consider taxi and private hire
provision strategically in the context of wider public transport needs to ensure
residents and visitors, regardless of their age or individual needs, can access public
transport.

In London, the following are examples of the standards that we believe are
appropriate for our local market to enhance passenger safety, security and
convenience and based on feedback through public consultation exercises and
various passenger and trade research. We acknowledge some of these standards
may not be deemed appropriate in other licensing areas. Similarly, there will be
standards set in other areas that may not be relevant or appropriate for London. Our
ability to put these standards in place must not be undermined by the imposition of
national mandatory standards that cannot be departed from:

e Route testing e.g. the Knowledge of London for taxi drivers and enhanced
topographical testing for private hire drivers. The Knowledge of London is well
established and as relevant now as it was when it was first introduced.
Passengers hail a taxi and expect the driver to know the route immediately.
For private hire drivers, it is vital they have a general understanding of the
geographical layout of London rather than solely relying on sat-nav technology
to reduce distracted driving, accidents and ensure public safety

e A formal English language requirement for private hire drivers. English
language skills are informally tested for taxi drivers through Knowledge of
London oral examinations;

e An advanced driving assessment for taxi drivers (already implemented) with a
proposal to introduce a similar assessment for private hire drivers, subject to
full public consultation.

e Zero Emission Capable vehicle standards for taxis (already introduced for
taxis new to licensing from 1 January 2018) and private hire vehicles (being
introduced from 2020). These stringent environmental standards are vital to
tackle London’s poor air quality.

e Vehicle age limits for taxi and PHVs designed to remove the oldest, most
polluting vehicles

National enforcement powers

Primary legislative change is required to introduce national enforcement powers
which are essential to allow the effective enforcement of any licensed vehicle or
driver working in licensed areas.

Enforcement powers for licensing officers are currently limited and while they can
prosecute out of town drivers for criminal behaviour this can be time consuming and
also doesn’t address non criminal issues. To safeguard passengers and to carry out
effective enforcement in their areas, licensing officers should be granted national
enforcement powers to check drivers, vehicles and operators licensed by any
authority.

15

Page 137



These new powers need to accompany powers to restrict cross border hiring. Without
it, those failing to comply with the new requirements could not be tackled when
identified. It would also ensure clarity for enforcement of national minimum standards
as all drivers, vehicles and operators would be required to meet the same minimum
standard regardless of their licensing area; contraventions could be more easily
identified while local licensing authorities would be best placed to consider the
introduction of any additional local standards.

Simply introducing national enforcement powers without a restriction on cross border
hiring would not tackle the issues regarding enforcement. The resources required to
enforce against large numbers of drivers/vehicles licensed by another authority would
be onerous and burdensome and it is also likely there will be a funding deficit as
licence fees will be going to a different authority. Even if it was possible to reclaim
these licence fees, it would not be practical to do so with nearly 300 licensing
authorities.

Effective enforcement is dependent on the ability of licensing authorities to share
intelligence and information. We therefore supported the Private Member’s Bill
proposed by Daniel Zeichner, MP for Cambridge, which proposed a national database
for licensing authorities to populate and then check if an applicant or licensed driver
has been refused a licence or suspended or revoked by another licensing authority.
While this is unlikely to become a legislative requirement, the voluntary database
being developed by the LGA will fulfil a similar function and enhance enforcement in
the local area and allow the sharing of vital enforcement information between licensing
authorities.

The role of technology

The proposals above are designed to ensure that compliance with the rules and
monitoring and enforcement activity are not unnecessarily burdensome or excessive
compared to the current licensing regime. While new technology has brought cross
border hiring to the fore, it also presents an excellent opportunity to support
enforcement activities.

New technology means many of the records required could be automatically
recorded or reviewed remotely in future, including by small operators as the cost of
technical solutions reduce. We will continue to monitor developments and make
recommendations where new technology could help to support licensing and
enforcement functions.

16

Page 138



3. Why these proposals are the right answer

Research conducted as part of this report has found general agreement that we need
to tackle cross border hiring. However, we recognise there isn’t universal agreement
that the start or finish requirement advocated by TfL is the right solution. While TfL will
continue to make the case for this proposal, we have also fairly considered the other
common proposals and their likely impact to ensure our proposal is the most effective
solution and these are summarised below:

Adjoining/bordering authorities

One proposal is to widen the start or finish requirement so that journeys can start or
finish in participating bordering licensing authorities. This proposal retains the start or
finish requirement and therefore ensures drivers return to their licensing area, or
bordering authorities, thus restricting national cross border hiring. It also allows some
local operators and drivers a degree of flexibility by allowing them a larger area to
operate.

However, it could lead to drivers from neighbouring authorities converging in an
adjoining area. This is most likely to occur in urban areas with high taxi and private
hire passenger demand. This has been seen in many areas outside London, for
example South Cambridgeshire drivers operating extensively within Cambridge City.
This restricts those authorities from managing their local market by limiting the
number of licences issued (an option outside London for taxis), while the
enforcement issues outlined remain.

Percentage of journeys

To allow flexibility for local operators to undertake some journeys outside of their
licensing area, in addition to the start or finish requirement, operators could be
permitted to undertake a percentage of their daily jobs in another licensing area.

This would be difficult for operators to comply with as the percentage is likely to
change day-by-day. It would also be difficult for licensing authorities to monitor and
enforce this requirement, requiring a more detailed analysis of journey records than
is currently done. This is likely to be an unreasonable and disproportionate
administrative burden for licensing authorities and lead to increased licence fees.

Intended Use

Knowsley Borough Council introduced an ‘intended use’ policy in 2016. The Council
has set out that operators licensed in Knowsley “must operate predominantly in
Knowsley; otherwise his licence may be refused or revoked.”

As a result of this policy, the council has seen approximately 50 licences withdrawn or
returned and this has led others to suggest this policy could be pursued elsewhere.
This policy was challenged in the High Court by two separate operators in early 2018.
The High Court ruled that the policy is unlawful.

This proposal would not be feasible in London given the scale of the London private
hire market. The measure of ‘predominantly’ would require a definition such as
allowing a percentage of journeys outside of the licence area; this would be
impractical for operators and difficult to calculate and enforce and place an

17

Page 139



unnecessary restriction on flexibility. Considering the size of an area such as London,
and the number of taxi and private hire drivers living outside of London due to the cost
of living and housing issues, it may be impractical to work up an ‘intended use’ policy
which is fair for all licensees, notwithstanding the legal challenges.

Removing the ability for private hire operators to subcontract bookings

Section 11 of the Deregulation Act 2015 (2015 Act) allows minicab firms to
subcontract bookings to operators licensed in a different district. Previously, sub-
contracting private hire bookings by operators outside of London could only take
place between operators licensed in the same district.

It has been suggested that removing this section would restrict cross border hiring.
Removing this section of the 2015 Act would stop operators outside of London
subcontracting bookings to operators licensed outside of the same area but there
would still be no geographical restriction on where the journey can start or finish. This
also isn’t relevant to addressing issues with app based services who aren’t
subcontracting the bookings.

Operators in London have always been able to sub contract private hire bookings to
operators licensed outside of London since the relevant legislation in London came
into force and the Deregulation Act does not impact on the ability to do this.

Restricting app-based models

One proposal put forward to the Working Group was to geo-fence apps to a licensing
authority’s geographic boundary. This is proposed to restrict out of area working by
ensuring those operating using an app-based model can only be seen on the app as
available for bookings in the area that they are licensed. This, in effect, would serve
as a digital intended use policy. This proposal would not address cross border hiring
with other operators offering other booking methods and would not help to address
public safety concerns. It would also mean separate regulation of the private hire
industry depending on the operating model which is not practical, confusing for the
public and isn’t a fair way to regulate.

Addressing concerns about cross border hiring proposals
The burden on business

We have also heard common concerns about the proposals to tackle cross border
hiring. In particular, some stakeholders have suggested that our proposals will create
too much red tape in the licensing process. The process of applying for a licence or
following local licensing regimes is not synonymous with red tape. The local licensing
regime is vital to maintaining local standards and ensuring the safety of the travelling
public. Most local licensing authorities ensure applications are dealt with in an
efficient and rigorous manner. Indeed, these proposals will ensure that licensing
income is available to the area of operation, ensuring that licensing authority is
adequately resourced to meet the demands placed on it.

While there would be some additional licensing requirements for licensees wishing to
operate in more than one licensing area, these are not intended to be a barrier to
entry and ultimately ensure a greater level of security for the traveling public.

18

Page 140



Our proposal that operators, drivers and vehicle owners be able to apply for a licence
in more than one authority and in any licensing authority within which they wish to
work will help to avoid unnecessary consequences for bordering authorities or for
businesses that work in a number of areas.

Retaining flexibility

Most operators and drivers want to comply with the local enforcement regime. This
protects the reputation of their trade and ensures a level playing field in the local
market. However, some parts of the trade are concerned that a start or finish
requirement is not flexible enough for their way of operating.

We do not believe the start or finish requirement will stop businesses from operating
flexibly. Rather, it will simply make them accountable to one or more localised
licensing authorities. Exemptions and conditions to the scheme for specialist
transport will enable additional flexibility (further detail is included in Appendix 1).

Demand will not fundamentally change with the introduction of this requirement. The
proposal for operators to be able to work in more than one area could in fact present
a new opportunity: operators could expand their operations in areas which are
currently served by out of town vehicles.

It would be unrealistic to argue that the requirement would have no impact
whatsoever on the flexibility of the trade to operate, however some reduced flexibility
is a necessity in order to safeguard the public.

In neighbouring licensing areas, operators could request that their licensing authority
collaborate with a neighbouring authority. This would enable the widening of the
geographical area within which drivers are allowed to operate. This option is explored
in more detail in Appendix 1.

A London solution

Our engagement, summarised in Appendix 2, demonstrates that cross border hiring is
a national issue which is impacting licensing authorities throughout England, including
London. As the largest licensing authority, TfL recognises that drivers licensed in
London but operating elsewhere that are causing many of the problems outlined.
However, cross border hiring issues are common place throughout England. We have
taken ownership of this issue, both in the short-term in joint enforcement operations in
others areas where we have been made aware of large numbers of London drivers
but this approach is not sustainable in the long term. By engaging authorities outside
London, we have sought to develop proposals to put together a sustainable long-term
solution that will work across England.

19

Page 141



4. Other Requests for Reform

The Mayor’s Taxi & Private Hire Action Plan published in September 2016 requests
for additional powers to address issues faced in London and elsewhere in England.

We believe these powers are essential to ensure a flourishing two-tier system with
space for all providers including traditional taxi and private hire services and new app
based services in both industries.

This includes:
A statutory definition of plying for hire and pre-booked services

As the law stands, plying for hire is difficult to prove and requires significant
enforcement resources. A statutory definition of plying for hire along with a statutory
definition of pre-booked services will remove ambiguity and clearly define the
differences between taxi and private hire services, maintaining the distinction of the
two-tier system. With the introduction of app based services into the industry we face
many calls for clarity in this area. For example, if vehicles are shown as available on a
smartphone map prior to being booked which shows the location of the vehicle, it
could encourage passengers to approach that driver and vehicle directly. Reading
Borough Council have secured convictions against two private hire drivers for plying
for hire although the Court did not consider how the law applied to app-based ways of
working, as the individuals in question pleaded guilty.

Greater Enforcement Powers

A change is required in primary legislation to address common enforcement issues.
For example, the power to seize vehicles that are found to be undertaking a
passenger journey without hire or reward insurance cover, automatic disqualification
from driving on conviction of anyone found guilty of a touting or unlawful plying for hire
offence and extending the power the police already have to take DNA samples for
touting offences to include drivers caught unlawfully plying for hire. These powers
would enhance public safety.

Fixed Penalty Notices

Approval is required from the Secretary of State to enable Fixed Penalty Notices
(FPNSs) to be issued for minor offences. For example, drivers found not wearing a
badge. This would act as an immediate deterrent and would be another method of
compliance to ensure passenger safety in the taxi and private hire trade.

Pedicab legislation

The introduction of primary legislation to control and regulate pedicabs in London
would allow TfL to ensure the safety of passengers and other road users. Currently
we do not have the authority to regulate or license pedicabs in London making them
unsafe and putting the safety of pedicab passengers at risk. There are no
background checks on riders or vehicle safety checks and fares are not regulated.

20

Page 142



Capping the number of private hire drivers & vehicles

While addressing the issue of cross border hiring and the other legislative asks
(above) remains a priority for TfL and the Mayor, we also require primary legislation
to introduce powers for London to be able to cap private hire numbers. This is
important to manage the growth of the private hire industry. The 2017 Centre for
London report, which looks at new ways to tackle the challenges facing London’s
roads such as congestion and pollution, recognises that ‘the proportion of exempt
vehicles such as PHVs’ have increased within the Congestion Charging Zone. In
2011 TfL licensed around 60,000 private hire drivers. This has now risen to almost
120,000 actively licensed drivers — an increase of almost 100 per cent over a six-year
period.

Independent research produced for TfL shows that congestion in London has been
worsening across a variety of indicators, including travel speeds and journey
reliability. It can also be seen that there has been a small but notable reversal of the
trend in falling traffic volumes and vehicle activity across London in recent times. An
interesting feature of this trend is the evidence of changing vehicle composition, with
falling private vehicle activity offset, in part, by private hire vehicles.

Finally, we remain keen to support any Government proposals brought forward in
relation to the gig economy to tackle wider issues raised about workers’ rights and
the employment conditions of London’s private hire drivers.

21

Page 143



Appendix 1: Detailed requirements
Ensuring flexibility

From discussion with a number of licensing authorities and other stakeholders
including taxi and private hire trade representatives we understand that the start or
finish requirement will require some flexibility through controlled exemptions to
ensure they don’t disproportionately impact services including chauffeurs and
specialist services.

Specialist Services exemption

Local boundaries are less relevant to specialist private hire services (e.g. school
contracts, chauffeurs, entertainment business and driver guides). They may not be
serving a local market in the same way that private hire vehicles or taxis do and by
restricting them to a start or finish requirement could cause significant passenger
safety and inconvenience issues. As part of these proposals, there could be agreed
definition of these services. The definition should look to include services that provide
a specific social need for the local areas.

Chauffeur services exemption

Many chauffeur services will be transporting dignitaries and business leaders and
provide a tailored and bespoke service to meet the needs of the individual. This could
mean that they carry out a number of journeys that neither start or finish in their
licensed area. A similar definition of this service could allow more flexibility for
chauffeur services.

Local cooperation

Some licensing authorities may not support the start or finish requirement on its own,
for fear it would be too restrictive on established local drivers’ movements. For
example, Greater Manchester is made up of 10 individual licensing authorities that
have the responsibility for taxi and private hire licensing. Many passengers will travel
in private hire vehicles and taxis across these licensing authorities in one trip.

A provision could be made to enable licensing authorities the ability to widen the
geographical area of the start or finish requirement, based on a collaborative
agreement between licensing authorities. We are aware that there are already very
effective working relationships between many of these neighbouring authorities,
some of which undertake joint enforcement operations and have agreed
standardised licensing conditions.

Within these newly created areas, the start or finish requirement would not apply for
locally licensed drivers. All other statutory licensing responsibility would still remain
with the licensing authorities

22

Page 144



Figure 2: Widening the geographical area

23

Page 145



Appendix 2: The extent of cross border hiring

TfL intelligence

In London, there has been a rapid growth in the numbers of private hire vehicles and
drivers licensed. TfL, as the largest licensing authority in the UK, has the capacity to
cope with significant volumes of private hire driver and vehicle applications. We
believe it is common practice for drivers to apply for a licence with TfL with no
intention of working in London.

The map set out below in Figure 3 shows the location of private hire drivers with
home addresses outside of London who have been licensed by TfL. Over 700
London licensed drivers live in Birmingham and 200 in Manchester alone. While
some may be operating within London, it is unlikely that all of them are commuting
the long distances every day to work in the capital, suggesting some London licensed
drivers are circumnavigating local licensing rules for their area of operation.

TfL has carried out local licensing operations in six areas® that have reported large
numbers of TfL-licensed drivers operating in their area.’

Where non-compliance was noted, it was observed that this is influenced by the fact
that there is not the same level of compliance checking being carried out outside
London and drivers therefore do not feel it necessary to apply the same standards of
compliance as they would in London.

% Crawley (Gatwick Airport); Uttlesford (Stansted Airport); Luton (Luton Airport); Brighton; Portsmouth;
Southend on Sea. These locations were identified from the number of cross border hiring complaints
received in relation to these areas. They are also areas where is it most likely for TfL-licensed private
hire vehicles to be working regularly, at the airports outside of London.

® This is not a long-term solution to tackling cross border hiring and the challenges it presents. The
costs of such operations are prohibitive and they take valuable enforcement resources away from
London. Operators and drivers complying with the rules in London expect their license fees to be used
to tackle unfair competition and poor behaviour in their local market, not to have this activity directed to
other areas.

24

Page 146



Figure 3: Prevalence of active London-licensed private hire drivers with home addresses outside London

/ %
g s
///

/ Ipswu:/h‘

56
’/
ester,
92,/
o ”

77
¢

- <) Stevenagel
Hpm \ Aoers 249 .
- EN567 : ) ?
/s
. Chielmsford, thampton

- O
567 557,/ P

Rochester |
! f/ 662
Legend DATE: VERSION:
PHV inside London PHV outside London 0 125 25 50 Km
(Mapped to Postcode (Mapped to Postcode Janua ry 2018 Il | 111 | 1 11 |
District) District)
Ve
1-174 //// 1-10 Home addresses of TfL licensed PHV drivers in January 2018. Number of drivers is mapped and
coloured by Postcode District, and the labels show the sum of all drivers in that Postcode Area.
175 - 429 1-20 For the purposes of this illustation "London" has been mapped as the following Postcode Areas:
BR, CR, DA, E, EC, EN, HA, IG, KT, N, NW, RM, SE, SM, SW, TW, UB, W, WC.
430- 788 - 21-40 Along the London Boundary Postcode Districts within these Areas have been seperated out of London
787 - 1231 - 41-80 here necessary.
- 1232 - 1955 - 81-977 Reproduced by permission of Geographers A-Z Map Co Ltd.
Digital Map Data © Collins Bartholomew Ltd (2018)
| Postcode Areas © Crown copyright and database rights 2018
Label  Total number of drivers in Postcode Area Ordnance Survey 100035971
25

Page 147



National intelligence

Cross border hiring is a national problem which can have severe local impacts.
Recent and widespread introduction of technology in the private hire industry has
further highlighted significant issues and is enabling this activity on a national scale.

TfL has contacted licensing authorities across the country about their experience of
cross border hiring. There is a large base of support from local authorities across the
country that experience cross border hiring and feel the current arrangements are not
fit for purpose. Several authorities expressed concerns about public safety and the
undermining of the local licensing regime. Some local authorities cited instances
where a driver they had revoked had obtained a licence from a different authority and
continued to legally work in their area. Many councils also said they were

experiencing complaints from their licensees (drivers and operators) about “out of
town” drivers competing in the local market without having undertaken training or paid
the same fees.

A number of authorities provided evidence of the problems caused by cross border
hiring within their own local authority. Extracts from some of these letters is shown
below. Permission has been sought from the local authorities in question to cite these
extracts.

West Midlands

“Whilst the harmonisation of standards in the West Midlands is desirable, it will not
eradicate the movement of drivers who will still seek licences from even further afield
if other authorities’ conditions are less onerous or if other authorities licensing
processes are faster, which will undermine our efforts to protect public safety... We
have examples of drivers with convictions for violence and sexual offences who have
been refused a licence by one authority and yet another authority has granted them a
licence.”

Doncaster

“In Doncaster, we have experienced issues with taxis that are licensed elsewhere
operating permanently within the Doncaster Borough. In the majority of instances
these vehicles have been licensed by local authorities that are situated many miles
away although, in most cases, the licence holders are Doncaster residents. There are
examples where the licence holders of these out of town taxis are individuals who do
not satisfy our licensing requirements but have been able to obtain a licence
elsewhere. | am aware of at least one individual who has been refused a licence by
Doncaster Council, due to a recent Police Caution for fraud, who remains licensed by
another local authority located approximately 100 miles away, despite that authority
being fully aware of the caution, who continued to work exclusively in the Doncaster
area. Whilst | respect that other authorities are free to make their own licensing
determinations it is frustrating when a decision that is contrary to our own
determination effectively undermines our efforts to safeguard Doncaster residents.”

Reading

In the past twelve months Reading has experienced a significant increase in private
hire vehicles working in Reading that are licensed by Transport for London. In March
2016, Uber Britannia was refused a private hire operator’s licence, as they were

26

Page 148



unable to meet our operator conditions. Uber Britannia could have appealed this
decision, but chose not to. In October 2016, Uber created the Reading Reward area
which covered all of Reading and parts of neighbouring boroughs. The reward area
guaranteed drivers a minimum of £25 per hour for the first 150 drivers. On the
weekend of 7th and 8th October 2017, council officers found 144 Uber drivers
working in Reading, most of which were licenced by Transport for London.

Reading has always had a number of out of town drivers trying to illegally work, but
never on this scale. The council is currently taking legal action against drivers found
plying for hire, however a change in legislation is required to stop operators taking
advantage of weaknesses in the law.”

Herefordshire

“Herefordshire is a large rural County with 5 main urbanisations, the largest being
Hereford itself. Concerns have been raised to us from our neighbours in Worcester
due to applicants wishing to access the trade in Worcester by applying to
Herefordshire, who do not have a cap on numbers. They currently use a “loop hole”
within the legislation to get a licence via Herefordshire. We are advised that, in many
instances, some of these drivers have no intention of driving within our county.”

Southampton

“App based companies are finding the easiest authority to licence their vehicles and
drivers and through the use of technology are able to support these vehicles and
drivers to work in areas across the country. For example in Southampton we licence
283 hackney carriages and around 650 private hire vehicles. Over the last year there
has been in excess of over 120 additional vehicles working in Southampton but they
are licensed by other authorities, mainly London.

This causes safeguarding concerns. In Southampton for instance we identified there
were a number of indecent assault allegations involving drivers where it was one
person’s word against the other. As a result we gathered sufficient evidence to justify
making it a requirement that any vehicle licensed by Southampton would need to

have a camera fitted. The in excess of 120 vehicles licensed elsewhere are working in
the city but do not have to have a camera fitted as they need to comply with the
conditions imposed by the authority that licensed them, not the one covering the area
they work.

Across the country the vast majority of licensing authorities are struggling to contain
the damage caused by this new way of working. There is at least one notable
exception, who have streamlined their process, made it cheaper and | believe can be
completed on line. The applicant only meets a member of staff to present appropriate
documents when they collect their licence. A quick review of public records reveal
this authority has licensed around 1,000 drivers from their area but over 6,000 from
other areas, including a number from SO postcodes. They are in the process of
setting up a network of garages across the country to test their vehicles. | anticipate
to see a drop in the number of cars and persons licensed by Southampton and an
increase of this authority’s vehicles working in Southampton.

| have written to an authority and expressed my concerns but when they replied | was
shocked. They informed me they had been contacted by Hampshire Police
investigating a rape allegation by one of their drivers. By chance they had 2 licensing

27

Page 149



officers in Southampton carrying out their only enforcement visit who got the suspect
to surrender his licence to them. | wonder what would have happened if they were
not in the city. Of course the investigation into the rape allegation will not benefit from
the on board taxi camera.”

Figure 4: Licensing authorities that have indicated to TfL they have issues
with cross-border hiring

» / . Expressed concerns over
crass border hiring

Case study examples
Southend

Two private hire drivers, originally licensed by Southend-On-Sea Council had their
licenses revoked. These drivers applied to TfL for a licence and, due to a lack of
information disclosed by the enhanced DBS, they were granted licences. They then
proceeded to work regularly in the Southend-on-Sea area, which caused significant
concern for the local licensing authority that had originally revoked their licenses.

Rotherham

Both the Jay report into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham and the subsequent
Corporate Governance Inspection identified a clear link between the sexual
exploitation of children and the licensed taxi trade. Recent police investigations led to
the arrest and charge of people associated with the licensed taxi trade in Rotherham.

28

Page 150



In response, Rotherham carried out a comprehensive review of taxi and private hire
policies, standards and processes. The council now feels that the standards in place
are amongst the highest in the country, including a requirement for licensed vehicles
to be fitted with CCTV.

The licensing team report numerous examples of drivers being refused a licence or
having their licence revoked, who then apply to another authority and obtain a licence.
These drivers then use the lax cross border hiring regulations to work in Rotherham
despite not meeting the standards set by the council. It is Rotherham’s view that the
“sole aim of these drivers is to circumvent the high standards that have been
introduced” which “will put the public at significant risk of harm”.

Berwick-upon-Tweed and Newcastle

Some prospective taxi drivers who wished to operate in Newcastle were refused
licences as they did not reach Newcastle’s conditions of licence. These same drivers
then applied and were successful in obtaining taxi licences in Berwick which has less
stringent conditions of licence and a cheaper application fee. These vehicles and
drivers then operated cross border as private hire vehicles in Newcastle. The legality
of this was debated in R (app Newcastle City Council) v Berwick-upon-Tweed Borough
Council. The judgement confirmed that this was legal, and that councils have no
powers to stop this practice despite Newcastle’s concerns.

During the case, Berwick accepted that the majority of vehicles licensed never stand
or ply for hire in Berwick despite being licensed to do so. Figures cited in the
judgement illustrated that the number of hackney carriage proprietors licensed by
Berwick by August was 672. By comparison, there were only 46 licensed by April
2006 and 148 licensed by April 2007. Of the 616 proprietors licensed as of July 2008
some 247 had their registered home address in Newcastle upon Tyne, 196 in North
Tyneside and 21 in Gateshead, all approximately 55 miles from Berwick-upon-Tweed.

29

Page 151



Appendix 3: Police Submission to the Task and
Finish Working Group — 7 November 2017

Plying for Hire

Current legislation is ineffective for the prevention and detection of crime within the
Licensed Taxi and PH Trade.

Previously Touting by unlicensed drivers was epidemic across London, however with
the advent of app based PH Operators and significant increase in the number of
licensed drivers more problems are now encountered with Plying for Hire, for which
the current legislation is woefully inadequate and virtually impossible to enforce
effectively. A refined definition of Plying for Hire needs to be created and new
legislation implemented to enable effective prevention and detection.

There are public safety risks with drivers Plying for Hire in that there is no booking for
the journey and no subsequent record of the journey taking place, meaning that if an
offence occurs on that journey the police face an investigative challenge in not having
this record available. In cases where there is a booking record made the journey
records have been used to support victims allegations in terms of the route taken by
the driver and also unexplained breaks in the journey.

Cross Border Hiring

This is the single largest risk to Policing nationally. Local Authorities hold the
responsibility for their drivers and deal with non-compliance issues and illegal
practices in their area. With the triple licensing requirement drivers can effectively
work anywhere they choose and pay very little attention to the Local Licensing
officers. This means that any effective action needed to address Cab Related
offending would by default fall to the Police, who at the times of peak offending in
terms of cab related matters are at their busiest in terms of overall demand on the
service. While a lot of this is low level in terms of plying, touting and ranking offences
there is a significant risk of poor practice and ineffective regulation leading to an
increase in opportunistic sex offences. Drivers know they are immune to the Local
Authority and the chances of the police pro- actively dealing with them are slim.

Legislation needs to be enacted that would prevent drivers extensively working

outside of their area. The suggestion that a journey should either start or finish in the
drivers licensed area is sensible and workable in practice.

30

Page 152



National Standards

There should be a national database of drivers, which would be accessible by both
Licensing Authorities and the Police. This would mean that drivers subject to
complaints, suspensions or revocations are not able to seek a new license in a
different area and continue working. Licensing Standards should be standardised and
drivers subject to consistent regulation wherever they work. Consideration could be
given to creating a single licensing body for all Taxi and Private Hire drivers nationally
to create a single standard meaning that the public can be sure that wherever their
journey may occur the driver is working to one standard.

Complaints about PH drivers should be referred to the Licensing Authority as a
default and not left potentially unchecked in local complaint records. It is well
documented around the challenges faced in London with one PH operator not
reporting criminal offences to TfL or the Police and the risk to the public is potentially
significant as they would not have the earliest opportunity to intervene and prevent
further offences.

31

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



GGT abed

LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 - LAST UPDATED 21/03/18 (JG)

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM

Meeting date: 3 April 2018

Unmet Demand To consider a report of Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration | A White RP

Survey: Provision of which sets out the results of the Unmet Demand Survey and seeks

Hackney Carriage the views of the Committee as to whether there needs to be any

Proprietor Licences change in the policy to restrict the number of Hackney Carriage

Proprietor licences in Leeds.

Taxi and Private Hire To consider a report of Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration | A White B

Licensing: Report by which sets out details of a report prepared for Transport for London

Transport for London | (TfL) on recommendations for new legislation to address cross-

(TfL) border hiring by taxi and private hire vehicles.

Meeting date: 25" May 2018

Licensing Procedure To receive a report of the City Solicitor which sets out draft M O’Shea B

Rules, the Code of procedure rules relating to hearings and other meetings of the

Practice for Licensing Committee and sub-committees and to seek Members

Determining Licensing | approval to the adoption of these procedure rules. d

Matters and P

Prescribed Licensing «p

Training Eg
(R
e

Key:

RP — Review of existing policy DP — Development of new policy PM — Performance management B — Briefings  SC — Statutory consultation

OT waj|



9GT abed

LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 - LAST UPDATED 21/03/18 (JG)

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM
Licensing Committee — | To receive a report of the City Solicitor seeking to establish the M O’Shea B
Annual Governance governance arrangements for the Licensing Committee for the
Arrangements 2018/19 Municipal Year.
GAO05 Statement of To receive a report by the Head of elections, Licensing and S Holden SC
Licensing Policy Registration which sets out the consultation arrangements for the
Consultation Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy.
LAO3 Statement of To receive a report by the Head of Elections, Licensing and S Holden SC
Licensing Policy Registration which sets out the consultation arrangements for the
Consultation LAO3 Statement of Licensing Policy
Meeting date: 3 July 2018
Clean Air Zone - To receive an update by the Director of Environments and Housing A Hickford B
Update on proposals around the clean air zone
Meeting date: 7t August 2018
Leeds Festival 2018 - | To consider a report by the Head of Elections, Licensing and S Holder B
Event Management Registration which advises Members of the progress of the multi-
Plan agency meetings and the Event Management Plan for the 2018
Annual Leeds Festival.
Key:
RP — Review of existing policy DP — Development of new policy PM — Performance management B — Briefings  SC — Statutory consultation




/GT abed

LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 - LAST UPDATED 21/03/18 (JG)

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM
Meeting date: 4th September 2018
Policing and the Night | To receive a presentation from Sergeant Martin Mynard, West Sergeant Mynard B
Time Economy Yorkshire Police on the issues of “Policing and the Night Time
Economy”

Meeting date: 2"d October 2018

Meeting date: 6" November 2018

Meeting date: 4" December 2018

Key:
RP — Review of existing policy DP — Development of new policy PM — Performance management

B — Briefings  SC — Statutory consultation




8GT abed

LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 - LAST UPDATED 21/03/18 (JG)

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM
Meeting date: 8t January 2019

Key:

RP — Review of existing policy DP — Development of new policy PM — Performance management B — Briefings  SC — Statutory consultation




	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	8 Unmet Demand Survey: Provision of Hackney Carriage Proprietor Licences
	Appendix 1

	9 Taxi and Private Hire Licensing: Report by Transport for London (TfL)
	Appendix 1
	Executive Summary
	Introduction
	Issues arising from cross border hiring

	1. Proposals to address cross border hiring
	The Start or Finish Requirement
	National minimum standards
	National enforcement powers
	The role of technology

	3. Why these proposals are the right answer
	Adjoining/bordering authorities
	Percentage of journeys
	Intended Use
	Removing the ability for private hire operators to subcontract bookings
	Restricting app-based models

	4. Other Requests for Reform
	A statutory definition of plying for hire and pre-booked services
	Greater Enforcement Powers
	Fixed Penalty Notices
	Pedicab legislation
	Capping the number of private hire drivers & vehicles

	Appendix 1: Detailed requirements
	Ensuring flexibility
	Local cooperation

	Appendix 2: The extent of cross border hiring
	TfL intelligence
	National intelligence
	Case study examples

	Appendix 3: Police Submission to the Task and Finish Working Group – 7 November 2017
	Plying for Hire
	Cross Border Hiring
	National Standards



	10 Licensing Committee Work Programme

